
  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

 
Health, Adult Social Care 

and Social Inclusion Policy 
and Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 13 June 2017 
7.00 pm 

Courtyard Room - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition 

Councillor Daryl Brown 
Councillor Mercy Umeh 
Councillor Rory Vaughan 
 

Councillor Andrew Brown 
Councillor Joe Carlebach 
 

Co-optees 

 
To Be Confirmed 
 

 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Bathsheba Mall 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 5758 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 
 

Date Issued: 05 June 2017 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy


 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Health, Adult Social Care and Social 
Inclusion Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
Agenda 

 

13 June 2017 
 

Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2.   MINUTES AND NOTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS  1 - 19 

 (a) To approve as an accurate record and the Chair to sign the 
minute of the meeting of the health, Adult Social care and Social 
Inclusion PAC held on 8th March 2017; 
 

(b) Informal Notes of Discussion (Inquorate Meeting),  
 26th April 2017; and 
 

(c) To note the outstanding actions. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
  

 

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.  

 



4.   COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 2017/18: APPOINTMENT OF VICE 
CHAIR AND TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 

20 - 22 

 To note the Committee’s Terms of Reference and membership and to 
appoint a Vice-chair for the 2017/18 municipal year.   
 

 

5.   APPOINTMENT OF CO-OPTED MEMBERS  
 

 

 The Committee is asked to agree the re-appointment of the following co-
opted members: 
 
Debbie Domb, Disabilities Campaigner 
Patrick McVeigh, Action On Disability 
Bryan Naylor, Age UK 
 

 

6.   HEALTHWATCH  
 
This report provides an update on the work of Healthwatch Central West 
London. 
 

23 - 25 

7.   IMPERIAL COLLEGE HEALTHCARE NHS TRUST: QUALITY 
ACCOUNT 2016/17  
 
This report presents the Trust’s quality account for 2016/17  
(appendix 1). 
 

26 - 113 

8.   WORK PROGRAMME  
 

114 - 115 

 The Committee is asked to consider its work programme for the 
remainder of the municipal year. 
 

 

9.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 

 

 The dates of meetings for the remainder of the new municipal year are 
as listed: 
 

Tuesday, 4th July 2017 
Tuesday, 12th September 2017 
Tuesday, 14th November 2017 
Tuesday, 12th December 2017 
Tuesday, 30th January 2018 
Tuesday, 13th March 2018 
Tuesday, 24th April 2018 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
 
 

Health, Adult Social Care and 
Social Inclusion Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

 
Minutes 

 

Wednesday 8 March 2017 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Andrew Brown, Joe Carlebach, Rory Vaughan 
(Chair) and Natalia Perez 
 
Co-opted members: Patrick McVeigh (Action on Disability), Bryan Naylor (Age 
UK) and Debbie Domb (Disabilities Rights Campaigner) 
 
Other Councillors: Stephen Cowan, Sue Fennimore and Vivienne Lukey 
 
Officers: Clare Parker, Accountable Officer, CWHHE, Janet Cree, Managing 
Director, H&F CCG, Christian Cubitt, Director of Communications, NW London 
CCGs, Susan LaBrooy, Medical Director, SaHF and Bathsheba Mall 
 

 
120. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 31st January 2017 were agreed 
as an accurate record.  
 

121. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Hannah Barlow.  
Apologies for lateness were received from Co-optee Debbie Domb. 
 

122. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
A declaration of interest was received from Councillor Joe Carlebach in 
respect of Agenda Item 3, in his role as Vice-chairman of the Board of 
Trustees for the Royal National Orthopaedic NHS Hospital Trust. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

123. NW LONDON SUSTAINABILITY TRANSFORMATION PLAN AND 
STRATEGIC OUTLINE CASE PART 1  
 
Councillor Rory Vaughan, Chair, welcomed members of the public and 
officers to the meeting.  He introduced Clare Parker, Accountable Officer, 
from the collaboration of clinical commission groups covering Central London, 
West London, Hammersmith and Fulham, Hounslow and Ealing, 
accompanied by Christian Cubitt, Director of Communications, North West 
London CCGs, Susan LaBrooy, Medical Director, SaHF (Shaping a Healthier 
Future) and Janet Cree, Managing Director, Hammersmith & Fulham CCG.  
Cllr Vaughan explained that the presentation would be provided in two parts, 
the first covered Delivery Areas 1-4 (public health, primary care) of the 
Sustainability Transformation Plan (STP), followed by questions.  The second 
part of the presentation, would examine acute services and the Strategic 
Outline Case (SOC) Part 1, and, the planned consultation, on SOC Part 2, 
which was currently being developed and included Charing Cross Hospital. 
 
Clare Parker briefly set out the background to the STP and the SOC Part 1, 
the supporting documents for which had been included in the Agenda.  As 
part of NHS England’s Five Year Forward View (FYFV), the CCGs in the 
North West London area had been required to develop local plans which 
demonstrated how they would deliver improved health and care services that 
addressed three aims: improve people’s health and wellbeing, the quality of 
care received and address the financial gap.  This new approach brought 
together local government and the NHS for the first time in terms of actively 
planning public health provision. 
 
The recent budget announcement of additional funding for social care was 
welcomed, which could help address the £1.4 billion shortfall and close the 
financial gap between funding for social care and health.  During April 2016, it 
was explained that they had worked with partners to agree a set of nine 
priorities set out across five delivery areas (DA 1-5), to model demand against 
financial provision and which would allow them to be more radical and 
innovative, in terms of the way in which people could be supported in 
maintaining better health.   
 
Janet Cree set out how the DAs would look at a North London level, mapped 
alongside the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) priorities areas for 
Hammersmith & Fulham, as identified by the Health and Wellbeing Board 
(HWB).  She explained that at a recent development day workshop, the 
members of the HWB discussed joint working arrangements to develop the 
delivery plan.  The synergy between the priorities, in the evolution of both the 
STP and the JHWS, was a result of collaborative working and reflected local 
need.  The reference to the Strategic Commissioning Framework and the 
FYFV under DA2 was clarified.  This would ensure that there was sustainable 
primary care as part of the national strategy, delivered at a local level. 
 
Details about the priorities under the different delivery areas and the 
implications for residents in terms of delivering change were highlighted, in 
particular under DA1, ensuring that children and young families get the best 
possible start (also supporting prevention).  The Child Health GP scheme, 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

had recruited seven GPs to an education and leadership development 
programme, who would act as local champions for child health.  This was an 
innovative piece of work, ensuring that knowledge was cascaded to local 
colleagues. 
 
Expanding on DA1 to 4, Janet Cree made reference to a sustained 
programme of health supporting diabetic patients.  This was an area that H&F 
CCG was leading on across North West London, highlighting the clinical work 
of Dr Tony Willis, a local GP based in Shepherd Bush, from which there had 
already been notable improved outcomes for patients.  This would ensure that 
there was consistency in the quality of care for diabetic patients and clear, 
clinical pathways.  With reference to DA3, ensuring good mental health for all, 
it was reported that H&F CCG were also leading on the last Phase of Life 
programme on behalf of NW London CCGs.  Initially, this focused on 
improving the support provided to residents living in care homes, through the 
introduction of a telemedicine support function.  This was due to go live early 
in 2017/18, the benefits of which were anticipated from June onwards and 
would be reported (to the PAC) once operational.   Finally, on DA4, improved 
support for residents with complex common, severe and long term mental 
health conditions via their registered GPs.  It was reported that a 24/7 mental 
health crisis support line in North West London would allow residents in crisis 
to directly access appropriate specialist support via 111 without having to 
redial.   
 
Clare Parker elaborated on the areas that they had primarily focused on since 
October 2016.  There were a number of projects sitting under each of the 
delivery areas and these would be prioritised according to need.  DA1 was 
taken as an illustration, as they had been considerable work on it by Directors 
of Public Health.  The recommended priority area for 2017/18 was to focus on 
alcohol misuse, which could have a fundamental impact on health and care 
services, and, the most opportunity for benefit to local people.  Clare Parker 
reported that there had not been the anticipated release of transformation 
funding at this stage, but in January 2017 they had been invited to submit 
bids for specific health projects around cancer, mental health and diabetes, 
which primarily fell under DA2 and long term health conditions.   
 
Focusing on the governance arrangements, Clare Parker explained that they 
had established Delivery Area Boards and fully representative enabler and 
project groups.  The Joint North NW London Health and Care Transformation 
Group (JHCTG) had been also been constituted, the membership of which 
consisted of a broad mix of representatives from both NHS and Local 
Government, including commissioners, providers, councillors and officers. 
While this was not a decision-making group, it would be overseeing the 
delivery of the STP.  This was supported by a programme board for each of 
the delivery areas and would be co-chaired by a Senior Responsible Owner 
(SRO) from the NHS and Local Government.  The exception to this was DA5, 
which would be co-chaired by a senior NHS provider and commissioner 
representative.  The five DA’s will be supported by three enablers: workforce, 
digital and estates, which will also be joined by a number of other specialist 
bodies including the NWL Clinical Care Board, in advising the JHCTG.   
 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Co-optee, Patrick McVeigh, with reference to page 26 of the Agenda and the 
Executive Summary, commented on implied caveats in the wording of the 
document.  Specifically, the word “could”, in the context of bringing forward 
the acute configuration changes described in DA5c, was cause for concern as 
it indicated uncertainty.  Clare Parker apologised for the wording but offered 
assurances that the acute configuration changes would be addressed and be 
further elaborated on in the second part of the presentation on acute services.  
Currently, the plans for configuration would be beyond the period of the STP, 
which was why it was not built in to the current finances, as set out.  
 
Co-optee Bryan Naylor expressed concern that there was little in the STP that 
indicated how the aims would be achieved, such as providing treatment 
closer to home and out of hospitals.  He continued that GPs had articulated 
the difficulties in the training, recruitment and retention of GPs and support 
staff, which the STP had not addressed.  Clare Parker concurred, recognising 
the current workforce challenges in North West London in respect of retiring 
GPs and other medical and specialist staff groups, which they also struggled 
to retain.  She explained that one of the enabler workstreams would focus on 
workforce challenges, and that they hoped to address this in a range of ways, 
one of which included increasing the amount of patient-facing time available 
to GPs, releasing them from administrative tasks.  She continued that the 
introduction of the role of physician associate would also provide further 
support for GPs, to see patients who did not necessarily need to see their GP.  
It was acknowledged that a key part of this would be to ensure that there was 
the right mix of skills sets so that patients would see the most appropriate 
clinician.  Clare Parker reported that they were working with Health Education 
North West London to address this.  She acknowledged that while there a 
number of training opportunities, it was recognised that many people left the 
area within two years of concluding their training, exacerbated in part by the 
lack of affordable housing. 
 
Susan LaBrooy, Medical Director, SaHF, continued, acknowledging the 
difficult challenges of maintaining a robust workforce.  Alternative methods of 
supporting patients were suggested, such as using email to provide 
information, if appropriate.  Considering the patient experience of limited time 
with their GP’s, who then restricted consultations to specific issues, Susan 
LaBrooy accepted that this was inadequate and viewed as unacceptable by 
both patients and GPs.  To illustrate further, it was reported that diabetic and 
asthmatic patients were now better equipped to maintain greater control and 
understanding of the treatment and management of their own care. One 
outcome of changes to paediatrics services, with the introduction of an 
assessment unit and greater consultant input, was a decrease in paediatric 
nursing vacancies, a specialist position that was difficult to recruit.  A similar 
approach was being developed for radiographers, who could be trained to 
cover the work of radiologists.  Offering the right training and developing 
career pathways, would help address many workforce challenges, attracting 
and retaining staff long term.   
 
Bryan Naylor responded that while NHS colleagues recognised the problems 
and demonstrated a willingness to resolve them, the STP did not address the 
fundamental issue of how to deliver the solutions.  He commented that GPs 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

set their own work patterns and could not be pressurised into adopting 
changes required by the STP.  In his view it was overly ambitious, considering 
that the timeframe required for implementing workforce changes, such as 
training, would exceed five years.  Clare Parker clarified that the STP was a 
high level strategic document and that a development plan containing detailed 
information would be available for further scrutiny.  She continued that the 
workforce examples that referred to earlier had already been launched, such 
as the career framework for radiographers.  Finally, she pointed out that the 
workforce challenges would continue to exist, regardless of whether a new 
model of care was implemented. Clinicians would continue to experience 
pressure, but new care models would attract more staff to work in the area. 
 
Councillor Natalia Perez enquired if the implementation of the STP framework 
would result in any job losses.  Clare Parker replied that there was no 
expectation that jobs would be reduced.  The amount of money being spent 
on health would increase during the period of the STP, but not sufficient to 
cover the demand.  However, with the anticipated retirement of large numbers 
of GPs, there would be a requirement to reconfigure existing skills sets to 
ensure provision, for example, the development of physician associates.   
 
In a follow up question, Councillor Perez referred to a press release issued by 
the Save Our Hospitals Campaign (SOH), which reported that in response to 
a Freedom of Information (FOI) Request to Brent Council, it had been 
revealed that up to 8000 NHS jobs would be cut, as part of the North-West 
London STP delivery plan, with 3658, by 2017/18, and, 7053, by 2020/21.  
Clare Parker indicated that they had responded to this.  It was explained that 
the figures reported in the FOI had been contained in a spreadsheet, which 
was incorrect.  The spreadsheet had not been checked and provided only a 
partial picture across North-West London.  Clare Parker apologised for the 
mistake and recognised that, in this context, this had been unhelpful.  She 
confirmed that they were not planning to make 8000 health staff job cuts.  
 
Co-optee Debbie Domb, commented that, as a disabled person, she was at 
the sharp end of the current situation and that, post-Brexit, health and social 
care services will be decimated, given the potential loss of EU staff from the 
NHS.  Clare Parker acknowledge the potential risk and impact of Brexit on the 
workforce and hoped to put in place measures to mitigate against this.   
 
Councillor Joe Carlebach observed that the aims of the STP were wonderful 
but the test lay in the execution, which would be difficult.  While he welcomed 
the GP education and leadership initiative, he expressed concern about the 
difficulty accessing primary care, referencing the study by Dr Ingrid Wolfe 
(Why children die: death in infants, children and young people in the UK, May 
2014), with the UK having one of the highest mortality rates in Europe, of one 
child death per day in London.  Councillor Carlebach queried the emphasis on 
the introduction of physician associates, expressing concern that this remain 
untested within the UK. The identification of problems such as late diagnosis 
was a fundamental issue causing further pressure.  Susan LaBrooy concurred 
that the higher mortality rates for cancer in the UK, compared to Europe (in 
many cancers), were attributable to late diagnosis and referrals.  There was a 
large piece of work on-going around early intervention and screening with The 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Cancer Vanguard about raising awareness as to value of early diagnosis by 
providing GPs with better access, together with understanding the 
management of cancer as a long-term condition, given the higher rates of 
survival that were now achievable.  Susan LaBrooy continued that she would 
be happy to share information about this.   
 

ACTION: CCG 
 
Councillor Carlebach responded that it was more than a perception that it was 
hard to access GPs, particularly for older, vulnerable people.  The difficulties 
extended beyond access to services and were also about reducing variations 
between the way in which different surgeries operated. Clare Parker 
explained that one of the workstreams in the STP was to reduce variations in 
the provision of out of hospital services, for example, diabetes, where they 
were working with the H&F GP Federation on identifying a small number of 
key elements, which, if avoided, would improve outcomes.   
 
Councillor Andrew Brown welcomed the STP but queried the overall direction 
of the NHS locally.  He also queried the metrics used, observing a lack of 
movement towards increased out of hospital provision, as promised to 
residents.  Clare Parker responded that while there were no real metrics, the 
details about provision would be contained in the business case.  She 
referred to the downward trend in the number of non-elective admissions per 
100,000 and the number of occupied bed days per 100,000 of the population, 
contrary to London-wide trends.  The movement to out of hospital care was 
slow and contributed to pressures on social care.  She explained that in 
supporting projects such as diabetes, they had identified clinical indicators 
which would allow them to monitor the impact of a particular intervention on a 
group of patients. While acknowledging the need to share details of general 
metrics more widely, Clare Parker added that the whole country was 
struggling on these measures and offered to provide a more detailed report 
for the Committee on, for example, workforce or diabetes.   
 

ACTION: CCG 
 
In response to a comment from Councillor Brown, Clare Parker responded 
that one of the commitments of the STP was to focus on out of hospital care 
and that they were not currently planning changes to A&E during this period 
of the STP.  She stated that it was not possible to close a bed that was 
occupied and therefore still required. Their primary focus was on ensuring 
that there was appropriate capacity and that the models of care were working. 
 
Councillor Brown enquired about the JHCTG membership and who were the 
representatives, in particular those from local government.  Clare Parker 
confirmed that the following representatives from local government were: 
Councillor Sachin Shah, LB Harrow; Councillor Steve Curran, LB Hounslow; 
Councillor Nickie Aiken, Westminster City Council; and Councillor Phillip 
Corthorne, LB Hillingdon.  Senior officer local government officers included 
the Chief Executive Officers of the London Boroughs of Brent Hillingdon, 
Harrow, RBKC and Westminster.   
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

In the context of Brexit, Patrick McVeigh enquired about the impact of 
workforce challenges and the movement from a 5 to 7 day working week.  He 
asked if not moving to a 7- day model had been considered and further, what 
the impact was of an extended working week. Susan LaBrooy explained that 
variation on shift hours and rotas had been tried before.  It was not the case 
that staff were moving from 5 to 7 working days, the issue was about what 
services were being provided at weekends; the aim was not to deliver the 
same services at the weekend, but to consider what services could be 
delivered throughout the 7-day period in order to achieve good patient 
outcomes.  It was reported that this approach has subsequently been adopted 
by NHS England.   
 
Debbie Domb referred to an earlier comment about post-Brexit, and the 
possible impact on health and social care, which depends upon EU citizens 
working in hospitals, as being a “risk”.  She expressed concern about the 
comment being insulting, as the support provided by health and social care 
staff to disabled people, enabled them to live their lives.  Clare Parker clarified 
that it had not been her intention to cause offence, contending that this was 
an observation about the unknown outcomes of Brexit. There was no 
guidance as to whether EU staff would be allowed to remain in the country or 
what kind of system will operate in the future.  Individual organisations were 
doing their best to reassure and retain staff, until definitive guidance was 
provided.    
 
In response to a comment and question from a member of the public, Clare 
Parker explained that they had made the same commitment for Ealing 
(hospital) as they had for Charing Cross, that there would be no changes to 
A&E services until they were satisfied that there was sufficient capacity in the 
receiving sites, in either acute hospitals or out of hospital, to enable the safe 
management of care for patients.  It was explained that the Ealing site offered 
a different set of workforce challenges but there was currently no intention to 
make any changes, as other acute hospitals would not be able to manage 
that demand. This was would be outlined in the business case, with the aim of 
securing the capital to fund the expansion of receiving hospitals. 
 
With reference to the further question about the FOI released workforce 
figures, Clare Parker reiterated her earlier comment, admitting that in order to 
be transparent and open, they had confirmed that the figures were not 
validated, correct or representative, and offered an incomplete picture, with 
no planned reduction anticipated.  They were planning to reduce the number 
of out-patient and the number of non-elective admissions, the underlying aim 
being prevention.  Clare Parker continued that there were many specialities 
where up to 80% consultations did not need to be face to face and that they 
were exploring new models of working to alleviate demand, such as email.  
Responding to a point raised regarding funding, Clare Parker confirmed that 
there would be increased funding on healthcare in North-West London over 
the next five years but this would not meet the cost of care currently being 
delivered.  They were confident that they would not be considering large cuts 
in workforce, in anticipation of the increased funding.  
 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

With regards to the FOI information, Clare Parker confirmed that to her 
knowledge, the figures had not been submitted to the Department of Health 
(DH), although the plans were submitted to NHS England.  It was clarified that 
the figures were contained in an Appendix to the STP, which was 
subsequently released in response to the FOI.  The STP was a strategic 
document and that the work that had been undertaken during the course of its 
preparation had been complex and fast paced.  Work on staff numbers for 
clinical models was still progressing, but did not provide a complete picture as 
yet. Clare Parker reiterated that the figures were incorrect, had been 
withdrawn and that there were no substitute figures that had replaced them.  
She offered to share any new data once it had been compiled.  
 
Councillor Brown briefly followed up an earlier question regarding local 
government representation commenting that there were no representatives 
from Ealing and Hammersmith & Fulham.  Clare Parker responded that the 
reason why they were not represented on the JHCTG was because this body 
would oversee the delivery of the STP and that the two boroughs had chosen 
not to actively support the STP and therefore could not be included in its 
governance structures.  She confirmed that if the councils chose to support 
the STP, they would be included in the governance group.   
 
Responding to a question from a member of the public, Clare Parker 
reiterated that they could evidence the impact of the clinical strategy for out of 
hospital care.  There were other factors affecting demand on A&E services 
that need to be better understood and evidence suggested that at a lot of the 
growth was in different groups to the ones that they had previously 
considered, for example, the over 65s group. Clare Parker confirmed that 
they were not cutting beds, but were trying to help people remain healthy in 
their own homes.  Beds would close only once demand for them had reduced. 
She reiterated that, as with Ealing hospital, they would not be making any 
changes at Charing Cross until alternative capacity was in place.  The 
proposed changes to A&E at Ealing would be made by 2022, earlier than at 
Charing Cross.  Clare Parker stated that this was a clinically led programme 
which would not countenance any changes that would impact of the safe 
management of care of patients.  On a final point, Clare Parker explained that 
they had not planned on closing the Hammersmith and Central Middlesex 
A&Es earlier than anticipated.  This was based on the recommendation of the 
Independent Reconfiguration Panel.  There were no emergency medicine 
consultants in post on the Hammersmith site. Service changes at Ealing 
would not necessarily result in the large-scale changes anticipated by 
residents.  
 
In response to a comment and question from a member of the public, Clare 
Parker made reference to previous responses and speculated that a deep 
dive analysis over a longer period might be more helpful than the broad- 
brush approach presenting both the STP and SOC Part 1, together.  The 
NHS was a large, complex organisation providing a huge range of services, 
that they were systemically working through, modelling new care provision.  
Accordingly, they could not provide a precise figure for the number of staff 
across multiple, acute, mental health hospital staff and community groups.  A 
number of GP practices had significantly changed their skill mix, including for 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

example, clinical pharmacists, a change welcomed by patients.  While there 
had not been the same use of physician associates in the UK, compared to 
Europe, Clare Parker confirmed that this was being trialled and had been 
evidenced in other European countries.  While the precise level of detail had 
not been brought to this meeting, Clare Parker expressed intention to be open 
and transparent about the STP plans.   
 
Councillor Vaughan briefly summarised the main points of the discussion, 
many of which had been identified for more detailed scrutiny at a later date*: 
 

 Concern about the release FOI figures on workforce job loss numbers, 
which had been confirmed to an unfortunate error, both in terms of their 
inclusion in previous iterations of the STP and accompanying 
documents, and, their accuracy*; 

 Composition of workforce, was something that required further 
discussion, the introduction of physician associates and the 
reconfiguration of skillsets; 

 Better understanding of the impact of Brexit; 

 Better understanding of the impact of the lack of affordable housing; 

 The Committee welcomed a number of initiatives, particularly those 
relating to long term conditions; 

 Access to primary care and the slow progress around the movement to 
out of hours’ services 

 Development of the STP delivery plan*; 

 The changes to acute services such as Ealing, only being progressed 
once clinicians were satisfied that there was sufficient capacity at the 
receiving sites, for care to be managed safely and without compromise; 

 
ACTION: *CCG  

 
Proceeding to the second part of the discussion, Clare Parker explained that 
this would address acute service provision and consultation.  SOC Part 1, 
published in December 2016, set out the business case for the 
implementation of the STP, and SaHF vision.  This included plans for Ealing 
hospital and out of hospital estates but excluded hub sites.  Highlighting the 
need for capital investment in primary and community estates in North-West 
London, the expectation was that this would help attract key staff, improve 
A&E provision and support critical care beds at Imperial.   
 
SOC Part 2 related to the changes to Charing Cross and the Chelsea and 
Westminster site. The separation between Parts 1 and 2 was due in part to 
the on-going development work at Paddington, which meant that there were 
wider opportunities for Imperial, which would allow them to address 
fundamental estate issues.  Clare Parker explained that the no changes to 
Charing Cross would be made during the course of the next 5 years.  The 
intention was to implement changes as set out in the SaHF plan.  Christian 
Cubitt briefly described the pre-engagement plans for consultation across the 
8 boroughs.  He explained that they had tried to ensure that consultation 
communication methods were appropriate to ensure affective engagement.  
Given the identified preferences, these events would most likely be early 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

evening public meetings.  The Committee welcomed the offer to view and 
comment on the draft engagement strategy, once drafted.   
 
In response to a question from Councillor Vaughan, Christian Cubitt 
confirmed that next stage of consultation would be on Charing Cross and the 
funding of capital investment for services in the borough in advance of the 
publication of SOC Part 2. 
 
Councillor Perez referred to A&E figures recorded for November 2016, with 
3712 attendances, a significant increase.  Of these, 889, or 40%, waited for 
more than 4 hours and for that same week, 350 waited in excess of 4 hours.  
The figures also showed a 29% increased demand over a two-year period.  In 
light of these statistics, Councillor Perez asked why the STP had not been 
rescinded.  Clare Parker responded that they had no plans to make changes 
at Charing Cross in the next 5 years.  The need to do more to move services 
out of hospital was recognised.  She continued, that the value and benefit of 
consolidating services on a smaller number of sites had been evidenced 
which will allow for the concentration of specialist staff.  There was also 
evidence that a population of half a million people was required to maintain 
optimum activity and to support training.  
 
Councillor Brown observed that the plans were dated, particularly given the 
pace of medical advances.  Referring to the comment in the plans that no 
planned change will be made to A&E services during the period of the STP, 
implied that there would be changes in the future.  He suggested that a line 
be drawn under the plan, while still focusing on the service improvements, 
and revisit the proposal at some future point.  Referring to the parity of care 
for mental health care alongside physical care as an example, had this been 
considered in 2012, provision for mental health would be very different.  
Councillor Brown urged NHS colleagues to reconsider the plans and 
suggested that if that if this were possible, to work alongside the borough, 
with cross-party support, it would help deliver the changes and desired 
improvements.   
 
Clare Parker responded that they to new and innovative ways to improve 
service outcomes but that they have yet to find an alternative approach to 
consolidating services on a smaller number of sites.  Clare Parker concurred 
with Councillor Brown on the issue of mental health care parity and indicated 
that she would welcome further discussion about improvement of such future 
services in A&E at Charing Cross.  She reiterated previous points stating that 
the move away from generalist to more specialised services had been 
evidenced, with demonstrably better outcomes for major trauma, heart 
attacks and strokes.  
 
Councillor Brown referred to the capital requirement figure which was excess 
530 million and the earlier reference to the recent £325 million investment in 
the STP budget announcement.  Clare Parker explained that the figure of 
£530 million was to be spread over a period of 7 years, so the actual value 
was lower and that they would be bidding for NHS capital.  For the £325 
million, there was national capital allocation which they would also be bidding 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

for.  It was further explained that they would be applying for loans which 
would be repayable, depending on the terms.   
 
In response to a question from a member of the public regarding the STP 
plans being a political vehicle for allowing greater privatisation, Clare Parker 
explained that officer decisions were apolitical and further pointed out that 
while services had always been provided by a mixture of both private and 
publicly funded NHS organisations, they have always been free at the point of 
use for patients.   
 
In response to a query from a member of the public regarding funding and the 
concern that efficiency cuts were being prioritised over the provision of quality 
services, Susan LaBrooy responded that medical staff and clinicians aimed to 
provide the best services they could.  While recognising that greater funding 
of NHS services was needed, she also acknowledged the duty of care over 
managing existing public health funding.   
 
In response to a question from a member of the public, Susan LaBrooy 
highlighted the need to foster greater trust and to improve communications to 
facilitate the required improvement outcomes and ensure that people did not 
feel that were receiving lower value services.  It was not helpful to ask a 
person to use an app, if they did not understand how it worked.  Similarly, 
with reference to her earlier point, she commented that this was about 
providing, timely and appropriate care, observing that most people would 
prefer to die at home.  Councillor Vaughan added that the issue of end of life 
provision would a scrutiny item at the next meeting of the Committee.  
 
In response to a question from a member of the public, which asked if any of 
the panel had made any decisions, which actively opposed the STP plans, or, 
made a decision prioritising funding over need.  Susan LaBrooy responded 
that as a medical director, she had never sanctioned any approach that 
sought to cut services on the basis of funding, and stressed the importance of 
selectively exercising authority.  It was explained that nationally, care of 
patients was becoming so specialised, that A&E services were to be 
specialist, with a specialist hospital supporting it, to illustrate, there were two 
specialist heart hospitals serving North London. Susan LaBrooy 
recommended caution in selecting which services are chosen for saving, 
given the way in which they were currently provided. Clare Parker elaborated, 
referring to Councillor Carlebach’s earlier comment.  An A&E consultant who 
was able to treat greater frequency of patients presenting with the same 
issues, was more likely to be able to offer practiced and innovative solutions 
and improved outcomes. 
 
In response to a comment and question from a member of the public, Clare 
Parker explained that they had not yet received a formal acknowledgement of 
their submission of the STP from NHS England.  It was understood that the 
intention might be for each STP to undergo an assurance process.  The 
CCGs had been asked to develop the local? delivery plan that would underpin 
the STP, particularly for 2017/18, and that was what they would be seeking to 
monitor it against.   
 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

In response to a statement and question from a member of the public, Clare 
Parker confirmed that there was no intention to cut spending on the NHS.  
The £22 billion figure was notional, demonstrating the difference between 
current funding demand based on the current model of care, and, the actual 
amount of money coming in the NHS.  If nothing was done, there would be a 
£22 billion shortfall and if the model of care did not change, cuts would be 
required.  Clare Parker believed that they could achieve better outcomes for 
patients and improved models of cares, better than existing care models. If 
changes to the model of care resulted in the avoidance of cuts that might 
impact on the quality of health care, or if this evidenced a return to two year 
waiting lists, then this was an approach she was willing to implement.  She 
continued that the Mansfield Commission report did not set out a “do 
minimum” option, the intention was to improve outcomes for patients within 
the funding provided by tax payers. 
 
In response to a question and comment from a member of the public, Susan 
LaBrooy replied that there were a number of issues in respect of specialisms. 
To illustrate, in relation to sepsis, haemorrhage and renal failure, the right 
specialist surgeon was required, to enable the right sort of intervention, in the 
right hospital location.  She concurred with views expressed about frailty 
services.  The ‘frail elderly’ was not a bar to treatment.  The elderly may also 
experience strokes, heart attacks and renal failure, and would be treated for 
the primary condition, with input from a geriatrician.   She hoped that the 
nursing home project would continue to be rolled out as this would improve 
the quality of care available.   
 
A member of the public recounted a recent experience regarding the illness 
and subsequent treatment of an elderly parent. They had delayed seeking 
treatment, reluctant to be a burden. Clare Parker acknowledged with 
sympathy, the experience of the patient, whose care delayed had 
unfortunately resulted in further complications.   Clare Parker commented that 
at the heart of this patient’s experience, it was clear they were still not getting 
things right, not communicating to people about how to best use services, and 
not supporting people, which she admitted were fair criticisms.  The fact that 
this person had spent three weeks in hospital and had visibly deteriorated 
over the course of this stay, was one reason why out of hospital services 
were needed.  
 
Bryan Naylor expressed concern that the number of elderly and vulnerable 
people requiring ophthalmic treatment will increase, without a corresponding 
increase in staffing levels.  Susan LaBrooy responded that one of the ways in 
which pressure on services could be alleviated was to reduce the number of 
non-attendance for appointments.  Similarly, with return or follow up 
appointments.  Bryan Naylor observed that this did not provide a suitable 
response to how increased demand will be managed, particularly in cases 
which cannot be delegated to a GP.  Clare Parker responded that funding for 
the workforces was limited, increased to funding would not sufficiently affect 
the issue. She observed that another demand was the fact that people were 
living longer but having to manage long term conditions, so not necessarily 
living in good health.   
 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Carlebach enquired about the role of specialist hospitals, which he 
felt had been excluded from the proposals.  Residents with complex needs, or 
elderly people, had felt vulnerable in navigating specialist clinical pathways, 
where you would want to access the most appropriate care.  Councillor 
Carlebach sought further clarification about the pathway and escalation 
routes, noting that residents struggle to navigate the system, and that even 
GPs cannot locate patients within it, particularly in cases involving treatment 
at more than one site.  Susan LaBrooy described the work of Tim Briggs, who 
had been asked to examine more specialist pathways, other than 
orthopaedics, and whose mantra was that clinicians should only be doing 
work that they are specialists in.  Councillor Carlebach reported that residents 
who, had they not been referred to the Marsden, would not have received 
specialist cancer treatment that saved their lives. Susan LaBrooy replied that 
they were working with The Cancer Vanguard to address this.  She 
recognised the difficulties experienced by patients who get lost in the system 
and the importance of not being moved around, between wards and sites.   
 
With reference to bullet point 5.6.18 (page 243 of the Agenda), “no service 
will be moved until the required capacity is available at all receiving 
sites…and can be safely transferred.” Patrick McVeigh asked who would 
determine the level of capacity and if this was sufficient. Clare Parker 
explained, and illustrated her response using Ealing, where some changes 
had been made, most recently to maternity and paediatrics.  They had 
mapped out existing activity and undertaken engagement at Ealing to 
establish new models of care.  They had identified and contacted each patient 
and determined which sites they would be going to, establishing the number 
of beds required.  In response to the second part of the question, Clare 
Parker explained that this was a matter of safety and that they were 
committed to ensuring the safe delivery of services, without compromise and 
subject to health scrutiny by local government representatives.  
 
Councillor Brown observed that while the need for specialist treatments was 
accepted, there had been an increased trend towards specialisation and he 
emphasised the importance of retaining generalist skills, for which there was 
evidenced demand.  He expressed the view that Charing Cross should be a 
place where such services could be provided, commenting that it served an 
area predicted to experience large population growth.  He added that the 
London Ambulance Service (LAS) was not performing well enough to rely on 
a model requiring the management and movement of patients to different 
sites. Councillor Brown urged NHS colleagues to consider alternative plans 
for the benefit of Hammersmith and Fulham residents and indicated a 
willingness to work with residents, politicians and SOH campaigners, in order 
to achieve this. 
 
Councillor Vaughan referred to page 271 of the report pack and enquired 
about the default position on what a local hospital or urgent care centre might 
look like.  Clare Parker replied that this section was directly drawn from the 
business case.  The Independent Reconfiguration Panel and the Secretary of 
State for Health had established that there should be a local A&E on the 
Charing Cross site, not just an urgent care centre.  In the context of Ealing, 
they had listed a preferred set of services in the business case but this would 

Page 13



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

be subject to further engagement and consultation, and may well be adjusted.  
She explained that services may be constrained by the need to incorporate 
specialist services but much of this would require more detailed discussion.  
Their preferred approach was to work on providing frailty services or moving 
towards out of hospital services, as opposed to examining what a site might 
look like in the future.  This approach would then be replicated and feed into 
discussions around what Charing Cross might look like in the long term. 
 
In summarising the points raised during the second part of the discussion, 
Councillor Vaughan referred to the consultation and engagement process in 
terms of changes proposed to Charing Cross for the future.  He observed that 
opposition to this approach still remained.  In particular, there were underlying 
issues around trust and clear communication in terms of the proposals for the 
site.   
 

124. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Work Programme noted items planned for the next meeting of the 
Committee. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

125. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The Committee noted the date of the next meeting, to be held on Wednesday, 
26th April 2017. 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.05pm 
Meeting ended: 10pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 5758 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 14



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 

Health, Adult Social Care and 
Social Inclusion Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

Information Notes 
(Inquorate meeting) 

 
Wednesday 26 April 2017 

 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Andrew Brown (late), Joe Carlebach (late), 
Rory Vaughan (Chair) and Natalia Perez 
 
Absent: Hannah Barlow  
 
Co-opted members: Patrick McVeigh (Action on Disability) and Bryan Naylor (Age 
UK) 
 
Other Councillors: Vivienne Lukey 
 
Officers: Helen Mann, Programme Manager, Healthwatch; Colin Brodie, Public 
Health Knowledge Manager, Public Health, LBHF; Craig Williams, Head of Health 
Partnerships, LBHF; Toby Hyde, Head of Strategy, H&F CGG; Matthew Mead, 
Integrated Care Programme Manager, H&F CCG; Holly Ashforth, Deputy Chief 
Nurse and Director of Patient Experience, CLCH; Darren Jones, Associate Director 
of Quality, CLCH; Anthony Clarke, Senior Social Work Practitioner, H&F CCG; 
Megan Veronesi, Head of Service Development and Communications; Trinity 
Hospice; Viv Whittingham, Head of Service Care and Assessment, Adult Social; 
Vanessa Andreae, H&F CCG; Dr William Oldfield, Deputy Medical Director; Claire 
Braithwaite, Divisional Director of Operations, Medicine and Integrated Care and 
Mick Fisher, Head of Public Affairs, Imperial College NHS Trust Hospital 

 
126. HEALTHWATCH  

 
Councillor Vaughan welcomed Helen Mann, Programme Manager, 
Healthwatch to the meeting.  As with neighbouring boroughs, the intention 
was that this would be a standing item for future meetings, to ensure that the 
organisation was able to provide regular input into health issues affecting 
Hammersmith and Fulham residents.  It was understood that the organisation 
had gone through a lengthy period of transition and restructuring and that 
following this, a new Chief Executive had recently started.  A new volunteer 
co-ordinator had also been appointed and had spent three months getting to 

Page 15



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

know volunteers.  Healthwatch aim to raise awareness of health issues such 
as the STP, was a primary goal.  It was noted that 94% of people had not 
attended any public health event and the intention was to actively work jointly 
with the CCG to address this.  The following key points of the discussion were 
noted: 
 

 A recent signing posting event had encouraged attendance from across 
the three boroughs.  It was noted that residents found it difficult to find 
information on social care provision and navigate the administrative 
process in order to access that care.  This indicated the level of work 
still required to improve health advocacy; 

 There was no indication as how long Healthwatch would continue to 
operate under Hestia Housing Support, its parent charity, and they 
were currently awaiting the outcome of the due diligence submission 
provided on 12th April; 

 66 responses had been received in response to a simple survey that 
Healthwatch had undertaken, with a decision taken to not ask 
respondents about their views on the STP.  Healthwatch indicated that 
they would be happy to share this; and 

 That better engagement could be facilitated through the removal of 
language barriers. 

 
127. END OF LIFE CARE  

 
Councillor Vaughan welcomed a number of officers, both commissioners and 
providers: Colin Brodie, Public Health Knowledge Manager, Public Health, 
LBHF, Toby Hyde, Head of Strategy, H&F CGG, Matthew Mead, Integrated 
Care Programme Manager, H&F CCG, Holly Ashforth, Deputy Chief Nurse 
and Director of Patient Experience, CLCH, Darren Jones, Associate Director 
of Quality, CLCH, Anthony Clarke, Senior Social Work Practitioner, H&F CCG, 
Megan Veronesi, Head of Service Development and Communications, Trinity 
Hospice, Viv Whittingham, Head of Service Care and Assessment, Adult 
Social and Vanessa Andreae, H&F CCG. 
 
This was a detailed, technical document which summarised the joint work 
undertaken by the local authority and the CCG on the JSNA on End of Life 
Care.  It was signed off by the LBHF Health and Wellbeing Board in March 
2016 and provided an overview of the provision of end of life care across the 
three boroughs.  The following key points of the discussion were noted: 
 

 End of life care was not simply care during the last few days or weeks, 
but could cover a period of months or years, usually following a serious 
long term condition.  It should cover physical, emotional and social 
needs, cross cutting across a number of different sectors; 

 Paragraph 3.8 of the report set out five key recommendations.  This 
was primarily about a culture shift of moving on from the provision of 
palliative care to an open discussion, addressing issues such as 
individual choice, control and exploring broader options; 

 There was a shift in terminology from “end of life” to “last phase of life”, 
noting that there was now greater likelihood of functional or gradual, 
decline spanning a number of years; 

Page 16



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 A primary recommendation was that each individual received an easily 
accessible and agreed care plan, that had been consulted upon with 
friends, family and clinicians;  

 CLCH – it was important to support staff to enable them to have difficult 
conversations about last phase of life care; 

 Events were planned throughout “Dying Matters” week, planned for 8-
14th May.  The 2016 event had been well received, however, it was also 
acknowledged that there needed to be improved communication and 
information provided about workshops and events; 

 There was significant variation across the three boroughs in terms of 
raising awareness of the issue; 

 A key issue was about empowering staff based in for example, 
sheltered housing accommodation and not just about offering palliative 
care. It was about how to facilitate a humanitarian and compassionate 
approach alongside professional care.  This ought to be a shared and 
informed decision making process, making people feel comfortable and 
avoiding a fear of retribution culture;   

 Recognising that cognitive decline often pre-empted last phase of life, it 
was acknowledged that not everyone was able to engage and that 
there was a need for earlier intervention, with preparation or planning 
being a prerequisite in much the same way as a funeral plan.  This was 
not the same as simply having a conversation with your GP; 

 The provision of last phase of life care was inclusive of all age groups, 
including young people, for whom tailored co-ordinated care plans 
could also be provided.  It was important to not generalise about 
cultural or religious factors and again, these were difficult conversations 
to facilitate, making it important to ensure that staff were fully 
supported, particularly in dealing with young people; 

 It was noted that the majority of GP practices have multi-disciplinary 
team meetings, to examine patient cohorts and to understand their 
future preferences.  These were undertaken on rolling basis and 
contained inherent challenges, depending on the ability or cognisance 
of the individual.  This progress development in LBHF has been organic 
over the past three years offering ample opportunities for sharing 
learning; 

 It was noted that there were approximately 25,000 people the last 
phase of life, based on the current data, with only a small portion of that 
number having an agreed end of life care plan; 

 It was acknowledged that carers perceived experience was also 
important to understand and contextualise; 

 The 28 beds provided by Trinity, covering a 5th of Hammersmith and 
Fulham.  The majority of people wanted to die at home.  The issue was 
not about the number of beds but that 80% of care was provided in the 
community; 

 The immediate focus of the JNSA was the need to ensure 24/7 access 
to clinical advice, with information as to who to go to and at what point 
in the day this should happen.  There was recognition of the need for 
better co-ordinated care to reduce the variation in experience and a 
need to improve training; 

 The challenges of moving resources and facilitate people’s wishes to 
die at home; and 

Page 17



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 The increase in extreme aging was highly challenging, requiring the co-
ordination of different medical interventions and identified needs, ideally 
taking place with the least disruption. 

 
128. IMPERIAL COLLEGE HEALTHCARE NHS TRUST: ACCIDENT & 

EMERGENCY SERVICE PERFORMANCE NOVEMBER 2016 - MARCH 
2017  
 
Councillor Vaughan welcomed Dr William Oldfield, Deputy Medical Director 
Claire Braithwaite, Divisional Director of Operations, Medicine and Integrated 
Care, Mick Fisher, Head of Public Affairs, from Imperial College Healthcare 
NHS Trust.  The Trust managed a number of A& E services that included 
emergency departments (ED), urgent care centres (UCC) and specialist 
emergency centres, located at St Marys and Charing Cross hospitals.  This 
had been a challenging winter period nationally but a month on month 
improvement had occurred through the period December 2016 to March 2017, 
with a new acute service commencing at Charing Cross.  It was noted that a 
new UCC had become operational at St Marys in April 2016, operated by 
Vocare.  Dr Oldfield explained that they were remodelling critical care facilities 
and that they were signs of improved quality of services.  The following key 
points of the discussion were noted: 
 

 This had been a challenging winter, with target of seeing 95% of 
patients being seen within fours not being met.  On average, 87% of 
patients were seen within four-hour, however, there was demonstrable 
trajectory of improvement from December onwards; 

 With reference to figure 5, in paragraph 4.2 of the report, it was noted 
that during 2017, the position showed much improvement, when 
compared with Feb-March of the previous year; 

 In terms of key challenges, it was recognised that contrary to media 
reports, most patients presenting at A&E sites need to be there.  There 
were increasing numbers arriving by ambulance, which also presented 
significant operational challenges; 

 Remodelling of care at St Marys UCC had experienced short terms 
operational difficulties, with the result that that the streaming services 
(to either UCC or ED) experienced difficulty with managing extended 
wait times, delivering consistent streamlining services and maintaining 
adequate staff levels, particularly overnight;  

 There had been significant changes to improve UCC with an extending 
programme of work to improve resilience targeting not only A&E, but 
the range of service provision from when a patient first presents to 
discharge.  Regular weekly meetings now monitored projects and 
required actions, with scrutiny and support from senior officers;  

 The Trust acknowledged that they had not met the required standard 
but there was improvement; 

 Dr Oldfield referred to a funnel affect, with large numbers of patients 
accessing service through single point.  Remodelling to maximise 
available space, calculating demand and resources, particularly staff, 
accordingly would see this become more streamlined.  Emergency 
medicine was hard, with staff requiring significant experience – taking 

Page 18



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

up to 15 years to train an emergency consultant - in what was a highly 
pressurised, challenging environment; 

 Difficulty in accessing other services could indicate a causal link to 
increased A&E attendance, particularly with some waiting periods of up 
to 18 weeks recorded for Referral to Treatment.  Members of the 
Committee highlighted the point that vulnerable and elderly residents 
struggle to access GPs and how easy was it for people to access 
primary care in the community.   Although it was noted that this was 
outside of the Trusts remit, it was understood that despite the wait, a 
patient who presented through an A&E service would eventually be 
seen within 14 hours by a consultant and receive a senior opinion on 
their condition; and 

 Hospital based Social Workers were now accompanying consultants on 
their rounds, offering joined up patient care pathways, with discharge 
plans being formulated far early and sufficiently in advance of 
discharge to avoid delay. 
 

An increase of Type 1 cases at Charing Cross was cause for concern, 
however, the Committee acknowledged that the level of demand caused 
significant pressure on the service, with the Trust unable to meet the national 
standard to see, treat and discharge 95% of patients that present to an urgent 
or emergency care setting within 4 hours.   
 
Members of the Committee highlighted additional concerns around the length 
of waiting time, particularly at Western Eye Hospital, where waiting times of up 
to five hours had been experienced.  The Committee would welcome closer 
analysis of public health education provision, which might potentially address 
this, together with a better understanding of how to achieve greater 
efficiencies around triage and initial assessments.  
 
The Committee was disappointed that the waiting time targets had not been 
met.  However, it welcomed the fact that the Trust had plans in place to 
improve its performance, particularly at the Charing Cross A&E.  And 
members of the Committee commended the work of staff working in 
emergency care settings, understanding that the service had faced high levels 
of demand during this period.  The Committee will be interested in receiving a 
further report on A&E waiting times later in 2017 to see what impact these 
changes have made.   
 

130. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
No discussion. 
 

131. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The next meeting of the committee was Tuesday, 13th June 2017. 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall,  
Committee Co-ordinator, Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 5758, 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 19



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SOCIAL 

INCLUSION POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 
 

13 JUNE 2017 

 

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 2017/8, APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR AND TERMS 
OF REFERENCE 
 

Report of the Director of Law – Tasnim Shawkat 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Information 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Tasnim Shawkat - Director of Law  
 

Report Author: Kayode Adewumi – Head of 
Governance and Scrutiny 

Contact Details: Tel: 020 8753 2499 
Email – kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. This report sets out the new membership of this Committee and its terms 

of reference, as agreed at the Annual Council on 17 May 2017.  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. The Committee is asked to note its membership and terms of reference. 
 

2.2. To note the Committee’s terms of reference and membership and to 
appoint a Vice-chair for the 2017/2018 municipal year. 

 
3. INTRODUCTION  

3.1. The Council agreed the membership and terms of reference at the Annual 
Council Meeting held on 17 May 2017.  

 
4. MEMBERSHIP 

4.1. The membership of this committee is as follows: 
 

Councillor Rory Vaughan (Chair), Councillor Daryl Brown 
Councillor Mercy Umeh, Councillor Andrew Brown 
Councillor Joe Carlebach. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



5. TERMS OF REFERENCE 

5.1. Policy & Accountability Committees (PACs) will develop key policies for the 
Council on behalf of and with residents and community groups and hold the 
Executive to account.   
 

5.2. All PACs will discharge the relevant statutory functions within the scope of the 
Committee.  
 

5.3. All PACs will have the following key responsibilities:  

 To hold the Cabinet to account 

 To be a critical friend to the Cabinet and to challenge the assumptions 
behind the policies and actions of the Council and other local service 
providers 

 To amplify the voice and concerns of local residents and to give 
residents a mechanism to comment on, participate in and determine 
Council policy 

 To improve the Council’s services by listening to residents and user 
groups 

 To scrutinise decisions made by partner organisations in the interest of 
the residents of the Borough 

 To be independent of party politics and ensure an informed evidence-
based approach to policy development  

 
5.4 PACs may also co-opt non-voting additional members to ensure residents and 

users’ groups are fully represented.  Only statutory co-optees will have voting 
rights.  All co-opted members will be able to participate fully in all meetings 
and have the same access to information as elected members.  

 
5.5 Each PAC will maintain a work programme of policies and issues identified by 

the PAC members to be investigated, analysed and understood prior to 
making recommendations to decision-makers. PACs may receive evidence 
from experts and user groups either in writing in advance or verbally at 
meetings.  

 
5.6 All PACs may compel Council officers and Executive members to attend 

meetings as required and can expect to receive written evidence as requested.  
 
5.7 Where appropriate, PAC members may conduct research outside of formal 

meetings and make site visits as required.  
 
5.8 When considering major cross-cutting issues that impact upon the work of 

more than one PAC, PACs may meet concurrently to receive evidence in a 
joint session. Following such meetings, reports may be published as joint 
reports or as separate responses. Alternatively, for major cross-cutting issues 
that impact the work of more than one PAC or require detailed attention, PACs 
may appoint sub-committees or task groups to examine the particular issue.  

 
5.9 Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be known in Hammersmith & 

Fulham as the PACs. 

Page 21



 
BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT - None 

 

HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE & SOCIAL INCLUSION POLICY & 
ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE  

 

Members: 
Five voting councillors 

Quorum: 
Three Members of the Committee 
 

Political proportionality: 
3 Administration members  
 
2 Opposition members.   

Co-opted Members: 
 
Non-statutory without voting rights: 
 

 
Principal Functions 

 
All the powers of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set out in section 
21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007.  
 

 To discharge functions under the Health and Social Care Act 2001 

 To discharge any functions under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
and any subsequent regulations  

 To develop policy within the scope of the Committee and make 
recommendations to the Cabinet 

 Monitor the administration and spending in services within its scope 

 To review the impact of decisions and policies implemented by the 
Council  

 Lead responsibility for scrutinising the relevant Cabinet Members(s). 
 
Scope: 

 

 health of both children and adults (including public health)  

 the provision, maintenance and improvement of primary and acute 
NHS services in the borough 

 the provision of mental health services in the borough 

 adult social care services in the borough, including the exercise of 
statutory responsibilities in relation to the scrutiny of health as set out 
in Article 6 and also the voluntary and community sector 

 the Council’s equalities and diversity programmes and support for 
vulnerable groups. 

 Council and other out-of-school services for youth in the Borough  

 the Council’s Voluntary Sector strategy 

 increasing access to opportunity in all aspects of social and economic 
life in the borough 

 other policies and initiatives supporting social inclusion in the borough 

 any other matter allocated by the Finance & Delivery PAC 

Page 22



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE & SOCIAL 
INCLUSION POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY 

COMMITTEE 

 
13 JUNE 2017 

 

 

 

HEALTHWATCH UPDATE 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care  
 

Open Report  
 

Classification - For Policy & Accountability Review & Comment 
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Director of Delivery and Value 
 

Report Author:  
Helen Mann (Healthwatch) 
Tom Conniffe (Principal Policy and Strategy 
Officer) 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 753 2195 
E-mail: 
tom.conniffe@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
1.      Governance and contract novation  

 
1.1. Healthwatch Central West London is pleased to announce that it has a new Chief 

Executive, Olivia Clymer who joined the team on 24th April. 
 

1.2. The CEO is leading towards full independence from Hestia and novation of the 
contract, aiming to complete this by October 2017.  

 
2.      Strategic partnerships  

 
2.1. Healthwatch continues to build relationships and develop partnerships with key 

voluntary organisations, providers and commissioners, as well as ensuring there 
is representation at meetings with all stakeholders.  
 

2.2. Representation is solidified at the CCG Patient Reference Group, Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee and Quality Patient and Safety Risk Group meeting.  

 
2.3. Healthwatch continues to work closely with the CCG and are part of the Primary 

Care Commissioning Committee (to oversee the changes in commissioning of 
primary care which will now fall under the remit of the CCG). Healthwatch have 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



also been part of the Engagement and Communication Task and Finish group 
which is working with a series of local partners to update the CCG 2017-21 
Engagement and Communications Strategy.  

 
2.4. Since April, Healthwatch has attendeed strategic partner meetings with 

organisations including Mind, Sobus, Refugee and Migrant Forum of West 
London, Young Hammersmith & Fulham Foundation and CLCH.  

 
3.      Resident engagement, communications and volunteering  

 
3.1. Increasing the numbers of volunteers is a strategic aim for Healthwatch. 

Volunteers are recruited by the local committee. Healthwatch regularly attend the 
Volunteer Network Forum Meetings organised by the Volunteer Centre in 
Hammersmith and Fulham. 
 

3.2. Healthwatch are developing other ways to recruit and boost existing engagement, 
such as a Community Listener role to gather stories and evidence around 
residents’ experiences of health and social care. 

 
3.3. Healthwatch are holding a volunteer event in June to celebrate the work of 

existing volunteers. 
 

3.4. Healthwatch has built a partnership with Next Door and it will be using the social 
platform across the three boroughs to grow membership and advertise events 
and information. 

 
3.5. An engagement and outreach strategy based around health-related national days 

has been developed and shared with the Council, the CCG and our local 
committee members for comment and input.  

 
3.6. Healthwatch has engaged with local groups, participating at the social care 

workshop organised by Age UK and giving a presentation at Fulham Good 
Neighbours.  

 
3.7. Our latest engagement work focused around older people has identified key 

issues such as a negative perception of older people, a lack of medical 
equipment, limited social care support and issues around hospital discharge.  

 
4.      Mental health issues  

 
4.1. Obtaining feedback about mental health issues is a key priority for Healthwatch. 

Healthwatch have developed relationships with voluntary organisations, 
commissioners, providers and users. Healthwatch want to bring stakeholders 
together in an event whereby providers can give more information about their 
services and users can identify gaps and deliver feedback.  
 

4.2. Healthwatch are organising Dignity Champion visits to mental health providers at 
residential and care homes offering mental health-related services, and at 
Charing Cross hospital. Healthwatch will work in partnership with Mind to ensure 
that Dignity Champions are appropriately trained.  

Page 24



4.3. Issues that have been identified and yet unresolved include: a lack of service 
provision between primary and secondary care services, difficulty accessing care 
plans for inpatients and a lack of knowledge about the single point of access.  

 
5.      Signposting  

 
5.1. Healthwatch is continuing reviewing signposting services across the three 

boroughs. A report is currently being written and findings will be relayed to 
commissioners to improve current provision, which is often confusing for those 
accessing information. 
 

5.2. Following feedback from the signposting project, Healthwatch is developing 
information and complaint leaflets across the three boroughs to clarify the 
process of social care advocacy and complaints. This is being done in 
collaboration with Action on Disability to identify gaps in current provision.  

 
6.      Quality Accounts 

 
6.1. Healthwatch CWL, with input from local committee members, has reviewed and 

submitted comments to the quality accounts for Royal Marsden, Imperial, West 
London Mental Health Trust and CLCH.  

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None n/a n/a 

 
 

Page 25



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE & SOCIAL 
INCLUSION POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY  

 
13 JUNE 2017 

 

 

 

IMPERIAL COLLEGE HEALTHCARE NHS TRUST: QUALITY ACCOUNT 2016/17 
 
 

Report of the Executive Director for Adult Social Care and Health 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Noting 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: N/A 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Medical Director 
 

Report Author: Clementine Burbidge, quality strategy 
implementation manager, Imperial College Healthcare 
NHS Trust 
 

Contact Details: 
E-mail: 
clementine.burbidge@impe
rial.nhs.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust’s quality strategy 2015-18 is being 

delivered through the achievement of our quality goals which are supported by 
specific annual targets and a number of improvement programmes. These are 
set out in our strategy under the five quality domains (safe, effective, caring, 
responsive and well-led). From 2015 to 2018, our annual quality account reports 
on progress against the three-year strategy and confirms the priority programmes 
and targets for the following year. 
 

1.2 This report presents the Trust’s quality account for 2016/17 (appendix 1).  The 
document has been reviewed at all required committees and has undergone all 
necessary consultation with internal and external stakeholders. It was approved 
at the Trust Board on 24th May and is now being professionally designed ahead 
of final sign off from the chief executive and chairman, and publication on NHS 
Choices by 30th June 2017.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 The Committee is asked to note the report. 
 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



3. BACKGROUND  

3.1 Quality accounts are annual reports to the public from NHS healthcare providers 
about the quality of services they deliver. According to NHS England, their primary 
purpose is to encourage boards and leaders of healthcare organisations to 
demonstrate their commitment to continuous, evidence-based quality 
improvement, to assess quality across all of the healthcare services they offer and 
to explain their progress to the public. 

3.2 The Trust’s quality account has reported on progress with our quality strategy 
since its launch in 2015. This year’s document outlines progress with the second 
year of our current strategy and confirms the priority programmes and targets for 
the final year.  

3.3 The quality account was developed using the Department of Health Quality 
Account toolkit and complies with the mandatory requirements, in the following 
structure: 

 Part 1: statement from the Chief Executive (page 3) 

 Part 2: priorities for improvement in 2017/18 and mandatory statements 

relating to quality (pages 11-30) 

 Part 3: review of our quality performance in 2016/17 (pages 31-66) and 

statements from stakeholders (placeholder on page 67) 

 

4. ENGAGEMENT 

4.1 As part of the process, the Trust is required to seek engagement from internal and 
external stakeholders. This includes offering our commissioners, Healthwatch and 
the local Overview & Scrutiny Committees the opportunity to comment on the draft 
report.  

4.1 The first draft was circulated for consultation following approval at the Trust’s 
executive quality committee on 4th April to our external stakeholders and also 
internally, to our non-executive and executive directors. Changes were made to 
the report as a result of the comments received where possible. There were some 
comments we received that we were unable to provide a response to within the 
document itself. The comments received from the Head of Partnerships and 
Integration on behalf of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham, and 
our responses, are included in the table below. 

 

Comment Response 

There are a wide range of indicators not 
being met – it is difficult to assess what 
impact this has       

We have tried to articulate the impact on 
patients where the targets haven't been 
met in the narrative for each individual 
target. We will try to make this clearer in 
next year's document 

I am aware that improvement plans are 
in place and the account would have 

Links are provided for publically available 

Page 27



been enhanced by providing links to 
these plans 

documents 

A breakdown across hospitals within the 
trust would have added value 

We measure and monitor performance 

by ward, specialty, directorate, division 

and Trustwide rather than by site which 

is why we do not include a breakdown of 

performance across the hospitals within 

the Trust 

 

4.2 There were additional comments from several stakeholders regarding the 
formatting of the report, which are being taken into account in the design phase. 
This includes moving the driver diagrams currently in appendix A of the document 
into the body of the report, and making the tables in the ‘review of our quality 
progress 2016/17’ section clearer and easier to read. We also plan to include 
graphs and infographics for some of the targets to make progress easier to see. 

4.3 The second draft was then approved at our executive quality committee and 
quality committee (sub-committee of the Trust Board) in May. It was circulated to 
our external stakeholders to allow them to formulate their final statements, which 
were due to be submitted by the end of May 2017. The statements we receive will 
be incorporated into the final document prior to publication. The statement from 
Councillor Rory Vaughan on behalf of the Health, Adult Social Care and Social 
Inclusion, Policy and Accountability Committee is attached as appendix 2. 

4.4 The quality account is subjected to both internal and external auditing, with the 
external auditors’ statement also included in the published document when 
completed.   

 

5. NEXT STEPS 

 

 Final document to be professionally designed and pictures and graphics 

included – May – mid-June 2017; 

 Final sign off by CEO and chairman on behalf of the Board – mid-June 2017; 

 Publication of quality account – 30th June 2017. 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust Quality Account 2016/17 
Appendix 2: Health, Adult Social Care and Social Inclusion Policy and 
Accountability Committee: Response to Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust - 
Quality Account  
 

Page 28



  
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Quality Account 2016/17 
  

Page 29



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 2 

Contents 

Statement from the chief executive ......................................................................................... 3 

About this report ....................................................................................................................... 4 

Statement of directors’ responsibilites ................................................................................... 5 

About our Trust ......................................................................................................................... 6 

Our quality improvement plan ................................................................................................ 11 

Statements of assurance from the Trust board .................................................................... 24 

A review of our quality progress 2016/17 .............................................................................. 31 

NHS outcomes framework indicators 2016/17 ...................................................................... 61 

Statements from stakeholders ............................................................................................... 67 

Appendices.............................................................................................................................. 68 

Glossary .................................................................................................................................. 77 

 

Glossary 
We have tried to make this document as straightforward and reader-friendly as possible. A 
glossary of terms used throughout the document can be found on page 77.  
 

Alternative formats  
 
This document is also available in other languages, large print and audio formation on request. 
Please contact the communications directorate on 020 3313 3005 for further details. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 3 

 

Statement from the Chief Executive 
 
We at Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust are committed to helping the people we serve to 
live their lives to the fullest. We aim to do this by providing high quality care, whenever and 
however we are needed, and by working in partnership, supporting our patients to take an active 
role in their own health and wellbeing. 
 
I am very proud of our Trust and optimistic for its future – though the whole NHS is in 
challenging times, we have so much to draw on in terms of the expertise, kindness and 
commitment of our staff.  The amazing response we had to Hospital, the BBC2 documentary 
series about our organisation, provided tangible evidence of this, if it were needed.  
  
Despite increasing financial and capacity pressures on our services, and on the NHS as a 
whole, we have seen some significant improvements this year. Building on our transformation 
programme launched in 2015/16, and supported by a re-organisation of our management 
structures at the beginning of this year, our staff have delivered real achievements in maintaining 
excellent clinical outcomes while reducing avoidable harm to patients, focusing on how we learn 
from mistakes and improve patient experience. I am particularly proud that we have delivered 
these improvements in the context of the significant challenges we have faced throughout the 
year to meet key national access standards and tackle long-standing pressures around demand, 
capacity and patient flow. Although we still have a lot more work to do, I am confident that we 
are starting to improve how we manage these pressures, whilst ensuring we continue to provide 
the best possible care to all our patients.  
 
Most encouragingly of all, our staff are increasingly positive about working here. Our results in 
both our internal and the national staff engagement surveys have improved hugely and reflect 
our changing organisational culture; empowering staff to continuously improve the service they 
provide and working with our patients and communities to ensure that we are among the best 
healthcare providers in the country – safe, effective, caring, well led, and responsive to our 
patients’ needs. 
 

Our plans for 2017/18 

Over the coming year, it’s important that we address the immediate challenges we face but we 
also need to continue with the more strategic changes that will allow us to meet future health 
needs. We will focus on delivering the last year of our quality strategy to ensure sustainable and 
continuous improvement across our services, supporting the North West London Sustainability 
and Transformation Plan by ensuring we provide safe, high quality, sustainable acute services, 
while working with our partners to deliver better care across our communities.  
 
With our staff, stakeholders and the public, we will also draw up our plans for the next three 
years, creating our third quality strategy which we will publish in spring 2018. This will build on 
the successes of our current strategy, while focusing on areas where further work is needed.  
 

Acknowledgements  
I hope that this quality account paints a clear picture of our commitment to continuous 
improvement, and of how important the safety and experience of our patients are to us all at 
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust. 
 
We would like to thank everyone who helped us compile this document, including members of 
the public, Healthwatch, local authorities and commissioner colleagues. 
 
Much of the work that is described in this document could not have been done without the 
generosity of our charity, so I would like to extend my thanks for all their support.  

Page 31



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 4 

 
Finally, I would like to thank all our staff who work tirelessly every day to better the lives of 
patients and the community we serve.  
 
 
Dr Tracey Batten 
Chief executive, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 
May 2017 
 

About this report 
Quality accounts were introduced in 2009 to make healthcare organisations more accountable 
when it comes to quality of care. They are designed to report on how we have performed against 
the targets we set for ourselves last year, and to share our targets for next year.  
 
There are a number of inherent limitations in the preparation of quality accounts which may 
impact the reliability or accuracy of the data reported. These include: 

 Data is derived from a large number of different systems and processes.  Only some of 
these are subject to external assurance, or included in internal audit’s programme of 
work each year. 

 Data is collected by a large number of teams across the Trust alongside their main 
responsibilities, which may lead to differences in how policies are applied or interpreted. 
In many cases, data reported reflects clinical judgement about individual cases, where 
another clinician might have reasonably classified a case differently. 

 National data definitions do not necessarily cover all circumstances, and local 
interpretations may differ. 

 Data collection practices and data definitions are evolving, which may lead to differences 
over time, both within and between years. The volume of data means that, where 
changes are made, it is usually not practical to reanalyse historic data. 

We have sought to take all reasonable steps and exercised appropriate due diligence to ensure 
the accuracy of the data reported, but we recognise that it is nonetheless subject to the inherent 
limitations noted above. We are working to improve data quality across the organisation, as 
described on page 30. Following these steps, to the board’s knowledge, the quality account is a 
true and fair reflection of the Trust’s performance. 
 
We have tried to make this document as straightforward and reader-friendly as possible. A 
glossary of terms used throughout the document can be found on page 77.  
 
If you have any questions, would like to provide feedback on this report, or to be involved in 
producing it next year, please email quality@imperial.nhs.uk.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32

mailto:quality@imperial.nhs.uk


Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 5 

Statement of directors’ 
responsibilities in respect of the 
Quality Account 
 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 to prepare quality accounts for each 
financial year. The Department of Health has issued guidance on the form and content of annual 
quality accounts, which incorporates the legal requirements in the Health Act 2009, the National 
Health Service (quality accounts) Regulations 2010 and the National Health Service (quality 
accounts) Amendment Regulations 2011.  
 
In preparing the quality account, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 
 
1. the quality account has been prepared in accordance with Department of Health guidance 

and Quality Account Amendment Regulations 2010 (as amended) and presents a balanced 
picture of our performance over the period covered 
 

2. the content of the quality account is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of 
information including: 

 Trust board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to May 2017 

 papers relating to Quality reported to the Trust board over the period April 2016 to May 
2017 

 feedback from Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 feedback from local scrutineers, including Healthwatch and local authority overview and 
scrutiny committees 

 the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Opinion April 2017 

 the national inpatient survey 2016 

 the national staff survey 2016 

 the General Medical Council’s National Training Survey 2016 

 mortality rates provided by external agencies (NHS Digital and Dr Foster). 
 

3. There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of 
performance included in the quality account, and those controls are subject to review to 
confirm they are working effectively in practice 
 

4. The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the quality account is robust 
and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, and is 
subject to appropriate scrutiny and review. 

 
The directors have reviewed the quality account at executive quality committee in May 2017 and 
confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the quality accounts. The quality account was reviewed at our Trust 
board meeting held on 24th May 2017, where the authority of signing the final quality accounts 
document was delegated to the chief executive and chair. 
 
By order of the Trust board  
     
 
Chief Executive     Chairman 

Page 33



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 6 

 
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust provides acute and specialist health care in north west 
London for around a million and a half people every year. Formed in 2007, we are one of the 
largest NHS trusts in the country, with nearly 11,000 staff.  
 
We provide care from five hospitals on four sites as well as a range of community facilities 
across the region.  Our five hospitals are Charing Cross Hospital, Hammersmith Hospital, Queen 
Charlotte’s & Chelsea Hospital, St Mary’s Hospital and Western Eye Hospital.  
 

Our Trust in numbers  
(DN: these will be portrayed as infographics in the designed version) 
 

Our services 
Outpatient contacts Over 1 million 

Inpatient contacts 210,000 

A&E attendees 288,500 

Babies born 10,500 

Operations - day 99,000 

Operations - inpatient 109,000 

 

Our staff  
Number of staff, including: Nearly 11,000 

Doctors 2,500 

Nurses and midwives 4,500 

Allied health professionals 650 

Scientists and technicians 1,000 

Pharmacists 125 

Undergraduate doctors in training 
(Health Education England) 

810 

Nurses in education, pre-reg 500  

 

Our vision and objectives 
Our vision is to be a world leader in transforming health through innovation in patient care, 
education and research.  
 
To enable us to achieve this, our strategic objectives are: 

 to achieve excellent patient experience and outcomes, delivered efficiently and with 

compassion. 

 to educate and engage skilled and diverse people committed to continual learning and 

improvement. 

1 
About our Trust 
This part of the report provides some background to our organisation and 
the people we care for. It describes our governance framework and 
structures, our values and behaviours, vision and objectives and some of 
the key strategies which are driving improvement in all areas across the 
organisation.  

Page 34



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 7 

 as an academic health science centre, to generate world leading research that is 

translated rapidly into exceptional clinical care. 

 to pioneer integrated models of care with our partners to improve the health of the 

communities we serve 

 to realise the organisation’s potential through excellent leadership, efficient use of 

resources and effective governance   

For an assessment of performance against our strategic objectives in 2016/17, please see our 
annual report (DN: link to be added once published). 
 
For 2017/18, we have developed a set of corporate objectives which will be the focus of our 
work over the coming year. They are: 
 

 Improving the way we run our hospitals and services. We will create care pathways 

with processes, ways of working and facilities that consistently achieve the best possible 

outcomes and experiences for our patients and their families, making the most of digital 

and other new technologies. 

 Making our care safer. We will build a culture where all our staff feel safety is key, are 

able to ‘speak up’ and understand their responsibilities, and where patients also feel 

confident to raise safety concerns and believe they will be addressed. 

 Developing more patient centred approaches to care. We will work in partnership 

with our patients and partner organisations to create sustainable service and 

organisational models that help our population stay as healthy as possible and ensure 

access to the most appropriate care when it is needed. 

 Making the Trust a great place to work. We will create a shared sense of belonging 

across our organisation, with staff feeling supported, valued and fulfilled, and a 

compelling ‘offer’ in terms of reward and recognition, wellbeing and development. 

 Building sustainability. We will develop an organisational culture, care models and 

service portfolio that enable us to move from a deficit to a surplus budget, allowing us to 

make greater investment in maintenance, improvement and innovation. 

The objectives reflect our commitment to improve the quality of care, and to ensure that it is 
delivered to our patients by a skilled, motivated and diverse workforce as efficiently as possible.  
 

Our ethos and values  
To help everyone to be as healthy as they can be, we want to look out for the people we serve 
as well as to look after them. 
 
We look after people by providing care, whenever and however we are needed, listening and 
responding to individual needs. We look out for people by being their partner at every stage of 
their life, supporting them to take an active role in their own health and wellbeing. 
 
We are one team, working as part of the wider health and care community. We are committed to 
continuous improvement, sharing our knowledge and learning from others. We draw strength 
from the breadth and depth of our diversity, and build on our rich heritage of discovery. 
 
By doing all this, we ensure our care is not only clinically outstanding but also as kind and 
thoughtful as possible. And we are able to play our full part in helping people live their lives to 
the fullest. Our promise is better health, for life. 

 
Our values are: 

 Kind – we are considerate and thoughtful, so you feel respected and included. 

Page 35



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 8 

 Expert – we draw on our diverse skills, knowledge and experience, so we provide the 

best possible care. 

 Collaborative – we actively seek others’ views and ideas, so we achieve more together. 

 Aspirational – we are receptive and responsive to new thinking, so we never stop 

learning, discovering and improving. 

 

Our Governance framework and structures 
 
Management structure 
A new organisational structure was put in place in July 2016 to devolve more authority to clinical 
staff providing care to patients. 
 
Services are now organised into one of 24 clinical directorates, each with its own ‘triumvirate’ of 
lead doctor, lead nurse and lead manager, with dedicated support from finance, human 
resources and information and communications technology.  
 

The clinical directorates are organised into three clinical divisions, each led by a practising 
clinician, they are: 

 medicine and integrated care;  

 surgery, cardiovascular and cancer; 

 women’s, children’s and clinical support. 

The three divisional directors are now part of the executive management team and report 
directly to the chief executive. 
 
The new structure also reduced the number of layers of management, to no more than five 
between the chief executive and frontline staff, to speed up decision-making and help the quick 
escalation of issues. 
 

Imperial Private Healthcare is our private care division, offering a range of services across all of 
our sites. Income from our private care is invested back into supporting our NHS services. 
 
The clinical divisions are supported by six corporate divisions: 

 office of the medical director (including quality, education and research); 

 nursing director's office (including patient experience, estates and quality compliance); 

 finance; 

 people and organisational development; 

 information and communications technology; 

 communications. 

Governance Framework 
We regularly review information and feedback about our services and activities at all levels 
across the organisation. This helps us ensure we are on track to meet our targets and objectives 
and to deliver our strategic plans, as well as to help us spot and address problems as soon as 
they arise. 
 
We also contribute to a range of national monitoring programmes, which allows our performance 
to be benchmarked against that of similar NHS trusts. 
 
Every month, our executive management team reviews a comprehensive set of performance 
indicators – our ‘scorecard’. 
 

Page 36



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 9 

A scorecard with a core set of indicators is also reviewed by the Trust board at its public 
meeting. For each indicator, we look at how we are performing against national standards and/or 
our own targets that flow from our various strategies. 
 
On our website, we publish an easy-to-understand monthly performance summary taken from 
the scorecard as well as the full scorecard that goes to each public board meeting. 
 
There are five board committees overseeing specific aspects of our work: 

 quality 

 finance and investment 

 audit, risk and governance 

 remuneration and appointments 

 redevelopment  
 

Below the board committees is the executive committee which meets on a weekly basis.  

 
We also triangulate key quality measures, including Friends and Family test results, complaints, 
infection rates and patient safety incidents, at ward level through monthly ‘harm free care 
reports’ which allow wards to review their key data in one place and develop coordinated plans 
for improvement.  
 

Our key strategies 
 
Quality strategy 
Our Quality Strategy 2015-20181 sets out our definition of quality under the domains of safe, 
caring, effective, responsive and well-led, and describes our vision and direction, ensuring 
quality is our number-one priority. Our annual quality account reports on progress with delivery 
of the strategy and confirms the priorities for the following year. 
 
Our quality strategy will come to an end in March 2018. From summer 2017 we will start the 
consultation process to develop our new quality strategy, which will build on the progress we 
have made over the last three years.   
 
Patient and public involvement strategy 
Last year, we developed a strategic approach to increasing and improving patient and public 
involvement in the delivery and development of care and services across our organisation. This 
is led by our director of communications.  
 
At the heart of the strategy2 is the commitment to ensure patients and the public are able to help 
shape and input to every aspect of the Trust’s work. During the year, significant progress was 
made on establishing new ways for patients and the public to get involved. This includes: 

 establishing a strategic lay forum – made up of patients, carers and local residents 

 recruiting, training and supporting an additional 22 lay partners to oversee Trust 

programmes and service developments as equal members of the team 

 creating a patient communications group to help ensure our materials are clear and 

effective. 

People & organisational development (P&OD) strategy 
Published in 2016, this strategy is designed to support the changing needs of the organisation, 
developing skills and capabilities amongst our staff. It encompasses plans to enhance patient 
and staff experience by focusing on attraction, onboarding, retention, development and 

                                                
1
 https://www.imperial.nhs.uk/about-us/our-strategy/quality-strategy 

2
 https://www.imperial.nhs.uk/get-involved/join-an-involvement-programme/about-our-involvement-strategy 

Page 37

https://www.imperial.nhs.uk/about-us/our-strategy/quality-strategy
https://www.imperial.nhs.uk/get-involved/join-an-involvement-programme/about-our-involvement-strategy


Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 10 

continuously improving engagement of the workforce. The executive lead is our director of 
people and organisational development.  
 
Clinical Strategy  
Led by our medical director, our clinical strategy3 sets out how we will develop, organise and 
connect our services and specialties to meet changing health needs. We are working to: 

 Offer routine services locally where possible; 

 Centralise specialist services where it will improve clinical outcomes and safety; 

 Join up services more effectively, linking with other health and social care providers; 

 Personalise care and treatment around individual needs and preferences. 

In 2017 we will be refreshing our clinical strategy with a view to publishing it in 2018.  
 
Estates strategy and redevelopment programme 
We have one of the largest backlog maintenance liabilities of all trusts, mostly due to the age of 
our estate.  We therefore have some instances where equipment is now obsolete and this 
means that on occasion parts have to be specifically manufactured to support this obsolete 
equipment – this can lead to prolonged downtime, adversely affecting patient experience, 
service provision, and, at times, create a risk to patient safety.   
 
Our Estates Strategy4 for 2016 to 2026 provides an integrated approach to the estate and 
supports our ambition to consolidate our place as the secondary care provider of choice within 
north west London. It is aligned to the strategies and needs of the wider community identified 
through the Sustainability and Transformation Plan. The aim of the strategy is to ensure that the 
Trust provides safe, secure, high-quality healthcare buildings capable of supporting current and 
future service needs. 
 
Whilst the strategy is being progressed, the Trust Board has agreed increased funding to 
support a number of major projects, service developments and medical equipment replacement. 
For further information, please see our annual report (DN: link to be added once published). 
 
Digital strategy 
Our digital strategy is led by our chief information officer and spans five years from 2015 to 
2020. The strategy is supported by our business intelligence unit, who provide data and 
analytics support to our teams. The strategy is driving more productive working internally and 
across the local health system, moving from paper records towards digital data capture and 
processing. This is progressing with the roll out of our electronic patient administration system, 
Cerner and incorporates elements such as the Care Information Exchange, a secure platform to 
give individuals access to information about their care held by different health and social care 
providers. In partnership with Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust we were 
selected by NHS England to become one of 16 global digital exemplars in acute care. We aim to 
become an internationally recognised NHS care provider delivering exceptional care with the 
support of digital technology and will receive funding and support to drive this forward and create 
products and approaches that can be used by other organisations. 
 
In addition to the above, we are currently developing a communications and engagement 
strategy for the organisation, which is being led by the director of communications. This will 
encompass elements such as the upgrade of our Trust intranet system.  
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
3
 https://www.imperial.nhs.uk/about-us/our-strategy/clinical-strategy 

4
 https://www.imperial.nhs.uk/about-us/our-strategy/estate-strategy 

Page 38

https://www.imperial.nhs.uk/about-us/our-strategy/clinical-strategy
https://www.imperial.nhs.uk/about-us/our-strategy/estate-strategy


Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 11 

Our quality improvement plan  
 
This section of the report describes our approach to quality improvement, 
and how we monitor our performance throughout the year to ensure we are 
continuously improving our services. It also sets out the targets and 
workstreams we have chosen to prioritise in 2017/18. 
 
Our approach to quality improvement 

Our quality strategy was developed following an extensive consultation with internal and external 
stakeholders to ensure it met national, local and trust priorities. The strategy will support the 
North West London Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), by ensuring we provide safe, 
high quality, sustainable acute services, while working with our partners to deliver better care. 
STPs have been developed by the NHS and local councils together covering all of England to 
make improvements to health and care. Our STP was developed by 28 NHS, local authority and 
voluntary sector partners, including our Trust. You can read more about it by following this link5. 
 
Recognising that delivering the improvements outlined in our quality strategy required a culture 
shift across the organisation, in autumn 2015 we launched our new quality improvement (QI) 
programme.  
 
Now into its second year of building a culture of continuous improvement across the 
organisation, the programme: 

 engages with staff to ensure everyone knows about QI and feels empowered to see 

improving patient care as a key part of their role 

 builds improvement capability through a programme of QI education to enable staff to 

lead, champion and coach improvement work within their teams 

 supports teams to deliver focused QI projects and programmes aligned to our strategies 

 embeds rigorous improvement methods in our organisational approach to change.  

In 2016/17, the QI team engaged directly with just under 3,000 staff, initiating a broad ranging 
education and coaching programme for 416.  
 
To date, the QI team is actively supporting 17 strategic trust-wide initiatives as well as 45 
service-led QI projects. Over 112 pieces of internal consultancy work have been completed.  
 
You can read more about our QI programme in the  annual report of the Quality Improvement 
team.(DN: link to be added once published). 

 
Monitoring quality  
The governance arrangements for clinical quality in our Trust are led by the Medical Director 
who has executive responsibility, and are summarised below. Progress with our quality priorities 
is reported through this framework, to enable monitoring from ward to board.  

                                                
5
 https://www.healthiernorthwestlondon.nhs.uk/news/2016/11/08/nw-london-october-stp-submission-

published 

Page 39

https://www.healthiernorthwestlondon.nhs.uk/news/2016/11/08/nw-london-october-stp-submission-published


Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 12 

 

 
 
In addition, we work closely with our commissioners throughout the year to monitor our 
performance with the quality strategy, and develop the annual quality account, acute quality 
schedule and priorities through the monthly clinical quality group. This ensures that our quality 
agenda aligns with local and national priorities. We also develop and review progress with our 
quality account throughout the year through the quality steering group; this group incorporates 
members of local councils, Healthwatch, patient representatives as well as our commissioners. 
 

Our priorities for 2017/18 
Our quality strategy is delivered through the achievement of our quality goals, which are: 

 Safe: To eliminate avoidable harm to patients in our care as showing a reduction in the 

number of incidents causing severe/major harm and extreme harm/death. 

 Effective: To ensure improvement plans are in place for all national clinical audits.  

 Caring: To provide our patients with the best possible experience by increasing the 

percentage of inpatients and A&E patients who would recommend our Trust to friends 

and family if they needed similar care or treatment to 94 per cent 

 Responsive: To consistently meet all national access standards  

 Well Led: To increase the percentage of our people who would recommend this Trust to 

friends and family as a place to work or a place for treatment on a year-by-year basis. 

The original goals were developed in consultation with members of the public, our patients, 

shadow foundation trust members, Healthwatch, local authority overview and scrutiny 

committees, commissioners and Trust staff, through a series of development workshops held 

during quarter four 2014/15. 

 

We have changed the effective goal for 2017/18 due to variations in reporting of national audits 

and therefore difficulties in reporting performance. The goal will now be to ensure that we have 

improvement plans in place for every audit which reports in year.  

 
The goals are supported by specific annual targets which are monitored and improvements 
driven throughout the year via the governance structure described above. The targets are 
focused on sustaining achievements that we have made throughout 2016/17 and on continuing 
to drive improvements where performance is not as good as we would wish.  Each target has a 

Trust board

Quality committee

Executive Quality 
Committee

Trust Quality & Safety 
Sub-group

Medicine & integrated care  
Quality & safety committee

Surgery, Cancer & 
Cardiovascular - Quality & 

safety committee

Women’s, Children’s & 
Clinical Support - Quality & 

Safety committee

Imperial Private Healthcare 
- Quality & safety 

committee

Directorate quality meetings Directorate quality meetings Directorate quality meetings

Quality Steering 
Group

Clinical Quality Group

Page 40



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 13 

number of actions planned to ensure they can be met. Some of our targets do not currently have 
a defined measure; where this is the case, we will develop a trajectory for improvement and 
define the performance standard during the coming year.  
 
This year, we have also developed ‘driver diagrams’ for each of our five quality domains to help 
provide clarity and direction for our improvement work going forward, and identify any gaps.  
 
We use driver diagrams throughout the organisation as part of our quality improvement 
methodology to help teams in scoping out and planning their improvement activities and 
interventions. We start by developing a clear and measurable aim. The primary drivers outline a 
set of factors or improvement areas that we believe are collectively sufficient to achieve the aim 
and the desired outcome. The secondary drivers each contribute to at least one driver and lay 
out specific areas where we plan changes or interventions.   
 
The driver diagrams for each domain can be found in appendix A.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 14 

Quality Domain 1: Safe 
CQC Definition: People are protected from abuse and avoidable harm 

 

Trust Goal: To eliminate avoidable harm to patients in our care as shown through a reduction 

in the number of incidents causing severe/major harm and extreme harm/death. We believe 
harm is preventable, not inevitable. 
 
In 2017/18 we will be focusing on achieving sustainable improvements in the target areas 
outlined below. 

Target Changes made to this target 
for 2017/18?  

We will maintain our incident reporting numbers and be 
within the top quartile of trusts  

Target changed from increase to 
maintain 

We will have zero never events 
 

No changes have been made to 
this target for 17/18 

We will promote safer surgery by ensuring 100% 
compliance with all elements of the WHO checklist 

No changes have been made to 
this target for 17/18 

We will have no serious incidents where failure to 
complete the WHO checklist properly is a factor 

No changes have been made to 
this target for 17/18 

We will have a general vacancy rate of 10% or less No changes have been made to 
this target for 17/18 

We will have a vacancy rate for all nursing and midwifery 
staff of 12% or less 

Target changed from band 2-6 
ward staff to cover all nursing 
and midwifery staff and target 
increased from 10% to 12%  

We will maintain the percentage of shifts meeting planned 
safe staffing levels at 90% for registered nurses and 85% 
for care staff 

No changes have been made to 
this target for 17/18 

We will ensure we have no avoidable MRSA BSIs and 
cases of Clostridium difficile attributed to lapse in care 

No changes have been made to 
this target for 17/18 

We will maintain 90% for anti-infectives prescribed in line 
with our antibiotic policy or approved by specialists from 
within our infection teams 

No changes have been made to 
this target for 17/18 

We will reduce avoidable category 3 and 4 trust-acquired 
pressure ulcers by at least 10% 

No changes have been made to 
this target for 17/18 

We will assess at least 95% of all patients for risk of VTE, 
complete root cause analysis (RCAs) for all potentially 
avoidable trust acquired cases within the agreed 
timeframe and prevent avoidable death as a consequence 

Target changed - added in 
‘complete RCAs for all 
potentially avoidable trust 
acquired cases within the 
agreed timeframe’ 

We will ensure that we comply with duty of candour and 
being open requirements for every incident graded 
moderate and above 

New target 

 
We are maintaining the majority of Safe targets for 2017/18. We have removed a target to 
reduce non-clinical transfers out of hours as it was achieved in 2016/17. We will continue to 
monitor this through our regular incident management processes.  
 
We have added in a new target to support us to improve how we deliver the duty of candour 
requirements (see glossary on page 77 for definition).  
 

 

Page 42



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 15 

Priority improvement worksteams 
The newly developed driver diagram for Safe can be found in appendix A.  From this, we have 
developed the safety culture programme described below as the key priority improvement 
workstream for this domain.  
 
Safety Culture Programme 

Safety culture is about the attitudes, values and behaviours that staff share towards safety in 
the organisation, often described as ‘the way we do things around here to keep patients and 
staff safe’.  Our safety culture programme is led by the Medical Director with a steering group, 
which includes patient representatives, in place to drive it forward.  The programme is 
designed to ensure safety, for patients and staff, is the priority of everyone in the Trust. It will 
also support the Trust to develop and embed a culture in which all staff can describe their 
contribution to patient safety, are supported to learn from mistakes and are confident in 
speaking up if they have concerns.   
 
The programme has a detailed project plan which has been informed by an analysis of 
incidents, intelligence gathered through listening to our staff at a number of events and 
pioneering the use of a staff safety attitudes questionnaire, combined with research and 
experience from organisations at national and international level. This programme currently 
consists of a number of pieces of work including: 

 ‘Safety streams’ - Nine safety improvement priority areas identified through a review of 
our most frequently reported incidents, never events, and safety commitments made in 
previous quality accounts and the national Sign Up To Safety campaign (see glossary 
for definition). These are all underway:  

 safe mobility and prevention of falls with harm: supporting patients as they move 
around and preventing falls that cause harm 

 reducing harm from pressure ulcers: ensuring patients have the right care in 
place to prevent possible skin damage  

 recognising and responding to the very sick patient: spotting quickly when a 
patient becomes more unwell and ensuring the correct action is taken  

 safer medicines: improving safety in medicines administration and storage 
 optimising hand hygiene: preventing the spread of infection by ensuring we 

follow hand hygiene best practice 
 acting on abnormal results: ensuring that findings from tests and investigations 

are responded to appropriately 
 safer surgery: making sure best practices are applied before, during and after 

any invasive procedure  
 foetal monitoring: effectively monitoring babies’ heart beats to identify and act 

early where there may be concerns 
 positive patient confirmation:   ensuring we have the correct information to 

identify patients and that we use this to match the correct patient with the right 
care. 

 A project to improve how we record, manage and learn from incidents and near misses. 
 A project to improve how we investigate and learn from serious incidents and better 

involve patients in the process, including a refresh of key policies.  

 A project to improve how we implement the duty of candour (see glossary on page 77 for 
definition). 

 A review of current education and training related to safety available to staff. 

 A review of the ways in which we can best communicate patient safety messages to 
staff.  

 Promotion of a ‘just culture’ in which errors are discussed openly and managed in a fair 
way, with an emphasis on learning to better design systems that promote safe 
behaviours.  

Page 43



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 16 

Quality domain 2: Effective 
 

CQC Definition: People’s care, treatment and support achieves good outcomes, promotes a 

good quality of life and is based on the best available evidence. 
 

Trust Goal: To ensure improvement plans are in place for all national clinical audits.  

 

This goal will enable us to have evidence that each of our services is effective and promotes the 

best outcomes for our patients.  

 

Further assurance of this will be provided in 2017/18 by the following targets.  

 

Target Changes made for 
2017/18  

We will improve our mortality rates as measured by SHMI 
(summary hospital-level mortality indicator) to remain in the top 
five lowest-risk acute trusts 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 
17/18 

We will improve our mortality rates as measured by HSMR 
(hospital standardised mortality ratio) to remain in the top five 
lowest-risk acute trusts 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 
17/18 

We will ensure that palliative care is accurately coded No changes have been 
made to this target for 
17/18 

We will ensure mortality reviews are carried out in all cases 
and report specified information on deaths in line with national 
requirements, including those that are assessed as more likely 
than not to be due to problems in care, and ensure learning 
and action as a consequence.   

Target changed – 
amended in light of 
national guidance issued 
by NHS Improvement 

We will increase PROMs participation rates to 80% with 
reported health gain above the national average 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 
17/18 

We will review all out-of-ICU/ED and coronary care unit 
cardiac arrests for harm and deliver improvements as a result 

Target changed – we 
have excluded out of 
coronary care unit 
cardiac arrests 

We will ensure that 90% of clinical trials recruit their first 
patient within 70 days. 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 
17/18 

 

We have removed one target from 2016/17, relating to the Dr Foster Global Comparators 
dataset.  This is because it has not been possible to report this data since 2013 owing to 
changes in the way it is collected.  
 

Page 44



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 17 

Priority improvement workstreams  
The newly developed driver diagram for Effective can be found in appendix A. From this, we have 
identified the following priority improvement workstreams to ensure our services are in line with 
national and international best practice and by promoting excellent outcomes for our patients.  
 
Mortality Review Programme 
Since February 2016, every death which occurs in our hospitals is reviewed through our online 
mortality review system. Recent guidance issued by NHS Improvement requires all Trusts to report 
information on deaths, including those that are assessed as more likely than not to be due to 
problems in care. This programme will support implementation of the new national requirements 
ensure any learning from mortality reviews is shared and spread throughout the Trust.  
 
Clinical Audit Programme  
This is an annual comprehensive process of practice review which delivers a defined programme of 
priority audits to support our improvement priorities.  It also ensures that we are participating in 
national clinical audits and that any recommendations and areas for improvement are acted upon. 
This programme is managed through the newly established Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Group.  
 
Clinical Guidelines Programme  
Overseeing the regular review of clinical guideline documents (recommendations of how healthcare 
professionals should care for people with specific conditions) to ensure they are fit for purpose and 
comply with current best practice. Our aim is to have no clinical guidelines that are out of date at 
any given time and to audit compliance. 
 
Quality Surveillance Programme  
A national programme of annual self-assessment and targeted peer review for all cancer and 
specialised commissioned services. Participation in this programme will support shared learning 
and provide assurance that improvements are being implemented.  
 
West London Genomic Medicine Centre  
We are the lead for the West London Genomic Medicine Centre, one of 13 NHS centres delivering 
the 100,000 Genomes Project nationally. The project aims to create a new genomic medicine 
service for the NHS, transforming the way people are cared for. It focuses on two main groups - 
patients with a rare disease and their families and patients living with common cancers. 
 
These areas have been selected because eligible rare diseases and cancer are strongly linked to 
changes in the genome. By understanding these changes, there is potential to better understand 
how the disease develops and which treatments will be most effective. Patients may be offered a 
diagnosis where there wasn’t one before. In time, there is the potential of new and more effective 
treatments. 
 
Throughout the next year, we will be working to increase the number of patients and staff involved 
in the project.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 45



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 18 

Quality domain 3: Caring 
 

CQC Definition: Staff involve and treat people with compassion, kindness, dignity and respect. 

 

Trust Goal: To provide our patients with the best possible experience by increasing the 

percentage of inpatients and A&E patients who would recommend our Trust to friends and family if 
they needed similar care or treatment to 94%. 
 
We know that treating our patients with compassion, kindness, dignity and respect has a positive 
effect on recovery and clinical outcomes. To improve their experience in our hospitals, we need to 
listen to our patients, their families and carers, and respond to their feedback.  
 
The indicators outlined below will help deliver this goal and to determine whether our services are 
caring and patient centred in all aspects. Each of these has a number of defined actions to support 
delivery. 
 

Target Changes made for 
2017/18  

We will increase the percentage of outpatients who would 
recommend our trust to friends and family to 94% and 
achieve and maintain a FFT response rate of 6% in 
outpatient areas 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 17/18 

We will maintain the percentage of inpatients who would 
recommend our Trust to friends and family at 94% or higher 
and achieve and maintain a FFT response rate of 30% in 
inpatient departments 

Target has been changed to 
say maintain rather than 
increase to reflect current 
performance  

We will maintain the percentage of A&E patients who would 
recommend our Trust to friends and family at 94% or higher 
and achieve and maintain a FFT response rate of 20% in 
A&E  

Target has been changed to 
say maintain rather than 
increase to reflect current 
performance 

We will improve our national cancer survey scores year-on-
year 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 17/18 

We will improve our score in the national inpatient survey 
relating to responsiveness to patients’ needs 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 17/18 

We will maintain our responsiveness to complaints by 
responding to at least 95% within the timeframe agreed by 
the patient 

Target changed - this has 
been amended to say 
maintain rather than 
increase 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 19 

Priority improvement workstreams  
The newly developed driver diagram for Caring can be found in appendix A. From this, we have 
identified the following priority improvement workstreams to improve patient experience and help 
ensure staff demonstrate kindness and compassion at all times. 
 
Accessible information standard  
We will continue to implement the accessible information standard within the organisation, 
working to make sure that people who have a disability, impairment or sensory loss are provided 
with information that they can easily read or understand and that they are given support so they 
can communicate effectively with our staff.  
 
Schwartz rounds 
These staff only meetings provide an opportunity for staff from all disciplines across the 
organisation to reflect on the emotional aspects of their work. Research shows the positive 
impact that they have on individuals, teams, patient outcomes and organisational culture. We will 
continue to run these on a monthly basis in 2017/18.  
 
Nursing and midwifery postgraduate education programme  
This work focuses on developing and supporting our nurses and midwives through a series of 
education programmes, including: 

 Preceptorship programme to support student nurses to make the jump to confident and 

qualified practitioner;  

 Specialty courses to allow our staff to continue to learn, develop and deliver high quality 

care to our patients; 

 Revalidation to support registered nursing staff to reflect upon and develop their practice. 

Wayfinding strategy 

Patients often report having issues with finding their way around our sites and services. This 
project is working to make navigation easier for patients and staff. This includes improvements 
to signage and physical and digital wayfinding systems, and clearer information for patients.   

 
Experience labs 
This is a one year learning and development programme that will provide training and support to 
improve patient and staff experience in our outpatient departments. Staff will be trained to gather 
patients’ feedback, generate and test solutions to achieve measurable improvements in 
outpatient experience and reduce hospital initiated cancellations. The programme started in April 
2017 with 10 multi-disciplinary teams taking part. 
 
Improving how we use patient experience data  
We routinely collect a large amount of patient feedback data through our well-developed 
collection systems, but need to improve ways of understanding what this is telling us and how 
we can better use what our patients are telling us to improve. In 2017/18 we will focus on 
regularly sharing patient feedback data, including complaints and compliments, with the clinical 
services and triangulating it with other sources of information to ensure we are using it more 
effectively to improve the quality of patient care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 20 

Quality domain 4: Responsive 
CQC Definition: Services are organised so that they meet people’s needs 

 

Trust Goal: To consistently meet all national access standards by the end of year three of the 

quality strategy.  
 
As well as aiming to achieve the national access standards, we will focus on the following 
targets to improve our responsiveness as a Trust. Each of these has a number of defined 
actions to support delivery. 
 

Target Changes made to this 
target for 2017/18? 

We will reduce the unplanned readmission rates for patients 
aged 0-15 and be below the national average 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 
17/18 

We will reduce the unplanned readmission rates for patients 
aged 16 or over and be below the national average  

No changes have been 
made to this target for 
17/18 

We will have no inpatients waiting over 52 weeks for elective 
surgery, and reduce the number of patients waiting over 40 
weeks and implement our agreed clinical validation process 

Target changed from  
‘ensure a clinical validation 
process is in place for each 
patient who waits over 18 
weeks’ to ‘implement our 
agreed clinical validation 
process’ 

We will reduce the proportion of outpatient appointments 
cancelled by the trust with less than 6 weeks’ notice to 7.5% 
or lower 

Target changed from 8.5% 
to 7.5% 

We will ensure 95% of outpatient appointments are made 
within 5 working days of receipt of referral 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 
17/18 

We will reduce the proportion of patients who do not attend 
outpatient appointments to 10% 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 
17/18 

We will improve our PLACE scores year-on-year; aiming to 
maintain our score above national average for cleanliness; 
meet the national average for food; be above the bottom 20% 
for condition, appearance and maintenance and for privacy 
and dignity; and improve our scores compared to last year for 
dementia and disability 

Target changed to specify 
degree of improvement for 
each element of PLACE 

We will discharge at least 35% of our patients on relevant 
pathways before noon 

No changes have been 
made to this target for 
17/18 

We will ensure 98% of admissions to an intensive care bed 
occur within 2 hours of the decision to admit/completion of 
surgery 

New target 

 
We have removed the target related to outpatients waiting no more than 45 minutes past their 
allotted appointment time as we have been unable to report data against it throughout 2016/17.  
 
We have added a new target to reduce delayed admissions to intensive care beds, which will 
support improved care for ITU patients and reduce the possibility of harm caused by delays.   

Page 48



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 21 

Priority improvement workstreams 
The newly developed driver diagram for Responsive can be found in appendix A. From this, we 
have identified the following priority improvement workstreams to drive efficiency in pathways 
which meet the needs of the individual patient. 
 
Specialty review programme (SPR) 
In early 2017/18 we launched a programme to develop local clinical strategies for each clinical 
speciality, which will in turn feed in to the Trust clinical strategy. The programme started in April, 
with each specialty participating in an event led by the Medical Director. 
 
Telemedicine 
This project is looking at opportunities across the organisation to connect people who use our 
services with healthcare practitioners using technology such as video consultation to speed up 
decision-making and treatment and improve patient experience.  
 
Outpatient improvement programme 
We will continue our work to improve our outpatient departments and develop new innovations and 
improvements in response to the findings of the CQC inspection in November once the report is 
published in May 2017.  
 
Patient flow programme 
We are participating in an innovative coaching programme, run by Sheffield Microsystem Coaching 
Academy, which aims to improve how patients flow through a specific care pathway (see glossary 
on page 77 for definitions) with positive impacts on patient experience, safety and efficiency. Three 
pathways are currently participating in this programme: diabetic foot, sepsis, and acute wheeze 
and asthma in children and young people. Through weekly ‘big room’ meetings, staff and 
stakeholders from all specialties and professions which impact on the care provided in each 
pathway will work together alongside patients and members of the community to develop, 
implement and monitor small tests of change. These changes will ultimately deliver improvements 
to care – making it safer, more effective, more efficient and providing a better experience for both 
patients and staff. We plan to run our own flow coaching programme in 2018/19, which will involve 
twelve new clinical pathways.  
 
Waiting list improvement programme 
We will continue the work of our waiting list improvement programme which is making good 
progress in cleaning up our waiting list data and ensuring delays in treatment are minimised. We 
have developed a clinical review process to ensure that patients are not coming to harm due to 
long waits, which we will embed and further refine in the coming year.  
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 49

http://www.sheffieldmca.org.uk/
http://www.sheffieldmca.org.uk/


Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 22 

Quality domain 5: Well led  
 

CQC Definition: The leadership, management and governance of the organisation assures the 

delivery of high quality person-centred care, supports learning and innovation, and promotes an 
open and fair culture. 

Trust Goal: To increase the percentage of our staff who would recommend this Trust to friends 

and family as a place to work or a place for treatment on a year-by-year basis. 

Evidence shows that staff who are engaged and happy in their jobs, respected and given 
opportunities to learn provide better care for their patients. This will be delivered by the targets 
outlined below. Each of these has a number of defined actions to support delivery. 
 

Target Changes made to this target 
for 2017/18? 

We will achieve a voluntary turnover rate of 10% 
 

No changes have been made 
to this target for 17/18 

We will maintain our sickness absence rate at below 3.10% 
 

Target changed - We have 
achieved this target, so have 
changed the narrative to say 
‘maintain’ rather than ‘achieve’ 

We will have a departmental safety coordinator in 60% of 
clinical wards, clinical departments and corporate 
departments (TBC) 

Target being confirmed 

We will ensure at least 10% of our staff are trained as fire 
wardens (TBC) 

Target being confirmed 

We will achieve a performance development review rate of 
95% 

No changes have been made 
to this target for 17/18 

We will achieve a non-training grade doctor appraisal rate of 
95% 

No changes have been made 
to this target for 17/18 

We will achieve compliance of 90% with core skills training No changes have been made 
to this target for 17/18 

We will further develop our ward accreditation programme to 
ensure it links with other quality initiatives and has quality 
improvement at its heart 

Target re-phrased  

We will reduce the number of programmes with red flags in 
the GMC’s national trainee survey by 5% 

No changes have been made 
to this target for 17/18 

We will increase the overall number of green flags in the 
GMC’s national trainee survey by 5% 

Target changed – added an 
increase of 5% 

We will obtain a minimum score of 0.5 for placement 
satisfaction for all student placements as measured by SOLE 

No changes have been made 
to this target for 17/18 

We will ensure we respond to all exception reports from 
junior doctors within 14 days of an application being made 
and that we deliver improvements as a result 

New target 

 
We have included a new target, which is to respond to exception reports within 14 days and ensure 
improvements are delivered as a result.  Exception reports were introduced in 2016 with the new 
junior doctor contract to enable trainees to quickly and easily flag up if their actual work has varied 
from their agreed work schedule and to allow the Trust to take action as a result.  
 
Targets for departmental safety co-ordinators and fire wardens, which are included to drive 
improvements in health and safety, are awaiting final confirmation.

Page 50

https://www.bma.org.uk/advice/employment/contracts/junior-doctor-contract-2016/work-scheduling


Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 23 

 
Priority Improvement workstreams 
The newly developed driver diagram for Well-led can be found in appendix A. From this, we 
have identified the following priority improvement workstreams to empower staff to make 
changes, encourage their development and improve engagement: 
 
Leadership development programme 
Building on our existing award winning schemes, we are further developing training programmes 
which focus on specific needs identified by our staff, including management skills, financial 
management, digital learning, data and analytics. We will also be looking at piloting 
management and leadership apprenticeship programmes.  
 
Retention strategy 
We have developed a recruitment and retention plan for bands 2-6 nursing and midwifery staff 
which will fully launch in 2017. This features a development programme, careers clinics which 
will run in summer 2017, automatic recruitment offers for student nurses working in the Trust, 
and a workshop for managers on how to engage and retain their staff. We are also one of eleven 
pilot sites training new band 4 associate nurses; a new role that will sit alongside existing 
nursing care support workers and fully-qualified registered nurses to deliver hands-on care for 
patients. We have recruited 13 staff members to this programme which started in April 2017.  
 
Occupational Health Service review 
Our Occupational Health team ensures the health and safety of patients, staff and contractors 
and other users of our services. We are currently reviewing the service to ensure it is set up in 
the most appropriate way to deliver an effective and high quality service for our staff.  
 
Engagement programme 
We will continue to develop the way we monitor and measure staff engagement and ensure the 
development of plans to improve based on what our staff tell us. The initial focus will be on 
driving improvements in the areas where we did not perform as well as we would wish in our 
staff engagement surveys in 2016/17, particularly around developing management skills in 
addressing poor performance, reducing staff experience of violence, bullying and harassment 
and ensuring equality opportunities for career progression.  

 
Ward Accreditation Programme 
Ward accreditation programmes (WAP) are designed to support ward, unit and department 
managers to understand how they deliver care, identify what works well and where further 
improvements are needed. We plan to run our ward accreditation programme for the third time in 
2017/18, and will be implementing a number of changes to improve the process, such as live on-
line dashboards of the results to facilitate immediate improvements and changes to the review 
team structure to ensure consistency and fairness.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 24 

A review of our services 

In 2016/17, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust provided and/or sub-contracted 86 NHS 
services.  

 
We have reviewed all the data available to us on the quality of care in all of these NHS services 
through our performance management framework and assurance processes. 

 
The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2016/17 represents 100 per cent of the 
total income generated from the provision of NHS services by the Trust for 2016/17. 

Participation in clinical audits and national confidential enquiries  

Clinical audit drives improvement through a cycle of service review against recognised 
standards, implementing change as required. We use audit to benchmark our care against local 
and national guidelines so we can put resource into any areas requiring improvement; part of our 
commitment to ensure best treatment and care for our patients. 
 
National confidential enquiries investigate an area of healthcare and recommend ways to 
improve it. 
 
The table below shows all national clinical audits and confidential enquiries which were 
mandated during 2016/17. Of these, two were not collecting data during 2016/17, and we were 
not eligible to participate in seven. Therefore, during 2016/17, the NHS services that we provide 
were covered by 49 national clinical audits and 13 national confidential enquiries.  
 
During that period we took part in 98 per cent of national clinical audits (48 out of 49) and 100 
per cent of national confidential enquiries (13 out of 13) in which we were eligible to participate. 
 

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that we participated in during 
2016/17 are included in the table below alongside the number of cases submitted to each 
audit or enquiry as a percentage where this is available. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Statements of assurance 
from the Trust board 
In this section of the quality account, we are required to present mandatory 
statements about the quality of services that we provide, relating to financial 
year 2016/17. This information is common to all quality accounts and can be 
used to compare our performance with that of other organisations. The 
statements are designed to provide assurance that the board has reviewed 
and engaged in cross-cutting initiatives which link strongly to quality 
improvement. 

 

Page 52



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 25 

Title Eligible Participated Per cent Submitted 

 

NATIONAL CLINICAL AUDITS 

Acute Coronary Syndrome or Acute 
Myocardial Infarction (MINAP) 

✓ ✓ 100% 

Adult Asthma ✓ ✓ 100% 

Adult Cardiac Surgery ✓ ✓ 100% 

BAUS Urology Audits - 
Female Stress Urinary Incontinence Audit 

✓ ✓ 100%  
(N.B. the number of 
procedures performed was not 
sufficient to be published) 

BAUS Urology Audits - 
Radical Prostatectomy Audit 

✓ ✓ 75.5% 
 

BAUS Urology Audits - Nephrectomy 
audit 

✓ ✓ 75.3% 
 

BAUS Urology Audits - Percutaneous 
Nephrolithotomy (PCNL) 

✓ ✓ 100% 
 

Bowel Cancer (NBOCAP) ✓ ✓ 100% 

Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) ✓ ✓ Submission rate not available 

Case Mix Programme (CMP) ✓ ✓ 100% 

Chronic Kidney Disease in primary care x N/A Primary care service only 

Congenital Heart Disease  (CHD) x N/A Service decommissioned  

Coronary Angioplasty/National Audit of 
Percutaneous Coronary Interventions 
(PCI) 

✓ ✓ 100% 
 
 

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA) ✓ ✓ 100% 

Elective Surgery (National PROMs 
Programme) 

✓ ✓ On-going data collection 

Endocrine and Thyroid National Audit ✓ ✓ 100% 

Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit programme (FFFAP): 

Fracture Liaison Service Database 
 

x N/A Only for Trusts with a Fracture 
Liaison Service 

Inpatient Falls 
 
 

✓ ✓ 100% 

National Hip Fracture Database ✓ ✓ 83.1% 

Head and Neck Cancer Audit ✓ ✓ On-going data collection 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) 
programme / IBD Registry 

✓ ✓ 100% 

Learning Disability Mortality Review 
Programme (LeDeR) 

✓ ✓ On-going data collection 
 

Major Trauma Audit ✓ ✓ 97.2% 

Mental Health Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme 
 

x N/A For mental health trusts only 

Moderate & Acute Severe Asthma - adult 
and paediatric (care in emergency 
departments) 

✓ ✓ 100% 

National Audit of Dementia ✓ ✓ 100% 

National Audit of Pulmonary 
Hypertension 

✓ ✓ 100% 
 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) ✓ ✓ 100% 

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit programme: 

Pulmonary rehabilitation ✓ ✓ On-going data collection 

Secondary Care ✓ ✓ On-going data collection 

National Clinical Audit for Rheumatoid 
and Early Inflammatory Arthritis 
(NCAREIA) 

✓ N/A Not collecting data in 2016/17 

National Clinical Audit of Specialist 
Rehabilitation for Patients with Complex 
Needs following Major Injury (NCASRI) 

✓ N/A Not collecting data in 2016/17 

National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion programme: 

Page 53



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 26 

Re-audit of the 2016 audit of red cell and 
platelet transfusion in adult haematology 
patients 

✓ ✓ Not yet started 

2017 National Comparative Audit of 
Transfusion Associated Circulatory Overload 
(TACO) 

✓ ✓ On-going data collection 

Audit of Patient Blood Management in 
Scheduled Surgery - Re-audit September 
2016  

x N/A ICHT not eligible (re-audit of 
pilot sites) 

Audit of the use of blood in Lower GI 
bleeding (audit will not be repeated) 

✓ x ICHT did not participate 

National Diabetes Audit – Adults: 

National Diabetes Foot Care Audit ✓ ✓ 99% 

National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDia) - 
reporting data on services in England and 
Wales 

✓ ✓ 100% 

National Pregnancy in Diabetes Audit 
 

✓ ✓ SMH - 100% 
QCCH – submission in 
progress 

National Diabetes Transition ✓ ✓ 100%  

National Core Diabetes Audit ✓ ✓ Not yet started 

National Emergency Laparotomy Audit 
(NELA) 

✓ ✓ SMH = 30% 
CXH = 60% 

National Heart Failure Audit ✓ ✓ 58% 

National Joint Registry (NJR) ✓ ✓ On-going data collection 

National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA) ✓ ✓ 91.1% 

National Neonatal Audit Programme - 
Neonatal Intensive and Special Care 
(NNAP) 

✓ ✓ 100% 

National Ophthalmology Audit ✓ ✓ On-going data collection 

National Prostate Cancer Audit ✓ ✓ 100% 

National Vascular Registry ✓ ✓ 79% 

Neurosurgical National Audit Programme ✓ ✓ Submission rate not yet 
available 

Oesophago-gastric Cancer (NAOGC) ✓ ✓ 100% 

Paediatric Intensive Care (PICANet) ✓ ✓ Submission rate not yet 
available 

Paediatric Pneumonia ✓ ✓ Submission rate not yet 
available 

Prescribing Observatory for Mental 
Health (POMH-UK) 

x N/A For mental health trusts only 

Renal Replacement Therapy (Renal 
Registry) 

✓ ✓ 100% 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit 
programme (SSNAP) 

✓ ✓ 100% 

Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock 
(care in emergency departments) 

✓ ✓ 100% 

UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry x N/A Service not offered  

NATIONAL CONFIDENTIAL ENQUIRIES  

 

Medical and Surgical Clinical Outcome Review Programme (NCEPOD): 

Perioperative diabetes ✓ ✓ Data collection not yet 
commenced  

Cancer in Children, Teens and Young Adults ✓ ✓ On-going data collection 

Heart Failure 
 

✓ ✓ Data collection not yet 
commenced 

Acute Pancreatitis ✓ ✓ 85% 

Non-invasive ventilation ✓ ✓ 75% 

Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review Programme (MBRRACE): 

Confidential enquiry into stillbirths, neonatal 
deaths and serious neonatal morbidity 

✓ ✓ 100%  

Perinatal Mortality Surveillance ✓ ✓ 100%  

Perinatal mortality and morbidity confidential 
enquiries (term intrapartum related neonatal 

✓ ✓ 100%  

Page 54



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 27 

deaths) 

Confidential enquiry into serious maternal 
morbidity 

✓ ✓ 100%  

Maternal mortality surveillance ✓ ✓ 100%  

Maternal morbidity and mortality confidential 
enquiries (cardiac plus cardiac morbidity) 
early pregnancy deaths and pre-eclampsia) 

✓ ✓ 100%  

Child Health Clinical Outcome Review Programme (NCEPOD): 

Chronic Neurodisability ✓ ✓ On-going data collection 

Young People’s Mental Health ✓ ✓ On-going data collection 

 
There were a total of 33 national clinical audit reports issued in the period April 2016 to March 
2017 in which the Trust participated. We reviewed the reports of 32 national clinical audits in 
2016/17. The outstanding report (national comparative audit of blood transfusion) remains under 
review by the service.  
 
We continue to follow up the reports from all relevant national audits to identify how we make 
improvements. Many of these audits demonstrated effective care, with no actions being 
required. The actions we intend to take to improve the quality of healthcare provided  can be 
found in appendix B  
 
The reports of 41 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider (out of 41 local audits 
registered and completed in 2016/17) and the actions we intend to take to improve the quality of 
healthcare provided can be found in appendix C (see appendix C for a selection of the local 
audits and actions/recommendations). 

Participation in clinical research  

The number of patients receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by the Trust in 
2016/17 that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a 
research ethics committee was 21,611. 
 
14,023 patients have been recruited into 438 Portfolio studies in 2016-17. This included 439 
patients within 80 studies sponsored by commercial clinical Research and Development 
organisations. 
 
We are committed to encouraging innovation in everything that we do. Part of this involves 
carrying out pioneering research into novel diagnostic methods and treatments across a broad 
spectrum of specialities and for some of the most complex illnesses, with benefits for patients 
everywhere. Our clinical staff keep abreast of the latest possible treatments – active participation 
in research leads to more successful patient outcomes. 
 
The Trust has continued to make significant scientific advances in 2016/17 and to attract further 
new investment to support clinical research and development (R&D), including the following: 
 

 NIHR Imperial Biomedical Research Centre (BRC) – this major programme of 
experimental medicine was renewed and awarded £90m over the next 5 years. This new 
funding will allow the BRC to continue its world-class research into cancer, heart disease, 
brain sciences, immunology, gut health, infection, surgery and metabolic disorders. It will 
also support cross-cutting research and technology development in areas such as 
genomics, imaging, molecular phenotyping and the use and storage of biomedical data 
and samples.  

 NIHR Imperial Clinical Research Facility (CRF) – our experimental medicine CRF was 
awarded £10.9m over the next 5 years. This award will continue to provide dedicated bed 
space for up to 25 patients participating in research. It will also support a team of 40 
dedicated healthcare professionals specialising in clinical research. The award will allow 

Page 55



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 28 

us to continue to support experimental medicine clinical research studies in patients and 
healthy volunteers across a wide range of conditions. 

 NIHR Imperial Patient Safety Translational Research Centre (PSTRC) – also 
renewed at £7m over the next 5 years. The investment will be spent on patient safety 
research across numerous clinical areas with the aim to turn patient safety discoveries 
into practice and impact NHS frontline services. 

Our CQUIN performance – CQUIN framework  

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) is a payment framework that allows 
commissioners to agree payments to hospitals based on agreed quality improvement and 
innovation work.  
 
A proportion of Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust’s income in 2016/17 was conditional on 
achieving quality improvement and innovation goals through the CQUIN framework.  
 
In 2016/17 the value of the schemes was 2.8% of the contract value for NHS acute healthcare 
services as agreed with NHS England. This equated to £5.64 million of our planned income from 
NHS England.  
 
A summary of the 2016/17 CQUIN goals and achievement is provided in the table below. The 
figures are based on our projected year end and are subject to final agreement. 
CQUIN scheme Description of scheme Full year 

Plan value 
£ 

Achieved £ 
projected year 
end 

Achieved % 
projected 
year end  

BI1 HCV Improving 
Treatment 
Pathways through 
ODNs 

To support providers to deliver the 
infrastructure, governance and 
partnership working across 
Hepatitis C virus operational 
delivery networks 

£3,222,450 £3,381,937 100% 

GE1 Clinical 
Utilisation Review 
Tool 

To reduce numbers of bed days 
(and emergency admissions) that 
do not meet criteria of clinical 
appropriateness.  

£664,630 £0 0% 

TR1 Adult Critical 
Care (ACC) Timely 
Discharge 

To reduce delayed discharges 
from ACC to ward level care by 
improving bed management 

£463,227 £291,692 60% 

CA2 Nationally 
Standardised Dose 
Banding Adult 
Intravenous SACT 

To standardise the doses of 
Systemic Anti-Cancer Therapy 
(SACT) in all units across 
England 

£483,368 £507,290 100% 

QIPP Telemedicine To reduce or replace physical 
outpatient attendances, where 
appropriate, with virtual contact 
through phone calls or other 
technological methods.  

£342,385 £359,331 100% 

QIPP Ventilator 
acquired 
pneumonia 

To support providers in procuring 
the appropriate product that 
demonstrates effective ventilator 
prevention measures against 
infection and potential pneumonia 
rates. 

£201,403 £211,371 100% 

QIPP ARV Switch To ensure the appropriate and 

cost effective use of  antiretroviral 

drugs and switching patients to 

newer regimens where clinically 

appropriate 

£261,824 £274,782 100% 

Page 56



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 29 

 
We were unable to implement the CUR CQUIN in its current format as it required another IT 
system to be put in place which would have needed our staff to do double data entry. We are 
hoping to work with the national team to look at how we can implement this scheme using our 
existing electronic patient record. 
 
In addition to these national schemes, we also agreed two CQUINs locally with our 
commissioners, which were focused on our outpatient transformation programme and improving 
communication with primary care. We are expecting to achieve 100% of the value of these 
schemes.   

Care Quality Commission registration status 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the independent regulator of health and social care in 
England. It makes sure health and social care services provide people with safe, effective, 
caring, well-led and responsive care that meet fundamental standards. 
 
The Trust is required to register with the CQC at all of our sites and our current registration 
status is ‘registered without conditions’. 
 
The CQC has not taken enforcement action against Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 
during 2016/17.  
 
We have participated in one review by the CQC related to the following area during 2016/17:  

 Learning, candour and accountability: A review of the way NHS trusts review and 
investigate the deaths of patients in England (published December 2016). This involved 
filling out a questionnaire with data about how the Trust has investigated deaths only. 
 

We intend to take the following action to address the conclusions or requirements reported by 
the CQC: 

 We have undertaken a review of the report and a gap analysis against our current 
mortality review process. We have developed an action plan to ensure we are fully 
implementing the recommendations in line with the national requirements.  
 

In September 2014, the CQC inspected the Trust by visiting four of our main sites. We received 
an overall rating of ‘requires improvement’. A summary of our overall ratings can be found below 
with a full report available on the CQC website: 
 

Safe Effective Caring Responsive Well led  Overall 

Requires 
improvement 

Good Good Requires 
improvement 

Requires 
improvement 

 Requires 
improvement 

 
The action plan developed following the Trust’s CQC inspection in September 2014 was 
completed in March 2016.  
 
In November 2016, the CQC carried out a re-inspection of the core service of Outpatients and 
diagnostic imaging. This was the only service at the Trust to be rated overall as ‘Inadequate’ 
following the September 2014 inspection. 
 
The draft inspection reports were received on 18 April 2017 for a factual accuracy check. The 
reports are expected to be finalised and published on the CQC’s website, including all ratings, by 
late May 2017. Once the inspection reports are finalised, we will be required to submit to the 
CQC an action plan for how we will address any areas of concern. 
 
On 7 March 2017, the CQC arrived unannounced at the Trust to carry out a three day focused 
inspections of two core services: 

Page 57



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 30 

 Maternity at St Mary’s Hospital 

 Medical Care at St Mary’s, Charing Cross and Hammersmith hospitals. 
The draft inspection reports are due between July and September 2017. 

 
Our data quality 
 
High quality information leads to improved decision making which in turn results in better patient 
care, wellbeing and safety. There are potentially serious consequences if information is not 
correct, secure and up to date. 
We continued to experience some challenges with data quality in 2016/17 which we are working 
to improve through our data quality assurance framework which we introduced in 2016. 
Key data quality indicators are reported every week and are also included within our monthly 
performance scorecards to ensure data quality governance is aligned with our Performance 
Management Framework. 
  
An executive-led Data Quality Steering Group has been established and meets every month. It 
provides leadership and oversight of the development and delivery of all aspects of our Data 
Quality Framework.   
 
There are over 100 data quality indicators in total in use across the Trust, which are available via 
a data quality dashboard tool (Cymbio). New data quality indicators continue to be developed in 
response to requirements. 

 
NHS number and general medical practice code validity 
The Trust submitted records during 2016/17 to the Secondary Users Service for inclusion in the 
Hospital Episode Statistics (see glossary on page 77 for definitions) which are included in the 
latest published data. The percentage of records in the published data to month 9 2016/17 (most 
recent available) which included the patient’s valid NHS number was: 

 96.9 per cent for admitted patient care 

 98.7 per cent for outpatient care 

 90.2 per cent for accident and emergency care  
 
The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid general 
medical practice code was: 

 100 per cent for admitted patient care 

 100 per cent for outpatient care 

 100 per cent for accident and emergency care  

 
Information governance toolkit scoring  
Information governance ensures necessary safeguards for, and appropriate use of, patient and 
personal information. The information governance toolkit is the way we demonstrate our 
compliance with information governance standards. All NHS organisations are required to make 
three annual submissions to Connecting for Health in order to assess compliance. 
 
Our information governance assessment report overall score for 2016/17 was 67 per cent and 
was graded ‘satisfactory’.  The satisfactory rating was achieved by a minimum level 2 
assessment against all standards. The information governance toolkit return was subject to an 
independent audit conducted in October 2016 and in March 2017. The final audit report gave the 
Trust ‘reasonable assurance’ of the self-assessment.  

 
Clinical coding quality 
Clinical coding is the translation of medical terminology as written by the clinician to describe a 
patient's complaint, problem, diagnosis, treatment or reason for seeking medical attention, into a 

Page 58



Quality account 2016/17   

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 31 

coded format which is nationally and internationally recognised. The use of codes ensures the 
information derived from them is standardised and comparable. 
 
The Trust was not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit by Monitor during 
2016/17. There are no Payment by Results audits currently planned.  
 

National Outcomes framework indicators 2016/17 
For full information about our performance  
 
The NHS Outcomes Framework 2016/17 sets out high level national outcomes which the NHS 
should be aiming to improve. For full information about our performance, please see pages 61-
66. 
 

Page 59



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 32 

Our quality account improvement priorities for 2016/17 reflected the goals and targets defined in 
our quality strategy. They were outlined in our quality account last year following consultation 
with our clinical and management teams and with our external stakeholders, through the quality 
steering group.  
 
Our progress with these goals and targets is described below under each quality domain.   
 
As part of our quality strategy, we also developed measurable and structured improvement 
projects which were assessed for their potential to positively impact on the goals and targets we 
set.  These are featured throughout the following sections.  
 
Following feedback from both internal and external stakeholders and a review of the quality 
accounts produced by other providers, we have simplified and shortened this section of the 
quality account to help ensure it is clearer and more focused, highlighting areas of good work as 
well as areas where we have not performed as well as we would wish. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

A review of our quality progress 16/17 
This part of the report shares the quality improvement priorities that we set 
ourselves for 2016/17 and reports our progress against each of these. It 
also outlines our performance against the NHS Outcomes Framework 
2015/16, the Quality Schedule agreed with our commissioners and national 
targets and regulatory requirements. 

 

Page 60



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 33 

Safe  

This section describes our progress with the targets under the Safe domain during 2016/17.  

 

The table below sets out our performance and where applicable, presents national targets and 
averages, and information about our performance in 2016/17. Site level data is described 
where available and appropriate. 

 
Goal/Target National 

Target / 
National 
Average  

Performance 
in 15/16 

Target for 16/17 Outcome in 
16/17  

Target 
achieved? 

To eliminate avoidable harm to 
patients in our care as shown through 
a reduction in the number of incidents 
causing severe/major harm 

0.3% 
(April-Sept 
2016) 

0.1% (8 
incidents) 
(April-Sept 
2015) 

below national 
average (0.3%) 

0.1% (7 
incidents) 
(April-Sept 
2016) 

Yes 

To eliminate avoidable harm to 
patients in our care as shown through 
a reduction in the number of incidents 
causing extreme harm/death 

0.1% 
(April-Sept 
2016) 

0.1% (5 
incidents) 
(April- Sept 
2015) 

below national 
average (0.1%) 

0.0% (2 
incidents) 
(April-Sept 
2016) 

Yes 

We will increase our incident reporting 
numbers and be within the top 
quartile of trusts  

40.02 (April-
Sept 2016) 

41.38 (April-
Sept 2015) 

Over 44.89 42.3 (April-
Sept 2016 
as published 
by NRLS) 
 
44.85 (full 
year)  

No 

We will have zero never events 
 

0 never 
events 

6 never events 0 never events 4 never 
events 

No 

We will promote safer surgery by 
ensuring 100% compliance with all 
elements of the WHO checklist in all 
relevant areas 

N/A Element 1: 
100% 
Element 2: 
100% 
Element 3: 
100% 
Element 4: 
100% 
Element 5: 
72% 
 

100% compliance Element 1: 
100% 
Element 2: 
100% 
Element 3: 
100% 
Element 4: 
100% 
Element 5: 
92% 
 

No 

We will have no SIs where failure to 
follow the WHO checklist properly is a 
factor 
 

N/A New reporting 
criteria – data 
not reported in 
this way 

0 2  No 

We will ensure we have no avoidable 
MRSA BSIs and cases of C. difficile 
attributed to potential lapse in care 

N/A 13 (7 MRSA 
BSIs, 6 C. 
difficile  lapses 
in care) 

0 avoidable 
infections 

12 (3 MRSA 
BSIs, 9 C. 
difficile 
lapses in 
care) 

No 

We will maintain 90% for anti-
infectives prescribed in line with our 
antibiotic policy or approved by 
specialists from within our infection 
teams 

N/A 89% At least 90% 89% No 

We will reduce avoidable category 3 
and 4 trust-acquired pressure ulcers 
by at least 10% 

N/A 25 (42% 
reduction) 

Less than 22 (at 
least 10% 
reduction)  

27 No 

We will assess at least 95% of all 
patients for risk of VTE and prevent 
avoidable death as a consequence 

over 95% 96.43%  over 95% 
0 avoidable 
deaths 

95.33% 
0 avoidable 
deaths 

Yes 

We will stop non-clinical inter-site 
transfers of patients out-of-hours 
without clinical agreement and 
prevent avoidable harm 

N/A New reporting 
criteria – data 
not reported in 
this way 

0  0 cases 
without 
clinical 
agreement 

Yes 

Page 61



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 34 

We will have a general vacancy rate 
of 10% or less 

N/A 10.21% 10% or less 11.57% No 

We will have a band 2-6 ward 
vacancy rate of 10% or less 

N/A 14.69% 10% or less 19% No 

We will maintain the percentage of 
shifts meeting planned safe staffing 
levels at 90% for registered nurses 
and 85% for care staff 

90% for 
registered 
nurses                          
85% for care 
staff 

95.16% for 
registered 
nurses 
92.81% for 
care staff 

90% for 
registered nurses                          
85% for care staff 

98.01% for 
registered 
nurses 
94.26% for 
care staff 

Yes 

 
We want to ensure our patients are as safe as possible while under our care and that they are 
protected from avoidable harm. 
 
Areas where we are proud of the improvements we have made or sustained in our Safe domain 
are outlined below under ‘quality highlights’, areas where we have not performed as well as we 
would wish are summarised under ‘quality challenges’. 

Safe quality highlights 

We remain below average for incidents causing severe or extreme harm to patients: A patient 
safety incident is any unintended or unexpected incident which could have or did lead to harm 
for one or more patients receiving NHS care. Incidents are categorised by degree of harm, from 
near miss and no harm up to extreme harm (for definitions, please see the glossary on page 77).  
 
Reporting incidents allows us to investigate and learn from errors so we can prevent them from 
happening again. We investigate all patient safety incidents which are reported on our incident 
reporting system, Datix. In addition, all patient safety incidents graded moderate and above are 
reviewed at a weekly panel chaired by the medical director.  Each incident is reviewed when it is 
first reported on Datix, and then again each week until the investigation has been completed and 
it is closed from a Trust perspective. Incidents that are deemed to be Serious Incidents (SIs) or 
never events also undergo an investigation which involves root cause analysis (see glossary on 
page 77 for definitions).  
 
According to the latest data published by the National Reporting and Learning Service (NRLS) 
we have reported fewer of the incidents which cause the most harm to patients compared to our 
peers. Our internal data for the full year also shows a decrease in these incidents, with 28 
reported in 2016/17 compared to 31 last year.  
 
To support this, we have identified nine safety improvement priority streams for the trust, which 
are described in more detail on page 15. These are: 

 safe mobility and prevention of falls with harm 

 reducing harm from pressure ulcers 

 recognising and responding to the very sick patient  

 safer medicines 

 optimising hand hygiene 

 acting on abnormal results 

 safer surgery 

 foetal monitoring 

 positive patient confirmation. 
 
Work is progressing at different stages in each of these areas, with some safety streams only 
recently commenced.  For those which are further developed, improvements are starting to be 
seen – you can read more about these in the rest of this section. The projects will continue into 
2017/18 and progress will be reported in next year’s quality account.  
 
We increased our incident reporting rate: An important measure of an organisation’s safety 
culture is its willingness to report incidents affecting patient safety, learn from them and deliver 

Page 62



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 35 

improved care. A high reporting rate reflects a positive reporting culture, as staff feel able to 
report incidents that occur.  
 
The data for April to September 2016 published by the NRLS in March 2017 shows that we 
succeeded in increasing our incident reporting rate compared to last year, although we remained 
below the top quartile. Our internal data, which we use to monitor our incident reporting rate 
each month, shows an improvement in our performance since September 2016, and we have 
been above the top quartile for all months except February 2017 since then.  
 
We maintained safe staffing levels: Although our vacancy rates remain higher than our targets, 
we have ensured staffing meets planned safe levels this year. The use of temporary workers is 
one of the ways we have achieved this. Where shifts were not filled, staffing arrangements were 
optimised and any risk to safe care minimised by the senior nurses taking the following actions: 

• Using the workforce flexibly across floors and clinical areas;  
• The nurse or midwife in charge of the area working clinically and taking a case load;   
• Specialist staff working clinically during the shift to support their ward based colleagues.  

 
Our divisional nurse directors regularly review staffing at ward level alongside local quality 
metrics to ensure there are no quality or safety concerns regarding safe staffing levels. We have 
also developed a recruitment and retention plan for bands 2-6 nursing and midwifery staff which 
will fully launch in 2017. For more information, please see page 23.  
 
We have reduced the number of non-clinical inter-site transfers of patients out-of-hours and 
have reported no cases which occurred without clinical agreement: The move of general acute 
medicine from Hammersmith Hospital to the Trust’s other main sites has supported a decrease 
in the number of inter-site transfers out-of-hours occurring for capacity reasons, with none 
occurring in December 2016 (latest available data). In addition, since the beginning of the year, 
none of these transfers have occurred without clinical agreement, the requirement for which was 
put in place last year to minimise risk to patients and still allow flow through our hospitals. For 
the second year in a row, we have not reported any serious incidents where a non-clinical OOH 
transfer out-of-hours was a contributory factor.   
 
We have achieved a 50 per cent reduction in the number of grade 3 and 4 pressure ulcers since 
2014: A pressure ulcer is a type of injury that affects areas of the skin and underlying tissue 
when the area is placed under too much pressure. These ulcers can range in severity from 
patches of discoloured skin to open wounds that expose the underlying bone or muscle. 
Pressure ulcers are graded from one to four to indicate their severity, with one indicating less 
damage and four indicating serious damage. All category three and four pressure ulcers are 
subject to an internal process of root cause analysis and are reported as serious incidents. 
Although we have not achieved our target of a 10 per cent decrease compared to last year, we 
are proud that we have reduced the occurrence of these types of pressure ulcer by nearly 50 per 
cent in three years and that we have not had a grade four pressure ulcer since 2013.  
 
We continue to work to reduce pressure ulcers through our five year strategy and associated 
action plan and collaborate with our partners in the community to adopt a whole systems 
approach to reducing harm from pressure damage. Actions we are currently undertaking include: 
development of the SKIN champion roles, a review of our mattress contract, and a 
communications campaign to improve the use of the pressure ulcer prevention app amongst our 
patients, carers and families.  

Safe quality challenges 

We reported four surgical related never events and two SIs due to a failure to follow the WHO 
checklist: Never events are defined as serious, largely preventable patient safety incidents that 
should not occur if the available preventative measures have been implemented.  
 

Page 63



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 36 

The Trust reported four never events in 2016/17, each related to practice in surgery. We also 
reported two serious incidents due to a failure to follow the WHO safer surgery checklist, which 
is an intervention introduced by the World Health Organization to improve safety in theatres 
(see glossary on page 77 for full definition). Each of these incidents has individual actions in 
place to reduce the risk of recurrence, however the investigations highlighted similar issues with 
leadership and teamwork, the application of the WHO checklist, and Trust policies and 
procedures either not being followed or not complying with best practice.  A safer surgery task 
and finish group was established in July 2016 to review how we were conducting interventional 
procedures across the Trust and to ensure we were providing the safest possible care for our 
patients. The work of this group has included:  

 a baseline information collection, audit and observation process to bring to light any safe 
practice concerns; 

 a review of all policies to ensure they are compliant with the national standards; 

 Standardisation of all local checklists to ensure consistency; 

 the introduction of ‘no brief, no start’ which means that both the senior surgeon and 
anaesthetist must be present for the team brief to promote teamwork and ensure the 
safest possible start to surgery; 

 Development of driver diagram for safer surgery to focus our improvement work 
 
As a result of this work, we are starting to see improvements in compliance with the five steps to 
safer surgery, with all five elements met by March 2017.  
 
The group will continue to deliver improvements into 2017/18, including: 

 the development of a long-term audit programme which provides sufficient assurance; 

 Co-designing an education model with staff and patients, for all theatre staff with patient 
stories at its heart; 

 Developing a revised simulation training programme in interventional areas; 

 Evaluating the impact of our interventions through re-auditing and a review of key 
measures e.g. staff engagement and patient safety indicators. 

 
Feedback from staff and patients, and a review of how we meet the duty of candour 
requirements for SIs, has identified areas of improvement in how we manage and investigate SIs 
and never events. In addition, although our mortality rates are consistently excellent and our 
incident reporting rates are improving, patients continue to experience avoidable harms whilst in 
our care. Recognising that we have work to do to improve the safety culture at our Trust, in June 
2016 we started a programme of work to develop, create and embed a culture in which all staff 
can describe their contribution to patient safety, feel confident in raising safety concerns and 
know how to address such issues within their place of work. 
 
The initial focus has been purposely given to gaining intelligence, and communication and 
engagement with our teams, this has included a number of well-attended workshops and a 
questionnaire focused on staff attitudes to safety, to which over 1,500 staff members have 
responded. This intelligence is informing the development of a detailed project plan. Work so far 
includes: 

 Improving staff experience of reporting incidents which will include a re-design of the 
Datix incident reporting system so that logging incidents is quicker and more 
straightforward, feedback takes place more quickly and themes can be spotted more 
swiftly, and escalated for prompt action. 

 Improving the process for and quality of incident investigation, including training for staff 
and a more rigorous quality assurance process; clarification around timelines, roles and 
responsibilities of those involved in the investigation process; and improvements in 
practice regarding how we involve patients and families.  

 Improving how we implement the duty of candour, providing staff with a summary of the 
requirements and FAQs to help clarify their responsibilities. We have also developed an 
online training package for staff which was rolled out in May. In addition, we will create a 

Page 64



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 37 

patient information sheet so patients are fully aware what they should expect from their 
healthcare workers.  

We believe these actions will improve both staff and patients’ experience when things go wrong, 
support open and honest communication and ultimately deliver better outcomes. 
 
We reported 12 avoidable infections: In 2015 we began to report ‘avoidable’ infections of MRSA 
blood stream infections (BSI) and Clostridium difficile infections. For how we define ‘avoidable 
infections’ please see the glossary on page 77. Although we did not meet our target, we had a 
slight decrease in avoidable infections in 2016/17, reporting 12 compared to 13 last year. We 
have also seen a reduction in total cases of both infections when compared to last year: 

 Three trust-attributable cases of MRSA BSI compared to seven last year (see glossary 
on page 77 for definition).  

 63 cases of Clostridium difficile have been allocated to the Trust compared to 73 last 
year (see glossary on page 77 for definition). 

There are two key elements to reducing the risk of infections occurring in hospital, which we will 
continue to work on into 2017/18: 

1. Reducing the use of anti-infectives (antibiotics) – 89 per cent of anti-infectives were 
prescribed in line with our antibiotic policy this year; we will continue to work to improve 
this.  

2. Improving hand hygiene – we have recently developed a new audit of hand hygiene 
which will allow us to monitor compliance for all of the five moments of hand hygiene.  

 
We have not met the VTE assessment target since December 2016: Venous thromboembolism 
(VTE) is a blood clot within a blood vessel that blocks a vein, obstructing or stopping the flow of 
blood. The risk of hospital acquired VTE can be reduced by assessing patients on admission. 
Last year, an internal audit conducted raised concern that recording of compliance with VTE 
assessment was being completed on patients’ discharge summaries and evidence was not 
consistently available in their medical records that this assessment had been completed. We 
have been working all year to transfer recording of this assessment to the Cerner electronic 
record on admission to ensure that adequate assessment is taking place; this was completed in 
March.   
  
Our performance dropped below the 95 per cent target for the first time in December and 
remained below target at 94.78% in March 2017. This dip coincided with pilots testing the use of 
the Cerner discharge process and stopping recording VTE assessment on the electronic 
discharge summary.  Once the assessment process is fully embedded in Cerner, we expect to 
return to reporting above target. An action plan is in place, led by the deputy medical director to 
deliver the required improvements to meet the target. 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 38 

Effective   
The following section describes the progress we have made with the targets we set ourselves 
this year under the Effective domain. 
 

The table below sets out our performance in 2016/17. Where applicable, it presents national 
targets and averages and information relating to our performance against these indicators in 
2015/16. Site level data is described where available and appropriate. 

 
Goal/Target National 

Target / 
National 
Average  

Performance 
in 15/16 

Target for 
16/17 

Outcome 
in 16/17  

Target 
achieved? 

To show continuous improvement in 
national clinical audits with no 
negative outcomes 

N/A Unknown All show 
continuous 
improvement 
No negative 
outcomes 

We have 
not been 
able to fully 
report 
against this 
goal 

Not available 

We will improve our mortality rates as 
measured by SHMI (summary 
hospital-level mortality indicator) to 
remain in the top five lowest-risk 
acute trusts 

100 73.8 (Oct 2014 
– Sept 2015) 
3

rd
  lowest risk 

Top 5 78.05 
Fourth 
lowest risk 
(Oct 2015 
– Sept 
2016) 

Yes 

We will improve our mortality rates as 
measured by HSMR (hospital 
standardised mortality ratio) to remain 
in the top five lowest-risk acute trusts 

100 69.62  
lowest risk 
(December 
2014 –Nov 
2015)  

Top 5 65.42 
Second 
lowest risk 
(Jan-Dec 
2016) 
 

Yes 

We will improve our position annually 
in comparison to the Dr Foster Global 
Comparators data set to be in the top 
third 

100 Not available To be in the 
top quarter 

Not 
available* 

Not available 

We will ensure that palliative care is 
accurately coded 

N/A 

 

New target not 
previously 
measured 

100% 100% (for 
all 
reviewed 
deaths) 

Yes 

We will ensure mortality reviews are 
carried out in all cases 

N/A Not available 100% 91% (Feb 
2016 – 
March 
2017) 

No 

We will increase PROMs participation 
rates to 80%  

Groin hernia: 
56.6% 
Hip 
replacement: 
87.4% 
Knee 
replacement: 
96.4% 
Varicose 
vein: 33.8% 
(national 
average 
April 2016 – 
Sept 2016) 

Groin hernia: 
30.1% 
Hip 
replacement: 
71.4% 
Knee 
replacement: 
168.9% 
Varicose vein: 
34.3% 
 

80% 
 
 

Groin 
hernia: 
9.4% 
Hip 
replaceme
nt: 87% 
Knee 
replaceme
nt: 
119.8%** 
Varicose 
vein: 
63.7% 
(April 2016 
– Sept 
2016) 
 

No 

We will improve PROMs reported 
health gain to be better than national 
average 

See table on 
page 61 for 
full results 

See table on 
page 61 for 
results 

Over national 
average 

Health gain 
unable to 
be 
calculated 

No 

Page 66



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 39 

for groin 
hernia, hip 
and knee 
replaceme
nt as 
insufficient 
forms 
returned 
 
Varicose 
Veins: 
EQ-5D: 
0.083 
(below 
average) 
EQ-VAS: 
0.3 (below 
average) 

Aberdeen
: -0.1 
(above 
average) 

We will review all out-of-ICU/ED 
cardiac arrests for harm and deliver 
improvements as a result 

N/A N/A   All cases 
reviewed 

Cases 
reviewed 
from 
December 
2016 

No 

We will discharge at least 35% of our 
patients on relevant pathways before 
noon 

N/A 28%  35% of 
patients 
discharged 
before noon 

17.5% No 

We will ensure that 90% of clinical 
trials recruit their first patient within 70 
days 

70% 97.5% (Q2 
2015/16) 

More than 
90% 

85.1% (Q3 
2016/17) 

No 

*We have not included data relating to the following target: ‘‘We will improve our position annually in comparison to the Dr Foster 
Global Comparators data set to be in the top third’. This is because it has not been possible to report this data since 2013 owing to 
changes in the way it is now collected.  
**Data from completed part A (pre-surgery) forms can sometimes arrive with HSCIC after the closure of the annual reporting year; 
also non-NHS patients who may not appear on the Trust’s information system may complete PROMS forms and these factors can 
result participation rates in excess of 100% 

 
The goal and targets in our Effective domain are designed to drive improvements to support 
good practice in our services and ensure the best possible outcomes for our patients. Areas 
where we are proud of the improvements we have made or sustained in our Effective domain 
are outlined below under ‘quality highlights’, areas where we have not performed as well as we 
would wish are summarised under ‘quality challenges’. 
 

Effective quality highlights  
Our mortality rates remain consistently low and we have a system in place to review all deaths 
that occur in the Trust: As part of our drive to deliver good outcomes for our patients we closely 
monitor our mortality rates, using two indicators, HSMR (Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio) 
and SHMI (Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator), which enable us to compare our 
mortality rates with our peers. Both of these have remained low, with our Trust being amongst 
the top five lowest risk acute Trusts in the country throughout the year. As part of this, we also 
monitor the percentage of deaths with palliative care coded as this may affect the data (for 
definitions see glossary on page 77). Although our palliative care coding rates are high, we are 
confident that they are accurate as we have a robust clinical coding review process in place.  
 
In February 2016, we introduced an online mortality review process to standardise the way all 
deaths are reported and reviewed across the Trust. Reviewing every death which occurs in our 
hospitals enables us to learn from any errors and pick up quickly on potential issues which could 
result in harm to other patients. This new process is starting to embed, with 91 per cent of 

Page 67



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 40 

deaths reported between February 2016 and March 2017 reviewed and plans in place to 
improve compliance in areas where reviews are overdue.  
 
A large retrospective note review exercise conducted across the NHS and published in the BMJ 
in 2015 concluded that 3.6 per cent of deaths across the NHS were avoidable; in an organisation 
our size that equates to 55 deaths a year. Of the 1,897 deaths which have so far been reviewed 
through our new system, five of them have been confirmed as avoidable deaths. These have all 
been investigated as serious incidents and the actions and learning shared across the Trust 
through the Mortality Review Group. An additional thirteen cases of potential avoidable death 
currently remain under review. In 2017/18, we will publish information on avoidable deaths in line 
with national requirements set out in the CQC’s review ‘Learning, Candour and Accountability: a 
review of the way NHS trusts review and investigate the deaths of patients in England’6. 
 
We developed a process to review all out-of-ICU/ED cardiac arrests for harm: Our initial target 

for the first year of the quality strategy was to reduce the number of cardiac arrests (see glossary 
on page 77 for definition) occurring outside our intensive care units and emergency 
departments. This is because when a cardiac arrest happens outside these two areas, it is often 
due to patients not being monitored properly or staff failing to recognise and act on deterioration 
in their condition. We achieved this target last year, and have reduced the number further this 
year (from 277 in 2015/16 to 241 in 2016/17). In December 2016 we introduced a robust system 
to enable us to review all out-of-ICU/ED arrests for harm, with all cases being reported on the 
Trust’s incident reporting system to enable further review and root cause analysis. Any incidents 
where harm has been found are now able to be properly investigated and learning shared. Since 
this process was implemented, one case has been found to have resulted in harm.  

Effective quality challenges:  

We have not been able to fully report against our goal to show continuous improvement in 
national clinical audits with no negative outcomes: Clinical audit is a key improvement tool 
through which we can monitor and improve the quality of care that we provide. By taking part in 
national clinical audit programmes, we are able to benchmark our performance and measure 
improvements on a year-by-year basis. Action plans are developed in response to 
recommendations and areas for improvement. We review all national clinical audit reports in 
which we participate through our divisional governance structures and through the newly 
established Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Group. This group was introduced to improve how 
we manage clinical audit, but also to improve how we learn from the outputs and deliver 
improvements to patient care as a result. We have further work to do into 2017/18 to fully embed 
this effectively.  
 
For the full list of audits we participate in, and the actions we are taking in response to the 

reports we have received so far this year, please see appendix B.  

 

National clinical audits all report in different ways and have different rates of recurrence (e.g. 

some happen every year, some only once, and some every two or three years).  Unfortunately 

this means we have struggled to demonstrate which audit reports show continuous 

improvement as we are not always able to compare them effectively with previous performance. 

In addition, not all audit reports provide trust level data, or a comparison to enable us to 

determine whether they represent a negative outcome. We will change our goal next year so 

that we are able to measure our performance more effectively.  

 

Our PROMs health gain was unable to be measured for all procedures due to insufficient 
numbers of forms being returned: Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) measure 

                                                
6
 https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20161213-learning-candour-accountability-full-report.pdf 

Page 68

https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20161213-learning-candour-accountability-full-report.pdf
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20161213-learning-candour-accountability-full-report.pdf


 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 41 

quality from the patient perspective and seek to calculate the health gain experienced following 
four surgical procedures: surgery for groin hernia, varicose veins, hip replacement and knee 
replacement.  
 
Patients who have these procedures are asked to complete the same short questionnaire both 
before and after surgery. We are responsible for ensuring completion of the first questionnaire 
(part A). The number of pre-surgery forms sent into NHS Digital by us is compared to the 
number for surgical procedures carried out on our hospital information system; it is this figure 
which is used to calculate the Trust’s participation rate.  

An external agency, Capita, is responsible for posting out the second (part B) PROMs 
questionnaire to patients. The patient completes the form and returns it to Capita. It is the 
difference between the part A and part B forms which is used to calculate health gain. If 
insufficient Part B forms are returned, then NHS Digital, who publish the results, will supress an 
organisation’s health gain score to protect patient confidentiality.  

The most recent PROMs results were published by NHS digital in February 2017 for the data 
period April – September 2016. Although our participation rates are on or above average for all 
but one procedure (groin hernia), insufficient part B questionnaires were either sent out by 
Capita or returned by patients to allow health gain to be calculated for three out of the four 
procedures (hip and knee replacement and groin hernia) during this time period. We are 
working with Capita to resolve these issues.  

PROMs data for this time period shows that our patients undergoing varicose vein surgery 
reported below average health gain. We believe the reason for this is that we had two different 
treatment pathways for patients with varicose veins depending on whether they are seen at St 
Mary’s or Charing Cross Hospital, due to facility constraints. A new centralised varicose vein 
unit is now up and running, meaning all our patients will benefit from being offered treatment for 
varicose veins in one operation, rather than two. We expect that the change in practice will 
result in an improvement in PROMs reported health gain, and allow new innovative strategies 
of care and new technologies to be implemented for all varicose vein patients being cared for 
by the Trust.  

We have not achieved our target to discharge at least 35 per cent of our patients on relevant 
pathways before noon: Untimely discharge has been identified as one of the most common 
reasons why A&E departments fill and patients have long waits to be seen and admitted or 
discharged. Planning discharges before the peak in admissions is an effective way to smooth 
the total demand for beds and run safer, more effective services.  
 
By discharging patients earlier where clinically appropriate, we are in a better position to place 
all patients appropriately in the right ward, in the right bed and at the right time. Despite 
improvements made to our discharge processes we have not met our target this year, with 19% 
of patients being discharged from downstream wards by noon. This is partly due to issues such 
as patients being unable to be discharged as they are waiting for a bed at a care home. We are 
working with our partners in the community to solve this issue, including with Ealing, Brent and 
Hounslow through a north west London collaboration to deliver integrated adult social care 
services and with Central North West London to deliver an integrated community independence 
service.  
 
In the meantime, we continue to make improvements to our discharge processes, such as: 

• Development of the ‘discharge to assess model’ with Community Care UK to ensure 
speedy discharge from hospital to home. Comprehensive assessment is undertaken in 
the patient’s own home, instead of in hospital, where it is more comfortable and the 
patient’s needs are clearer.  

Page 69



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 42 

• Introduction of training for staff following implementation of the new discharge policy in 
February 2017.  

• Development of a process for improved discharge review which includes follow up calls 
24 hours after discharge for complex cases.  

 
We did not meet our target to ensure that 90 per cent of clinical trials recruit their first patient 
within 70 days in quarter two or quarter three this year: As one of the UK’s six Academic Health 
Science Centres we are committed to encouraging innovation in everything that we do. Part of 
this involves carrying out pioneering research into diagnostic methods and treatments across a 
broad spectrum of specialities and for some of the most complex illnesses, with benefits for 
patients everywhere. 
 
Since 2012, the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) has published outcomes against 
public benchmarks, including a target of 70 days from the time a provider receives a valid 
research application to the time they recruit the first patient for that study. This metric provides 
assurance that we are giving patients the opportunity to participate in research in a timely way.  
 
Since 2014, up until quarter one this year, we have consistently reported above 90 per cent 
against this target. This is the result of having a robust feasibility assessment in place for every 
clinical trial. This ensures that everything is in place in advance, meaning patients are recruited 
to a fully operational trial that can be commenced in a timely manner. However, our results fell 
below target in quarter two, reflecting the impact of the full implementation of the new Health 
Research Authority (HRA) approvals process. The main reason for longer approval times in the 
new system is that the full duration of contract negotiation must now be included within the 
strictly-defined study initiation window of 70 days. The contracts team only receives legal 
agreements for review on the date when the HRA clock starts; no initial review or assessment 
can take place prior to that date (which was the practice previously). The average approval times 
have increased nationally as well as locally in the last two quarters, according to the NIHR 
reports. ICHT are reviewing processes for contractual review and negotiation, to identify ways of 
shortening these approval times and coming back within our target metric. This is likely to take 
another two quarters to achieve given the inherent lag involved in the clinical trials submission 
and set-up process. 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 43 

Caring 
The following section describes the progress we have made with the targets we set ourselves 
this year under the Caring domain.  

 

The table below sets out our performance in 2016/17 as a trust. Where applicable, it presents 
national targets and averages and information about our performance in 2015/16. Site level 
data is described where available and appropriate. 

 
Goal/Target National Target 

/ National 
Average  

Performance in 
15/16 

Target for 
16/17 

Outcome 
16/17 

Target 
achieved?  

To increase the percentage of 
inpatients who would 
recommend our trust to friends 
and family to 94% 

96% 96% 94% 97% Yes 

To increase the percentage of 
A&E patients who would 
recommend our trust to friends 
and family to 94% 

86% 92% 94% 95% Yes 

To increase the percentage of 
Outpatients who would 
recommend our trust to friends 
and family to 94% 

93% (as of 
January 2017) 

94% 94% 91% No 

We will achieve and maintain a 
FFT response rate of 30% in 
inpatient departments 

23.1% (as of 
January 2017) 

28% 30% 30% Yes 

We will achieve and maintain a 
FFT response rate of 20% in 
A&E  

12% (as of 
January 2017) 

11% 20% 15% No 

We will achieve and maintain a 
FFT response rate of 6% in 
Outpatients 

Not reported 5% 6% 10% Yes 

We will improve our national 
cancer survey scores year-on-
year 

) N/A 72% (annual 
results from 
2014 survey 
published in 
2015 

72% 8.6/10 
(average 
rating of care) 
(annual result 
from 2015 
survey 
published 
June 2016) 

Yes – 
although it is 
not possible 
to compare 
scores 
directly, due 
to changes 
to the 
survey, our 
results show 
an 
improvement 
on last year 

We will improve our score in 
the national inpatient survey 
relating to responsiveness to 
patients’ needs 

 N/A 6.82 (annual 
result from 2014 
survey 
published in 
2015) 

Over 6.85 6.74 (annual 
result from 
2015 survey 
published 
June 2016) 

No 

We will increase our 
responsiveness to complaints - 
95% of complaints responded 
to within the timeframe agreed 
with the patient (nominally 25 
working days) 

N/A 100% by March 
2016 

95% 100% (March 
2017) 

Yes 

 
We know that treating our patients with compassion, kindness, dignity and respect has a positive 
effect on recovery and clinical outcomes. To improve their experience in our hospitals, we 
ensure that we listen to our patients, their families and carers, and respond to their feedback.  

Page 71



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 44 

Areas where we are proud of the improvements we have made or sustained in our Caring 
domain are outlined below under ‘quality highlights’, areas where we have not performed as well 
as we would wish are summarised under ‘quality challenges’. 

Caring quality highlights 

We have exceeded our target for the percentage of our inpatients who would recommend us to 
friends and family and have maintained our performance in the national inpatient survey 
published in July 2016, with results very similar to our peers:  
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is one key indicator of patient satisfaction. Through our real 
time patient experience trackers, this test asks patients whether they would be happy to 
recommend our Trust to friends and family if they needed similar treatment. This system also 
means we can accurately track key protected characteristics (gender, age, ethnic group and 
disability) of those who respond, enabling us to compare experiences across these 
characteristics. We have continued to work to implement improvements based on any concerns 
that impact on one group more than another.  
 
For patients reporting a positive experience, interaction with staff is usually the most significant 
factor. Work we have undertaken to support this includes: 

 Providing patient feedback reports to every ward and department, and reviewing patient 

experience data alongside key safety metrics at local level to support the identification of 

quality improvement projects.  

 Making sure we are compliant with the accessible information standard (see glossary on 
page 77 for definition) by providing information in a range of formats and languages, 
training our staff, undertaking promotional work to raise awareness about the need to ask 
patients if they have any specific communication needs and adding hearing loops in 
rooms where public meetings are held. We have also introduced an assessment process 
through our electronic patient record which enables automatic flagging of specific 
communication requirements. 

 A new pathway for patients with learning disabilities who use our services. Known as the 
purple pathway, because of the flow chart colouring, it clearly lays out the pathways 
which patients will follow during their contact with the trust be it in A&E, as an outpatient 
or inpatient. It also covers the discharge process. A number of staff have been through a 
bespoke learning disabilities training programme in collaboration with Mencap and are 
now identified as learning disability champions in their departments. 

 Continuing to improve care for our patients with dementia and consistently meeting the 
national standards for dementia screening and assessment throughout the year. On 
average, twenty five per cent of our beds are occupied by a person with dementia or 
cognitive impairment. Recognising the risks and concerns surrounding hospital 
admissions and dementia, our Dementia Care Team continues to provide tailored 
support, including:  
 twice weekly drop in sessions for patients and carers; 
 redevelopment of the Trust dementia champion role; 
 creation of a nutritional support pathway with three designated levels of support a 

patient can receive depending on what level their nutrition is affected.  
 implementation of ‘My Improvement Network’ technology, funded by the Charity, 

which provides activities including games, music, physical exercises and 
opportunities for social interaction all contained within a portable unit.  

In 2017, we will be re-launching the carer’s passport to raise the profile and provide additional 
support to carers, focusing on those who provide voluntary care for those with learning 
disabilities or dementia. 
 
When patients report a negative experience, the cause is usually due to ineffective systems and 
processes. We continue to take steps to improve and to ensure that waiting and delays are kept 

Page 72



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 45 

to a minimum and, where they are unavoidable, patients are kept informed and the environment 
and staff are as welcoming and supportive as possible.  
 
Changes we are making to improve include: 

 A strategy to improve wayfinding across all of our sites (see page 19 for further 

information).  

 Patient transport – Patient transport is another key issue for those who are not able to 

travel to appointments independently. Our FFT results for patient transport have been 

consistently below target this year. We reviewed our patient transport service, recruited 

an additional 28 drivers and introduced a new system that can match short notice 

requests to the earliest available vehicle. Once these are embedded we anticipate seeing 

an increase in the percentage of patients who would recommend the service. A 

Transport Working Group, comprising of members of Healthwatch as well as Trust staff, 

has been established to develop the collaborative approach to improving transport and 

travel to and across our sites with key stakeholders. Our current non-emergency patient 

transport contract will come to an end in 2018 so we will be re-tendering the service this 

year, focusing on creating a contract which will continue to deliver quality improvements 

for our patients.  

 Discharge improvement - In the national inpatient survey, the Trust performed better than 

or about the same as most other Trusts for all questions except two which were: ‘Did 

hospital staff take your family or home situation into account when planning your 

discharge?’ and ‘Did hospital staff discuss whether additional equipment or adaptions 

were needed in your home?’. Steps we are taking to improve the discharge process can 

be found on page 40.  

The percentage of our A&E patients who would recommend us is over our target and 
significantly above national average: Like many NHS trusts, we continue to struggle to meet the 
national standard for A&E patients waiting under four hours to be treated and discharged or 
admitted. Despite this, we are pleased that over 94 per cent of our patients would still 
recommend our A&E services. We have detailed plans in place to improve performance in our 
A&E departments – please see page 48-49 for more information.  

Our results in the national cancer patient experience survey (NPES) show significant 
improvement: We have previously performed poorly in this survey, particularly in 2013 when we 
were ranked the worst in the country according to the Macmillan league table, so we are 
delighted to see a continuous year on year improvement in our results. Considerable work has 
been undertaken to improve the experience of patients with cancer since the 2013 results, most 
notably through our partnership with Macmillan Cancer Support, which has led to developments 
such as a Macmillan navigator function (see glossary on page 77 for definition) to support 
patients through the cancer pathway and the expansion of our nurse specialist service. We have 
also strengthened the functioning of our multi-disciplinary team meetings and run an internal 
programme centred around improving communicating with patients (SMILE). The latest results 
demonstrate the positive impact of that work; they are the best set of results that we have 
returned in the 5 years that the survey has been running.  
 
There were improvements in 22 out of 50 questions in the survey; we also scored above or 
within the expected range for 38 questions, with the number of questions which scored in the 
lowest range decreasing significantly (12 compared to 46 last year). 
 
Whilst there is clearly more to do, we are confident that we will continue to see improvements in 
our results. Since the survey was published in early 2016, we have been working to embed the 
improvements we’ve made, including rolling out the navigator service to all tumour groups, and 
have launched phase two of our partnership with Macmillan, focusing on improving the quality of 

Page 73



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 46 

life for the increasing number of people living with and beyond cancer. Phase two of our 
partnership specifically aims to: 

 develop a deeper understanding of what enables people to live well with and beyond 

cancer, or stops them from doing so, by way of an in-depth research project 

 deliver services which enable people to access timely support and information to help 

them manage their condition. 

Central to the ethos of the programme is strengthening the links between the Trust and the wide 
range of community-based services in north west London, including GP and primary care 
services and community and charitable groups.  
 
We have exceeded our target to respond to 95 per cent of complaints within the timeframe 
agreed with the patient: In 2015/16 we restructured the complaints service and process following 
feedback to create a more responsive and caring service for our patients and identify learning for 
our staff. We adopted a new approach, shifting the focus from providing a response letter to 
resolving the concern.  
 
We have continued to build on the improvements we made last year, embedding the new 
processes into practice.  We are focusing on learning from and analysing themes from 
complaints, and are now providing monthly reports to each division, including trends and a 
weekly update of live complaints and received compliments to enable them to focus quality 
improvement based on what our patients are telling us. Appointments (including delays and 
cancellations) continue to account for the highest volume of complaints; work to improve this 
continues as part of the outpatient improvement programme (see page 48 for further detail).  
 
We are one of a group of trusts working with Picker Europe to pilot a post complaint survey to 
understand complainants’ experience of the process. 160 questionnaires have been sent out so 
far, with 20 responses received. Initial feedback suggests that they found the process 
satisfactory. One theme emerging is that complainants want the opportunity for more telephone 
contact and the option of having another nominated person to talk to if their designated point of 
contact is not available. The complaints team have therefore introduced a system of cover to 
ensure that there will be an alternative available. 
 
We have also started to capture videos of patient stories arising out of complaints, with the first 
being shown at the Board meeting in January, supporting board decision making by illustrating 
the personal and emotional consequences of failing to deliver quality services. 

Caring quality challenges 

The percentage of outpatients who would recommend our Trust is below average and has 
dropped since last year: This drop coincided with the introduction of online completion of the 
survey. Although we are disappointed that our outpatient FFT rate has declined, we are 
confident that the changes we are making as part of our outpatient improvement programme will 
significantly improve outpatient experience in the long run. Work we are doing includes 
improving the content of appointment and follow-up letters, improving the clinic environment, 
delivering customer care training for staff, and increasing the use of digital technologies to 
support a better patient experience, such as patient kiosks and patient calling screens. You can 
read more about our outpatient improvement programme on page 48.  
 
  
 
 

 

Page 74



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 47 

Responsive  
The following section describes the progress we have made with the targets we set ourselves 
this year under the responsive domain.  
 

The table below sets out our performance in 2016/17 as a trust. Where applicable, it presents 
national targets and averages, and information about our performance in 2015/16. Site level 
data is described where available and appropriate. 

Target National Target / 
National Average  

Performance in 
15/16 

Target for 
16/17 

Outcome in 
16/17  

Target 
achieved? 

To consistently meet all 
relevant national access 
standards 

N/A 5 out of 12 met 
in all 4 quarters 

All targets 
met in all 4 
quarters 

4 out of 12 
met in all 4 
quarters  

No 

We will reduce the 
unplanned readmission rates 
for patients aged 0-15 and 
be below the national 
average 
 

8.97% (Oct 15 – Sept 16) 
 

4.81% (Jan-Dec 
2015)  
 

Below 
national 
average 
(8.97%) 

5.15% (Oct 
15 – Sept 
16) 

Yes 

We will reduce the 
unplanned readmission rates 
for patients aged over 16 
and be below the national 
average  
 

7.98% (Oct 15 – Sept 16) 7.39%  
(Jan – Dec 
2015)  
 

Below 
national 
average 
(7.98%) 

6.64% (Oct 
15 – Sept 
16) 

Yes 

We will have no inpatients 
waiting over 52 weeks for 
elective surgery, reduce the 
number of patients waiting 
over 40 weeks, and ensure a 
clinical validation is in place 
for each patient who waits 
over 18 weeks 

N/A 52 week waits: 
47 (month 12 
performance) 

0 52 week 
waits: 1,578 
(16/17 total) 
Clinical 
validation 
process 
described on 
pages 51-52 

No 

We will reduce the proportion 
of outpatient clinics  
cancelled by the trust with 
less than 6 weeks’ notice 

N/A 
 
 

9.5% 8.5% 8% Yes 

We will reduce the proportion 
of patients who do not attend 
outpatient appointments to 
10% 

N/A N/A – new target 
for 16/17 

10% 11.8% No 

We will ensure 95% of 
outpatient appointments are 
made within 5 working days 
of receipt of referral 

N/A N/A – new target 
for 16/17 

95% 77%  No 

We will reduce the proportion 
of outpatients who wait more 
than 45 minutes past their 
allotted appointment time 

N/A N/A N/A Unable to be 
reported  

Unable to 
be 
reported  

We will improve our PLACE 
scores annually to be in the 
top 25% nationally where 
possible 
 

Cleanliness – 98.1%  
Food – 88.2%  
Privacy etc. – 84.2%  
Condition etc. – 93.4% 
Dementia – 75.3% 
Disability – 78.8% 

Cleanliness: 
98.60% (above 
average) 
Food: 86.07% 
(below average) 
Privacy etc. 
78.39% (below 
average) 
Condition etc. – 
86.76% (below 
average) 

All scores 
above 
national 
average, 
except for 
condition 
where we 
will maintain 
current 
performance 

Cleanliness: 
98.73% 
(above 
average) 
Food: 87.1% 
(below 
average) 
Privacy: 
71.77% 
(bottom 
20%) 
Condition:91
.02% (below 
average) 
Dementia: 

No 

Page 75



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 48 

62.62% 
(bottom 
20%) 
Disability: 
64.82% 
(bottom 
20%) 
 

 
Having responsive services that are organised to meet people’s needs is a key factor in 
improving experience and preventing delays to treatment, which can cause harm to our patients.  
Our goal is to consistently meet the national targets.  
 
The table below shows our performance against the national access standards throughout 
2016/17. We have consistently met four out of the12 standards however performance was 
challenged in the others.  
 

National 
Targets and 
Minimum 
Standards  

Measure Threshold Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4  

Target 
achieved 
in all 
quarters  

Access to 
treatment 

18 weeks referral to treatment - 
incomplete pathway 

92.00% 88.16% 84.57% 82.92% 82.48%  No 

Access to 
Cancer 
Services  

2 week wait from referral to date first 
seen all urgent referrals 

93.00% 90.70% 92.40% 93.30% 90.16%  No 

2 week wait from referral to date first 
seen breast cancer 

93.00% 92.00% 93.30% 95.30% 93.21%  No 

31 days standard from diagnosis to 
first treatment 

96.00% 97.00% 96.70% 97.60% 96.15%  Yes 

31 days standard to subsequent 
Cancer Treatment - Drug 

98.00% 100% 100% 100% 99.16%  Yes 

31 days standard to subsequent 
Cancer Treatment - Radiotherapy 

94.00% 99.50% 98.20% 99.30% 97.95%  Yes 

31 days standard to subsequent 
Cancer Treatment - Surgery 

94.00% 95.50% 97.50% 95.70% 96.75%  Yes 

62 day wait for first treatment from 
urgent GP referral 

85.00% 70.20% 80.10% 82.00% 74.70%  No 

62 day wait for first treatment from 
NHS Screening Services referral 

90.00% 92.80% 87.70% 90.80% 92.94%  No 

A&E 
Performance 

A&E maximum waiting times 4 hours 95.00% 90.86% 90.83% 87.67% 88.97%  No 

Cancelled 
Operations 

Cancelled operations for non-clinical 
reasons 

0.80% 0.99% 0.73% 0.69% 0.88%  No 

Rebooking non-clinical cancellations 
within 28 days 

<5% 9.82% 12.14% 13.40% 11.9%  No 

 
We know we have much work to do to tackle long-standing pressures around demand, capacity 
and patient flow (see glossary on page 77 for definition) to enable us to meet these targets. 
Areas where we are proud of the improvements we have made or sustained in our Responsive 
domain are outlined below under ‘quality highlights’, areas where we have not performed as well 
as we would wish are summarised under ‘quality challenges’.  

 

Page 76



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 49 

Responsive quality highlights 

We continue to deliver our outpatient improvement programme and are seeing improvements as 
a result: Around a million people come to the Trust’s hospitals as outpatients every year and we 
have been running a major programme to improve the quality of their experience. This includes: 

 £3 million of refurbishment works, creating a more patient-friendly environment at our 

clinics at Charing Cross and Hammersmith hospitals, funded by Imperial Health Charity 

who also gave £4m for a centralised patient services centre at Charing Cross and 

committed nearly £300,000 to update the outpatient department at Western Eye Hospital. 

 Tackling issues with appointment letters, patients being rescheduled at short notice and 

long waiting times in some clinics with high demand – with outpatient staff winning a 

Trust award by keeping patients informed of any delays to their clinic.  

 Improving how patients get their appointment details – 90,000 patients have now opted 

to receive email correspondence. For those who prefer having their appointments sent by 

post, we switched to a new postal service in June 2016 that is faster and more reliable. 

We also made the appointment letters clearer and more informative. 

 Creating a single patient service centre at Charing Cross, .Here, all of the outpatient 

administration teams are coming together to manage all calls and put in place new ways 

of working to make sure we get things right for patients and GPs, first time.   

 Introducing appointment reminders by voicemail and expanded text reminders, with more 

than half of patients contacted now confirming their attendance. All of the improved 

communication has meant that fewer people are missing their appointment – down from 

17 per cent in 2014 to just over 11 per cent in 2017. 

 Improving the availability of patient records, which are held electronically on a secure 

system ensuring when a doctor sees a patient in clinic, they have their key details to 

hand and there aren’t delays waiting for paper records.  Furthermore, GPs now receive 

96 per cent of documentation, including patient discharge summaries, electronically.  

 Increasing the percentage of GP electronic referrals to 50 per cent. 

As a result of this work, we have seen improvements in some of our key targets, including 
reducing the amount of outpatient clinics cancelled by the trust and increasing the number of 
appointments made within five working days of receipt of referral from 70.70 per cent in August 
to 78.9 per cent in March 2017. 
 
Our main outpatient departments were inspected again by the CQC in November 2016. We are 
due to receive the final reports of their findings in May 2017; this will then inform further plans for 
improvement.  

Responsive quality challenges 

We have not met the national four hour A&E standard: A&E performance is measured by the 
percentage of patients that are seen, treated and discharged from an urgent or emergency care 
setting within four hours.  Our overall performance is derived from attends across all our 
emergency areas.  These include: 

 The main Emergency Departments (Type 1) 

 Western Eye Hospital (Type 2) 

 The Urgent Care Centres at our three main sites (Type 3). 

Like many NHS trusts, we struggled to meet the 95 per cent standard for A&E patients to be 
treated and discharged or admitted in under four hours. Pressures on A&E are complex and 
include pressures on the entire urgent and emergency care system, with acute trusts, 
ambulance services, mental health and social services all reporting major challenges to delivery. 

Page 77



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 50 

We saw a three per cent increase in A&E attendances and a five per cent increase in 
emergency admissions in 2016/17. 
 
We have been rolling out a range of improvements to enable a better ‘flow’ through of patients 
through our urgent and emergency care pathways, working to ensure patients receive care in 
the right place at the right time by the right healthcare professional, from their first contact with 
us, through assessment, diagnosis and treatment, to ensuring a safe and timely discharge. This 
includes: 

 Refurbishing St Mary’s A&E and co-locating services for patients requiring urgent and 

emergency care on the ground floor at Charing Cross to improve the environment and 

increase capacity. For further detail, please see the annual report.   

 Working with commissioners and local mental health trusts to improve the pathway for 

patients. We have increased the number of registered mental health nurses and 

established a dedicated consultant lead in both emergency departments. 

 Extending the opening hours of the ambulatory emergency care (AEC) service at St 

Mary’s and Charing Cross hospitals, including weekends.  The AEC service provides 

specialist diagnostics and treatment for patients who have urgent needs but are well 

enough to go home in between procedures or consultations and, essentially, to be cared 

for on an urgent outpatient basis. See glossary on page 77 for further information.  

 Opening a 12-space surgical assessment unit at St Mary’s in January 2017 to enable 

faster access to a specialist surgical opinion where required.   

 Promoting discharges before noon, streamlining and improving our discharge processes 
(see page 40 for further information). 

 
Despite not achieving the national standard, reported patient experience in A&E has been above 
our target of 94 per cent for every month throughout the year except August 2016. We have also 
maintained low emergency readmission rates for both adult and paediatric patients, with both 
rates remaining below national average throughout the year. This a good measure of the 
effectiveness of our care, as if a patient is treated and discharged appropriately they should not 
require unplanned readmission. 
 
We have not met the national performance targets for referral to treatment (RTT):  
With increasing demand for our services, keeping waiting times down for planned care has been 
a particular challenge. In early 2016, the Trust also identified some issues with how we were 
managing our waiting lists as well as underlying capacity problems in some areas. We have not 
met the standard of 92 per cent of patients treated within 18 weeks of referral this year, reporting 
83.24 per cent at the end of March 2017.  
 
We invited NHS Improvement’s Elective Care Intensive Support Team (IST) to review our 
processes and to provide advice on improvements.  Working with our commissioners and NHS 
Improvement, we established a waiting list improvement programme in response and are 
making good progress with: 

 a data quality clean up - a systematic and detailed audit of all of our waiting lists to 

ensure we have identified all patients who should be on an open RTT pathway.  

 improved waiting list management - better processes, training and on-going audit to 

make sure all lists are now managed correctly and consistently.  

 systematic clinical review (see below for more information) –  detailed reviews by doctors 
to ensure patients are not coming to clinical harm as a result of their wait. We have also 
rolled out a new clinical outcome form which is aiming to improve the recording of clinical 
outcomes in outpatient clinics as a driver to improving patient safety and RTT 
performance; 

 additional clinical activity - including running more outpatient clinics and theatre sessions, 

both within the Trust and with the support of independent sector providers.  

Page 78



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 51 

 improved theatres– our Riverside Theatres at Charing Cross Hospital were completely 

refurbished enabling us to expand the range of procedures undertaken there.   A 

temporary mobile operating theatre was used to ensure that we were able to maintain 

our theatre capacity during the refurbishment period. 

 
More work remains to be done and the programme will remain in place into 2017/18.  
 
We have seen a significant increase in patients waiting over 52 weeks for treatment on an RTT 
pathway: As part of the Trust’s waiting list improvement programme, a number of clinical review 
processes have been established to monitor the impact waiting for treatment is having on our 
patients and to ensure that avoidable harm has not/is not occurring as a result of delays in 
treatment.  
 
A clinical harm review steering group was set up in August 2016 with external expertise invited 
to join in October.  This external expert has shared lessons learnt from another large hospital 
trust’s experience which has been used to review our clinical harm review processes. 
 
The clinical harm reviews include all patients who have been added to the RTT waiting list 
following validation as part of the improvement programme as well as those who were already 
on an RTT list.  The outcomes of the reviews so far are outlined below: 

 Retrospective review: undertaken by the deputy medical director, this review looked at 

all patients who waited over 18 weeks for treatment on an RTT pathway between April 

2015 and June 2016. This review is now complete; out of over 8,000 patients, none have 

been found to have come to severe harm as a result of waiting longer than the RTT 

target. Given the numbers of patients involved, it was not possible to review 

psychological pain or discomfort through this process as this would have involved an 

individual patient by patient review process.   

 Review of patients waiting over 52 weeks: A senior nurse coordinates and oversees 

this process and ensures that the records of all patients waiting over 52 weeks for 

treatment are reviewed by a consultant.  These reviews and the patients’ treatment plans 

are used as part of the weekly specialty ‘long waiters’ meeting to track and expedite 

dates where needed. If any cases of potential harm are found, they are entered onto the 

Trust’s incident reporting system and investigated. Three cases of moderate harm (see 

glossary on page 77 for definition of moderate harm) identified through this process have 

been confirmed, with two cases still undergoing investigation. We have recently 

expanded the process to include ‘on admission’ reviews for patients in high risk 

specialties who have waited over 52 weeks. A dedicated email address has also been 

set up for GP colleagues to alert us to any patients that they are concerned about having 

increased risk of harm which will help us escalate patients for earlier care where 

appropriate.   

 On-going review: we know that best practice would be for clinical reviews to occur for 

any patient waiting over 18 weeks to ensure at risk patients are prioritised. However, 

given the large number of patients waiting in this category we have adopted a targeted 

approach prioritising patients in specified high risk specialties for prospective review. Of 

the completed reviews in the specialties deemed ‘high risk’, no cases of clinical harm have 

been found. 

We will continue the on-going reviews of patients throughout 2018/19.  
 
We have not consistently met all eight cancer standards: We failed to meet the following cancer 
standards across all quarters this year: 

 

Page 79



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 52 

Two week wait from urgent referral to first being seen  
We have notmet this standard consistently throughout the year, however we have been working 
to reduce delays and improve booking times. We have an on-going programme in place to 
deliver the CCG aim of reducing the median wait from referral to first appointment by one day 
across tumour groups. This will support continued improvement against this target.  
 
Two week wait from referral for breast cancer to first being seen  
In quarter one, our performance against this target was largely affected by patient choice. Of 59 
breaches, only four related to hospital initiated delays. We have since seen an improvement 
against this standard, partly due to the work to improve booking times outlined above. We have 
met this target in all quarters since.  
 
62 day wait for first treatment from urgent GP referral and from screening 
We have struggled to meet these standards throughout the year, mainly due to specific issues 
including late receipt of tertiary referrals from other organisations, and internal delays to the 
scheduling of diagnostics and treatment planning particularly in endoscopy, imaging and 
urology. With the support of our commissioners and NHS England, we agreed a cancer waiting 
times recovery plan and improvement trajectory to enable us to meet this target by the end of 
2017/18.  
 
Actions being taken include:  

 working with the NHS Intensive Support Team to improve the transition of patients 
between surgical specialties and endoscopy; 

 improved support for the urology rapid access clinic model to reduce delays experienced 
by patients during the diagnostic phase of the urology pathways; 

 recruitment of a new administrative team to support the growing numbers of cancer 
referrals to the Trust who have been in post since September; 

 integrating the Macmillan Navigator service into this work, to better support patient 
communication out of hours and facilitate the escalation of patient concerns to the 
Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS) teams to avoid patient-initiated delays earlier in the 
treatment pathways; 

 introducing the ‘straight to test’ pathway for all new suspected colorectal cancer referrals, 
which was rolled out across the Trust in November;   

 Working with our commissioners to support a reduction in late referrals from other 
hospitals in North West London.  

 
We are seeing improvements and are currently meeting the performance trajectory agreed with 
our commissioners.   
 
We have not consistently met the national standard for non-clinical on-the-day cancellations of 
surgery: We experienced increased demand for emergency care in 2016/17 which did contribute 
to the cancellation of a number of planned operations, although we worked hard to minimise 
them being cancelled on the day of surgery. We also increased our theatre capacity in key 
surgical specialties and through the new Riverside Theatres at Charing Cross. Where operations 
are cancelled, this is usually because of bed availability, earlier cases overrunning or elective 
operations being cancelled for emergency cases.  
 
As a major centre for emergency care and trauma in London, we do have to work to make sure 
that planned surgery is not impacted by the nature of our emergency work, and an elective care 
project is being developed for 17/18 to ensure that planned surgery and care gets the priority it 
needs.     
 
Since April 2002, all NHS patients who have elective operations cancelled for non-clinical 
reasons on the day of surgery (or day of admission) should be offered another binding date 
within 28 days. We have not met this standard this year, with the number of patients not 

Page 80



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 53 

subsequently treated within the 28 day guarantee period remaining high.  A full review of this is 
underway and any improvement actions will be reported in quarter one.  
 
We have not improved our PLACE (patient led assessment of the care environment) scores in 
all categories: PLACE was introduced in 2013 as an annual patient led initiative that monitors 
and scores the patient environment under the following headings: 

 Cleanliness 

 Privacy, Dignity & Wellbeing 

 Food & Hydration 

 Condition, Appearance & Maintenance 

 Dementia (introduced in 2015) 

 Disability (introduced in 2016) 
All patients should be cared for with compassion and dignity in a clean, safe environment. 
PLACE assessments provide a clear message, from patients, about how the environment or 
services might be enhanced.  
 
Patient representatives are always fully engaged with the assessment process, with an 
increased number of new patient assessors taking part this year. We have been commended by 
the Department of Health for our approach to the assessments and have been used as an 
exemplar for the correct application of the process.  
 
We have improved our performance in three areas compared to last year’s scores: 

 Cleanliness – which scores above national average. 

 Food and hydration – although our results remain below average, they have improved 
slightly since last year.  

 Condition, appearance and maintenance – results remain below average, but have 
improved across all of our sites.  
 

In the two other areas reported in 2015 (dementia and privacy, dignity and wellbeing) our results 
have deteriorated, with the Trust being in the bottom 20 per cent for these categories. We are 
also in the bottom 20 per cent for the disability category, which was introduced in 2016. A 
detailed action plan is being led by the PLACE steering group in response to the results, with 
themes of flooring repairs, access such as seating and hand rails, and improved signage which 
will be taken forward as part of the wayfinding strategy (see page 19 for more information). 
Dementia and disability requirements are at the heart of the designs for our new outpatients 
departments and A&E departments. Through our Clinical and Estates strategies, we continue to 
work to improve the condition of our hospitals to provide a more patient centred environment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 54 

Well-led 
The following section describes the progress we have made with the targets we set ourselves 
this year under the well-led domain.  

 

The table below sets out our performance in 2016/17. Where applicable, it presents national 
targets and averages, and information about our performance in 2015/16. Site level data is 
described where available and appropriate. 

Goal/Target National Target 
/ National 
Average  

Performance in 
15/16 

Target for 
16/17 

Outcome in 
16/17 

Target 
achieved? 

To increase the percentage of 
staff who would recommend this 
trust to friends and family as a 
place to work 

N/A 60 per cent (internal 
staff survey) 
 
57% (national staff 
survey) 

62% 
(internal staff 
survey) 

65% 
(internal staff 
survey 
published 
Sept 2016) 
 
62% 
(national 
staff survey 
published 
March 2017) 

Yes 

To increase the percentage of 
staff who would recommend this 
trust to friends and family as a 
place for treatment 

70% 77% (internal staff 
survey) 
 
68% (national staff 
survey) 

81% 
(internal staff 
survey) 

83% 
(internal staff 
survey 
published 
Sept 2016) 
 
70% 
(national 
staff survey 
published 
March 2017) 

Yes 

We will achieve a voluntary 
turnover rate of 10% 

N/A 10.58% 10%  10.22% No 

We will reduce our sickness 
absence rate to 3.10% 

N/A 3.21% 3.10%  3.00% Yes 

We will achieve a performance 
development review rate of 95% 

N/A 91.69% 95% 86.24% No 

We will achieve a non-training 
grade doctor appraisal rate of 
95% 

86.6% 83.3% (March 
2016) 

95% 91.13%  No 

We will achieve compliance of 
90% with statutory and mandatory 
training 

 95% 86.79% 90% 85.60% No 

We will re-run our ward 
accreditation programme with 
evidence of documented rapid 
improvements where issues arise 

N/A Programme 
launched 

Programme 
re-run 

Programme 
re-run 

Yes 

We will reduce the number of 
programmes with red flags in the 
GMC’s national trainee survey by 
5% 

N/A 50 red flags (36% 
increase on 
previous year) 

5% reduction 25 red flags 
(50% 
reduction on 
previous 
year) 

Yes 

We will increase the overall 
number of green flags in the 
GMC’s national trainee survey 

N/A 20 More than 
20 

54 Yes 

We will obtain a minimum score of 
0.5 for placement satisfaction for 
all student placements as 
measured by SOLE 

N/A 73% (academic 
year 2015/16) 

100% of 
placements 
with 0.5 or 
more 

76% 
(academic 
year 
2016/17) 

No 

We will have trained departmental 
safety coordinators in 90% of 
specialties 

N/A 90.99% 90% 
departments 
with trained 
coordinators 

91.87% Yes 

Page 82



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 55 

Evidence shows that staff who are engaged and happy in their jobs, respected and given 
opportunities to learn, provide better care for their patients. We have implemented a number of 
improvements to increase staff engagement throughout the organisation and to help us to 
deliver our annual targets, many of which are described throughout this section. 
 
Areas where we are proud of the improvements we have made or sustained in our Well-led 
domain are outlined below under ‘quality highlights’, areas where we have not performed as well 
as we would wish are summarised under ‘quality challenges’.  

Well-led quality highlights 

We have achieved our goal and increased the percentage of staff who would recommend our 
Trust as a place to work and as a place for treatment: We monitor staff engagement through the 
national staff survey and through our annual internal survey ‘Our Voice, Our Trust’ which was 
run between July and September 2016. 3,244 of our people responded, which represents 38 per 
cent of our total workforce.  
 
The survey included questions about whether staff would recommend the Trust to friends and 
family as a place for treatment or a place to work. We were very pleased to see a significant 
improvement in the scores for both of these; they are our best results for these two questions 
since the staff survey was introduced in November 2013.   
 
In addition to these, the top 5 performing questions across our survey were:   

 I understand how my work makes a difference to other people (96 per cent) 

 I am clear about the values and behaviours expected of me at work (95 per cent) 

 I am clear about my own objectives and responsibilities (94 per cent) 

 I am trusted to prioritise my workload myself (92 per cent) 

 Staff here are generally friendly and welcoming (89 per cent) 

Other items we scored well on include “the people in my team work together to provide a great 
service” (88 per cent) and “I am encouraged by my colleagues to report any patient safety 
concerns I may have” (83 per cent).    
 
Our staff were less positive about the following questions: 

 Senior leaders are genuinely interested in staff opinions and ideas (52 per cent) 

 I generally have enough time to complete all my work (51 per cent) 

 Senior leaders communicate well with the rest of the organisation (50 per cent) 

 Senior leaders are visible and approachable (49 per cent) 

 Poor behavior and performance is addressed effectively in this organisation (43 per cent) 

Overall, the results identified opportunities to act and improve at an organisational level based 
on staff feedback.   
 
We also focused on the way we developed and communicated our response to this survey so 
that staff see action and change resulting directly from completing it. We created a tool to 
support managers in using these results to drive improvement in their local areas, supporting the 
development of action plans and running ‘In our shoes’ focus groups, which are an opportunity 
for staff to share with each other what makes a good day and what makes a bad day at work, 
and identify what the Trust can do to improve staff experience. Over 700 employees across the 
organisation have participated.  
 
The national staff survey results were published in March 2017, and we have also seen an 
improvement. Our overall engagement score rose to 3.8 out of 5, moving us up two categories to 
'average' for all trusts of a similar type. This is the highest we have seen since 2013.  
 

Page 83



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 56 

We achieved some very positive scores, above the national average, including in three particular 
areas: 

 percentage of staff appraised in the past 12 months (92 per cent against an average of 87 
per cent) 

 staff satisfaction with the quality of work and care they are able to deliver (4.04 out of 5, 
against an average of 3.96) 

 quality of non-mandatory training, learning or development (4.10 out of 5, against an 
average of 4.05) 

 
While we are beginning to see the impact of a range of improvements at all levels, the survey 
results also make it clear we still have much more to do. Some of our lowest scores relate to 
staff experiencing and reporting violence at work. We have established a task group to oversee 
an action plan to tackle the unacceptable level of violent incidents. We also reported below 
average scores in relation to the workforce race equality standard: 

 31 per cent of staff surveyed reported that they had experienced harassment, bullying or 
abuse from staff in the last 12 months against an average of 25 per cent. 

 80 per cent of staff surveyed believed the Trust provides equal opportunities for career 
progression or promotion against an average of 87 per cent. 

 
We are currently looking into the reasons why our scores are higher than average for these 
questions and developing a Trustwide response and action plan. To ensure we improve, we will 
be training more managers in addressing bullying and harassment, as well as further promoting 
general awareness of dignity and respect at work. We will also review the recruitment and 
training selection content to raise awareness of unconscious bias and ensure that each interview 
panel has at least one member who has been trained.  
 
We have slightly decreased our voluntary turnover rate: Although we have not met our target, we 
are pleased that we have seen a slight decrease in staff voluntarily leaving the Trust this year. A 
key aspect of reducing the voluntary turnover rate is to ensure staff have the opportunity for 
career progression, feel their job is worthwhile and fulfilling, and they are supported to develop. 
Some of the ways we are working to ensure this include: 

 Revising our leadership development programme – building on our existing award 

winning schemes, we are further developing training programmes which focus on specific 

needs identified by our staff, including management skills, financial management, digital 

learning, data and analytics. More than 1,000 staff participated in our staff development 

programmes in 2016/17. 

 Running an active coaching and mentoring register and training programme, and an 

innovative ‘paired-learning’ programme which enables junior doctors and junior 

managers to learn together. 

 Refreshing and further developing our talent management programme and succession 

plan which identifies the highest performers and the developmental support required to 

enhance their contribution.   

 Increasing the people recruited from our existing workforce through our retention 

strategy, this includes a new quality improvement project called ‘great place to work’ 

which is looking at how we can improve the experience of staff when first joining the 

Trust.  

 Introducing our quarterly magazine, Pulse, focusing on our staff, patients and volunteers, 

boosting pride and confidence in our organisation.  

 Running our second admin and clerical network in December 2016, building on the 

success of the first and focusing particularly on career development.   

 Developing a new integrated apprenticeship scheme which aims to create a talent 

pipeline of young people able to fill band 2 or 3 posts in key areas.  

Page 84



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 57 

 Introducing a comprehensive package of benefits for staff.  

 Appointing two ‘Freedom to Speak Up Guardians’, who are overseen by one of our non-

executive directors, who encourage staff to raise concerns openly as part of normal day-

to-day practice so that action can be taken to ensure high quality, compassionate care. 

 Continuing to run monthly Schwartz Rounds (see page 19 for more information). Since 

2015, when Schwartz rounds were launched, we have hosted 23 rounds across our three 

main hospitals, attended by over 1,000 staff. 

Our sickness absence rate remains low: Low sickness absence is an indicator of effective 
leadership and good people management. This year, we have focused on embedding our 
sickness absence policy, which was launched last year. 
 
The other focus of our work has been on supporting the health and wellbeing of our staff. Our 
Occupational Health service provides a range of activities and services, including staff 
counselling, stress management services, yoga and meditation classes, weight management 
programmes, smoking cessation clinics and rapid access physiotherapy. In September 2016, we 
ran our second Healthy Living Week; a campaign of events designed to get staff fit, active and 
having fun.  
 
In addition, we are striving to improve health and safety for staff and patients alike across the 
Trust, which is supported by our departmental safety co-ordinators (DSCs – see glossary on 
page 77 for definition), who in addition to their day jobs, ensure that their department is fully 
compliant with health and safety regulations.  
 
We have increased the percentage of our doctors who have had an appraisal and are now 
above national average:  It is a national requirement that non-training grade doctors have an 
annual medical appraisal as part of the General Medical Council’s Revalidation process (see 
glossary on page 77 for definitions), during which doctors have a formal structured opportunity to 
reflect on their work and to consider how their effectiveness might be improved, with the focus 
on enhancing quality and improvements in patient care. Although we are still slightly behind our 
target of 95 per cent, we are pleased that our appraisal rates for doctors have improved 
significantly since last year. This increase is due to improved guidance and increased numbers 
of drop-in sessions for doctors with queries relating to appraisal and revalidation, and the 
implementation our revalidation and appraisal policy.  
 
We have significantly improved our results in the General Medical Council’s National Training 
Survey of junior doctors and have maintained our performance for placement satisfaction as 
measured by SOLE (student online assessment): As one of London’s largest teaching hospitals, 
we want to provide the best training for our doctors. Two important elements we use to monitor 
the satisfaction of our trainee doctors and medical students are: 

 Student Online Evaluation (SOLE): The feedback we receive from our medical 

students through the local SOLE system has previously been mixed. Our aim is to focus 

on improving their experience in a consistent manner, with the target of obtaining a 

minimum score of 0.5 (which corresponds to a ‘mostly agree’ score) for satisfaction for all 

student placements. In 2015/16, we achieved this target for 73 per cent of our 

programmes, which was an improvement of almost 50 per cent on the previous year. We 

are pleased that we have succeeded in slightly improving still further, with 76 per cent of 

students agreeing that ‘overall (they are) satisfied with their placement’ in 2016/17.  

 General Medical Council’s national training survey (GMC NTS): This annual survey 

can highlight not only problems with teaching in organisations, but also patient safety 

issues and problems with bullying and undermining. The results of the GMC NTS were 

published in July 2016. Our results have improved significantly with a reduction in red 

flags (where we are a significant national outlier) by 50 per cent. We have more than 

Page 85



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 58 

doubled the number of green flags from 20 to 54, with three times as many programmes 

having green flags than the previous year. As a result, we have gone from worst 

performing to best performing Trust compared to our peers in the Shelford Group within 

one year. Several specialties, including ophthalmology and GUM/HIV which were 

particularly challenged last year, underwent a complete transformation from multiple red 

flags to multiple green flags. We were also delighted that there were no bullying and 

undermining concerns raised by trainees in the survey this year, and a significant 

reduction in patient safety concerns.  

These improvements are the result of our comprehensive education transformation programme 
launched in 2015, which included standardising local faculty group meetings (see glossary on 
page 77 for definition), providing improved access to educational resources and renovating our 
education centres and teaching rooms, delivering a ‘day one ready’ induction to ensure trainees 
are fully equipped to start their roles on the first day in their departments, and delivering a faculty 
development programme for unit training leads and educational supervisors. 
 
Since the results of the survey, we have been focusing on sustaining the improvements made 
and driving further change by: 

 Sharing good practice from the specialties with green flags; 

 Conducting focused specialty reviews, chaired by the medical director, with specialties 
that are still challenged; 

 Embedding time for education in job plans and making it sustainable; 

 Supporting the development of the multi-professional workforce through the 
implementation of the integrated education strategy;  

 Working to ensure the new junior doctor contract is implemented with educational 
expectations and standards maintained. We have appointed a guardian of safe working 
to ensure safe working of junior doctors in the Trust. The guardian runs quarterly junior 
doctor forums and reports to the board highlighting rota exceptions (where hours have 
been exceeded) and fines imposed as a result, and gaps in the junior doctor rota. 100 
‘exception reports’ have been received in the Trust so far this year, with no confirmed 
breaches requiring fines to be paid.  

 
We re-ran our ward accreditation programme and saw improvements in 25 wards: Following our 
CQC inspection in September 2014, we launched our own internal programme of ward 
inspection to carry out regular checks and instigate immediate improvement where necessary. 
Our ward accreditation programme (WAP) is designed to support ward, unit and department 
managers to understand how they deliver care, identify what works well and where further 
improvements are needed. Areas are assessed against a number of criteria, and given a rating, 
from gold (achieving highest standards with evidence in data) to white (not achieving minimum 
standards and no evidence of active improvement work).  
 
We ran our first WAP in 2015; our second was run between July and December 2016. Overall, 
out of 75 areas reviewed, 25 had improved since last year. The QI team is supporting 
improvement projects on individual wards to help address their key issues. Overall Trust results 
are summarised below: 

 Leadership: there has been a significant improvement in this domain, with 6 areas rated 

white for this element in 2016, compared to 13 in 2015.  

 Record keeping: only one area was rated white in 2016, compared to 7 in 2015.  

 Meals (nutrition and hydration): we continue to have good results in this category. 

Examples observed include efficient services with staff assisting patients where needed, 

facilities for families and carers, and hot drinks machines being available. 

 Communication: this was rated gold in 19 areas this year.  Examples of good practice 
include: intensive support rounds with the general manager, senior nurse and discharge 

Page 86



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 59 

team; good multi-disciplinary team working; excellent handover practice; and effective 
huddles and safety briefings.  

 Environment: we continue to struggle in this area with issues often a result of our old 
estate. However there were also problems such as poorly organised storage and 
overstocking, and some dirty equipment. Actions are in place through the estates and 
facilities quality committee. Monthly environment walkrounds are taking place and the 
divisions are managing specific issues in their clinical areas to drive improvements.  

 Medicines administration and storage: there were some examples of failure to comply 
with medication safety checks and storage standards. Medicines safety is one of our key 
safety priority areas and work is being taken forward by the Medicines Safety Group. We 
also ran task and finish groups with some of the wards who had issues in this area. With 
the QI team, they developed improvements including standardised locks for medicine 
pods, improved signage for medicines and controlled drug cupboards and a standard for 
medicines administration.  

 
Well-led quality challenges:  
We have not increased the percentage of staff who have had a performance development 
review (PDR): Our appraisal scheme ‘Performance Development and Review (PDR)’ for staff, 
excluding doctors, is aimed at driving a new performance culture across the Trust. Although we 
are below target and below last year’s result, our PDR rate remains high with over 7,200 staff 
completing their PDR with their manager within the designated timeframe of April–
September 2016. This year, we revised the PDR process with a new emphasis on our values 

and behaviours, improved quality of objectives and on-going regular performance conversations 
between annual reviews to improve the link between individual and organisational objectives. 
We have continued to run training sessions to ensure that managers have the tools and skills to 
have high quality performance conversations with all their staff. Despite the reduction in 
numbers, 92 per cent of staff responded that they had had an appraisal in the last two months in 
the national staff survey. We also believe that the 94 per cent of our staff who stated that they 
were clear about their objectives and responsibilities in our internal engagement survey shows 
that the PDR process is having a positive impact. We will continue to embed and improve the 
process in 2017/18.  
 
We have not achieved our target of 90 per cent of staff being compliant with core skills training: 
Our core skills training programme ensures the safety and well-being of all our staff and patients; 
this includes modules which have a direct impact on patient safety. The percentage of staff who 
have completed all the core skills modules has slightly decreased this year; we continue to 
target areas where compliance is particularly low. We have also embedded compliance in the 
PDR process so that managers review compliance as part of normal performance management. 
We are reviewing all mandatory training modules to streamline them and make them more 
effective which will reduce the total number which staff are required to undertake.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 60 

The Acute Quality Schedule 2016/17 

Each year, we agree a number of quality metrics with our commissioners which we are required 
to deliver as part of our contract. These include nationally mandated metrics, as well as locally 
agreed ones.  Our commissioners monitor our performance with these indicators throughout the 
year through the Clinical Quality Group. They include most of the quality strategy priority goals 
and targets described above. We have achieved the majority of the quality schedule metrics 
throughout the year and have agreed plans with our commissioners to help us improve in areas 
where we have not performed consistently, including in the following key areas: 
 

Maternity performance indicators 
The quality schedule includes 10 key targets to drive improvement in maternity care. We 
achieved the following six targets in all four quarters this year: 

 90 per cent breastfeeding initiation rate within 48 hours of the baby’s birth 

 95 per cent of maternity booking assessments in 12 weeks and 6 days 

 95 per cent of women receiving one-to-one midwife care in established labour   

 Less than 5 per cent of women smoking at the time of delivery 

 Less than 13 per cent of women having an elective caesarean section 

 Less than 6 per cent of women experiencing 3rd or 4th degree tears 

We met the target for 100% of pregnant women with a named midwife/named team since July 
2016.  
 
Home births: 
The number of women giving birth at home remains below the threshold of 1 per cent. Maternal 
choice is the main factor driving this. This is being driven by the popularity of our co-located 
‘home from home’ midwifery led birth centres in which 17 per cent of our women choose to give 
birth. We continue to strive to increase home birth choices where clinically appropriate. 
 
Percentage of women having a non-elective caesarean section  
Performance against this target continues to fluctuate. We continue to work on improving the 
induction of labour patient pathway and share learning from case reviews of all non-elective 
caesarean sections to support improved performance.  

 
Postpartum haemorrhage 
Our performance against this target continues to fluctuate, with an average of 3.0 per cent 
against a target of 2.8 per cent. We have an action plan in place, and are seeing improvements; 
we met the target in three out of four of the last months.  

 
In addition to the work outlined above to improve our maternity care, we are also taking forward 
recommendations from two national reviews:  

 ‘Better births’, which considers how maternity services needed to change to meet the 
needs of the population, and to ensure that learning from the Morecambe Bay 
Investigation is embedded throughout the NHS, and;  

 ‘Saving babies’ lives’ which aims to reduce stillbirths across the UK. This includes four 
key elements: reducing smoking in pregnancy; risk assessment and surveillance for fetal 
growth restriction; raising awareness of reduced fetal movement; and effective fetal 
monitoring during labour.  

 
Safeguarding training 
We are committed to the protection and safeguarding (see glossary on page 77 for definition) of 
all patients, including children and young people. As part of this, we provide staff with different 
levels of safeguarding training, depending on their role. Throughout 2016/17, compliance with 
training has remained below our target of 90 per cent, this is an important but challenging priority 
for us.  

Page 88



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 61 

 
Level 1 & 2 training for both adult and child training is delivered via e-learning modules. We have 
communication plans in place to improve compliance, including regular reminders to staff and 
reviews of monthly compliance reports with managers.  In addition, all staff are now required to 
confirm that they are up to date with their core mandatory training as part of their annual 
personal development review; a failure to do so can prevent them progressing to the next pay 
increment.  We have incorporated Prevent awareness training into the level 1 and 2 adult 
safeguarding training and have seen significant improvements in the uptake as a result, meaning 
we met our target of over 60 per cent compliance with Prevent training in December 2016, with 
72% of appropriate staff trained by March 2017. In addition, we have increased the number of 
WRAP (Workshop to raise awareness of Prevent) facilitators and training sessions which has 
supported more staff to undertake this training.  
 
Level 3 child safeguarding is delivered as a four hour face-to-face session. To improve 
compliance, we run three training sessions each month and have introduced bespoke sessions 
to support areas that can’t release staff at the set times. 
 
Further work we are undertaking to improve our safeguarding practices includes: 

 Launching a joint adult and child action group in December which will be visiting areas 
across the trust throughout the coming year. It involves representatives from the adult 
and child safeguarding team visiting areas to answer questions about a range of 
safeguarding issues, aiming to be educational and supportive.  

 Continuing to develop close links with Standing Together and Red Thread to support 
victims of domestic violence and gang related violence. Members of these organisations 
are embedded in the A&E department at St Mary’s and in the maternity service. 

 Working in partnership with local authority safeguarding forums. 

 Working with Central North West London NHS Foundation Trust to support training at 
ward level in requirements of the Mental Health Act, Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation 
of Liberty Safeguards.  

 
We have not reported any SIs related to safeguarding in 2016/17.  
 

Page 89



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 62 

The NHS Outcomes framework indicators 2016/17 

The NHS Outcomes Framework 2016/17 sets out high level national outcomes which the NHS should be aiming to improve. The framework 
provides indicators which have been chosen to measure these outcomes. An overview of the indicators and our performance is outlined in the table 
below. Some of this data is repeated because we chose to include these indicators as our quality strategy targets for 2016/17. It is important to note 
that whilst these indicators must be included in the quality accounts, the most recent national data available for the reporting period is not always 
data for the most recent financial year. Where this is the case, the time period used is noted underneath. This data is included in line with reporting 
arrangements issued by NHS England. Further information about what we are doing to improve our performance can be found in the individual 
target pages. 
 
Indicator ICHT 2016/17 National 

Average 
(Median 

Reporting 
Rates) 

Where 
Applicable - 

Best 
performer 

Where 
Applicable 

- Worst 
Performer 

Trust Statement 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 

SHMI 
value 
and 
banding 
(Oct 
2015 – 
Sept 
2016) 

78.05 
Band 3 
(band 3 = 
lower than 
expected) 

100 69 116 Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
• it is drawn from nationally reported data  
• We were one of only 8 NHS trusts nationally that have consistently recorded 
a lower than expected SHMI rate for the last two years. 
• We have reported a lower than expected SHMI rate for the last three years.  
• ICHT has the fourth lowest SHMI of all acute non-specialist providers in 
England.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this rate, and so the quality 
of our services, by: 
• Continuing to work to eliminate avoidable harm and improve outcomes. 

• Reviewing every death which occurs in our Trust and implementing learning 

as a result.  

73.8 
Band 3  

 

73.17 
Band 3 

 

Band 3 

% of 
admitted 
deaths 
with 
palliative 
care 
coded 
(Oct 
2015 – 
Sept 
2016) 

54.9% 29.7% N/A N/A Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from nationally reported data.  
• it shows we have the highest rate of palliative care coding as measured by 
this indicator of all acute non-specialist providers. 
• We are confident that we have a robust process in place to ensure that we 
are coding patients correctly. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
• Continuing to work to improve the accuracy of our clinical coding.  

53.5%  

 
24.6% 

 
32.70% 

Patient 
reported 
outcome 

* 
(Low sample 
size) 

EQ-5D: 
0.089 

N/A N/A Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the independently administered NHS Digital PROMS 

* 
(low 

* 
(low 
sample 

0.327 

P
age 90



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 63 

scores 
(PROMs) 
for groin 
hernia 
surgery 
(April - 
Septemb
er 2016) 

EQ-VAS: -
0.1 

 

database. 
• We had no cases assessed for health gain for three of the four PROMs 
procedures as the data was supressed to protect patient confidentiality. 
Therefore, ICHT has no reportable PROMs outcome scores for groin hernia 
for the period April-September 2016.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
• implementing our action plan and working with our external agency to 
improve submission rates to allow health gain to be calculated and 
improvements directed appropriately.  
 
See pages 39-40 for further information.  

sample 
size) 

 

 

  

 
 

size) 

PROMs 
for 
varicose 
vein 
surgery 
(April - 
Septemb
er 2016) 

EQ-5d: 0.083 
EQ-VAS: 0.3 
Aberdeen: -0.1 

EQ-5D: 
0.099 
EQ-VAS: 
1.4 
Aberdeen: -
8.5 

N/A N/A Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the independently administered NHS Digital PROMS 
database. 
• It shows that we had below average reported health gain for varicose vein 
procedures in this time period for two out of the three indexes measured. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
•See pages 39-40 for information on our improvement plans. 

EQ-5D: 
0.046 EQ 
VAS: 
1.110 
Aberdeen 
varicose 
vein 
score: -
2.050 

0.054 
 

0.474 

PROMs 
for hip 
replacem
ent 
surgery 
(April - 
Septemb
er 2016) 

* 
(Low sample 
size) 

EQ-5D: 
0.449 
EQ-VAS: 
13.7 
Oxford: 22 
 

N/A N/A Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the independently administered NHS Digital PROMS 
database. 
• We had no cases assessed for health gain for three of the four PROMs 
procedures as the data was supressed to protect patient confidentiality. 
Therefore, ICHT has no reportable PROMs outcome scores for hip 
replacement for the period April-September 2016.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
• implementing our action plan and working with our external agency to 
improve submission rates to allow health gain to be calculated and 
improvements directed appropriately.  
 
See pages 39-40 for further information. 

EQ-5D: 
0.451 EQ 
VAS: 
12.607 
Oxford 
Hip 
Score: 
22.695  
 

* 
(Low 
sample 
size) 
 

0.324 

P
age 91



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 64 

PROMs 
for knee 
replacem
ent 
surgery 
(April - 
Septemb
er 2016) 

* 
(Low sample 
size) 

EQ-5D: 
0.337 
EQ-VAS: 
8.1 
Oxford:16.9 

N/A N/A Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the independently administered NHS Digital PROMS 
database. 
• We had no cases assessed for health gain for three of the four PROMs 
procedures as the data was supressed to protect patient confidentiality. 
Therefore, ICHT has no reportable PROMs outcome scores for knee 
replacement for the period April-September 2016.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
• implementing our action plan and working with our external agency to 
improve submission rates to allow health gain to be calculated and 
improvements directed appropriately. See pages 39-40 for further information. 

EQ-5D: 
0.323 EQ 
VAS: 
10.729 
Oxford 
Knee 
Score: 
15.187 

* 
(Low 
sample 
size) 

0.77 

28 day 
readmiss
ion rate 
for 
patients 
aged 0-
15  

(Dr 
Foster 
data – 
Oct 15-
Sept 
2016) 

5.15% 8.97% N/A N/A Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
• it is drawn from the nationally reported data obtained from Dr Foster 
• we have maintained our low  unplanned readmission rate for both paediatric 
patients and adult patients with both rates remaining below national average 
throughout the year.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
• Through our clinical strategy, continuing to ensure we treat and discharge 
patients appropriately so that they do not require unplanned readmission. 
• Working to tackle long-standing pressures around demand, capacity and 
patient flow.  

4.81% 
(Jan-Dec 
2015) 

6.31% 5.95% 

28 day 
readmiss
ion rate 
for 
patients 
aged 16 
or over  

(Dr 
Foster 
data – 
Oct 15-
Sept 
2016) 

6.64 % 7.98% N/A N/A See above. 7.39%  
(Jan-Dec 
2015) 

8.84% 7.90% 

P
age 92



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 65 

% of 
staff who 
would 
recomm
end the 
provider 
to 
friends 
or family 
needing 
care 

70% 70% Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the nationally reported data from the National Staff Survey 
which was published in March 2017.  
• The results show an improvement in our national staff FFT score compared 
to last year, which is now average for acute trusts.  
Results from our local engagement survey also show an improvement, with 
83% of staff recommending the Trust. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
•See pages 54-55 for information on our improvement plans. 

68%  
 

71% 69% 

% of 
admitted 
patients 
risk-
assesse
d for 
VTE  

95.33% (full 
year of data) 
 
 

95.64% 
(Q3 16/17) 

100% 
(Q3 16/17) 

76.48% 
(Q3 16/17) 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the nationally reported data published quarterly by NHS 
England. 
• Last year, an internal audit identified some issues with our data for this 
indicator which is being rectified as described on page 35.  
• we have monitored VTE risk assessments on a monthly basis throughout the 
year. We have been above the target of 95% throughout the year until 
December 2016 when we fell below 95%. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
•See page 36 for information on our improvement plans. 

95.9%  
 
 

96.56% 96% 

Rate of 
C-Diff 
per 
100,000 
bed days 

18.03  
 
(Total cases: 
63) 

14.9 
(2015/16 
data) 

0.0  
(2015/16 
data) 

66 
(2015/16 
data) 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
• it is drawn from nationally reported data 
• we monitor performance regularly through our Trust Infection Control 
Committee and weekly taskforce meeting. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
•See page 36 for information on our improvement plans. 

21.7 
(73) 

24.1  
(79) 

19.4 
 (58) 

Respons
iveness 
to 
inpatient
s 
personal 
needs: 
National 
Inpatient 
survey 
score 

79 
[national 
inpatient 
survey overall 
score – 
published July 
2016] 
 
6.74  
[responsivene
ss score – 

Not 
available 

90 75 Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: 
• it is drawn from the nationally reported data from the National Inpatient 
Survey which was published in July 2016. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
•See pages 43-44 for information on our improvement plans. 

75.8 
[national 
inpatient 
survey 
overall 
score – 
published 
May 2015] 

 
6.82 

74.4 
[overall 
score] 

 
6.78 
[responsi
veness 
score] 
 

76.2 
[overall 
score] 
 
6.64 
[responsi
veness 
score] 
 

P
age 93



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 66 

published July 
2016] 

[responsiv
eness 
score – 
published 
May 2015] 

Rate of 
reported 
patient 
safety 
incidents 
per 1,000 
bed days  
 

(NRLS 
data Apr 
16 – Sept 
16) 

42.3  
(7,532 
incidents) 

40.02 71.81 21.15 Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• the NRLS data is nationally reported and verified. 
• The data shows all incidents reported by ICHT for the period April – Sept 
2016: our incident reporting rate for this period was 42.3 against a median 
peer reporting rate of 40.02.  
• Our individual incident reporting data is made available by the NRLS on a 
monthly basis; there has been an improvement in our performance since 
September 2016, and except for February 2017, we have been consistently 
above the top quartile since then. 
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
• Improving how we report, manage and learn from incidents as part of our 

safety culture work. See page 33-34 for further information. 

41.38 
(NRLS 
published 
data April-
Sept 
2015) 

 
 

42.98(NR
LS 
published 
data April 
2014 – 
Sept 
2014) 
 
 

6.5 (data 
reported 
per 100 
admissio
ns) 

% of 
patient 
safety 
incidents 
reported 
that 
resulted 
in 
severe/m
ajor 
harm or 
extreme 
harm/de
ath  

 
(NRLS 
data Apr-
Sep 16) 

0.1% (severe 
harm) 
 
0.0% (extreme 
harm/death) 

0.3% 
(severe 
harm) 
 
0.1% 
(extreme 
harm/death
) 

0.0% 
(severe 
harm) 
 
0.0% 
(extreme 
harm/death) 

1.4% 
(severe 
harm) 
 
0.5% 
(extreme 
harm/death
) 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the nationally reported data from the NRLS published in 
March 2017. 
•We reported 0.1% severe/major harm incidents (7 incidents) compared to a 
national average of 0.3%, and 0.0% extreme/death incidents (2 incidents) 
compared to a national average of 0.1%.  
• We have also achieved a reduction in the number of incidents causing 
extreme harm/death or severe/major harm with a total of 28 in 2016/17, 
compared to 31 reported in 2015/16.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by:•See pages 33 for information on our improvement 
plans. 
 

0.1% - 
severe/ma
jor harm 
(8 
incidents) 
 
0.1% - 
extreme 
harm/deat
h (5 
incidents ) 

 
(NRLS 
data April-
Sept 
2015) 

0.1% 
severe/m
ajor harm 
incidents 
(13 
incidents) 
 
0.3% 
extreme 
harm/dea
th 
incidents 
(19 
incidents) 
 
(NRLS 
data 
April-
Sept 
2014) 

0.3% 
 (38 
incidents) 

P
age 94



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 67 

Inpatient 
Friends 
& Family 
Test 

97%  
(April 2016 – 
March 2017) 

96% 
(April 2016 
– March 
2017) 

100% 
(March 
2017) 

82% 
(March 
2017) 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the nationally reported data 
• we have actively monitored our performance throughout the year.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
•See pages 43-44 for information on our improvement plans. 

97%  95% 95%  

A&E 
Friends 
& Family 
Test 

 

95% (April 
2016 – March 
2017) 

86% (April 
2016 – 
March 
2017) 

100% 
(March 
2017) 

34% 
(March201
7) 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
• it is drawn from the nationally reported data 
• we have actively monitored our performance throughout the year.  
 
We intend to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of our services, by: 
•See page 44 for information on our improvement plans. 
                                                                                    

95%  89% 91.9%  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 95



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 68 

 

Statements from 
stakeholders 
(to be inserted once received) 
 
 

Page 96



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 69 

 

Goal: To eliminate 

avoidable harm to patients 

in our care as shown 

through a reduction in the 

number of incidents 

causing severe and 

extreme harm. 

CQC domain: People are 

protected from abuse and 

avoidable harm 

.

Aim Primary drivers Secondary drivers

Develop organisational 

infrastructure to 

support the safest 

possible care. 

Empower staff and 

patients to speak out 

and fix problems.

Promote a culture of 

openness, reflective 

learning and 

improvement. Develop operational definition of duty of candour to help patients receive accurate, truthful and timely 

information. 

Ensure teams are able to track patient preparation, medications, specimens taken, equipment used, 

and procedure times.

Improve feedback and learning from patient safety incidents, complaints and compliments.

Provide education and training opportunities.

Promote openness and honesty about issues affecting quality and safety without fear of retribution. 

Organise workstreams and provide organisational focus to drive improvements in areas where we 

report the most frequent numbers of incidents. 

Strengthen governance structures across the Trust and within divisions and directorates.

Work with staff and patients to co-design a culture of safety programme. 

Encourage staff to speak up when things go wrong. 

Promote collective leadership where everyone takes responsibility for the safety of patients.

Improve team function 

and care processes. 

Develop and reward excellent team leaders e.g. focusing on ward managers and matrons.

Increase awareness of patient safety concepts and best practice.

Ensure staff can locate necessary information about a patient’s health status. 

Improve processes and staff experience of recording incidents and near misses. 

Ensure policies and procedures are up to date and used in clinical practice. 

Minimise the risk of infection through adoption of standard precautions. 

Improve ordering of equipment and supplies so everything needed for each patient’s care is safe and 

readily available. 

Use rigorous improvement methods to design, test and implement changes. 

Appendix A - Safe Driver Diagram 

P
age 97



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 70 

 

ICHT goal:

To show continuous 

improvement in national 

clinical audits with no 

negative outcomes

CQC domain:

People’s care, treatment 

and support achieves 

good outcomes, 

promotes good quality of 

life and is based on the 

best available evidence. 

Aim
Primary drivers Secondary drivers

Improve outcomes and reduce 

variation.

Ensure data drives improvement 

and team decision-making.

Translate research, development 

and technological advances into 

changes to clinical practice.

Continue to promote pioneering research into diagnostic methods and 

treatments.

Ensure clinical teams own and use their data.

Ensure patient data is stored, shared and used in line with information 

governance requirements. 

Support active learning when things go wrong e.g. through the mortality 

review programme.

Standardise practices across the organisation, ensuring they are in line 

with national standards, guidelines and policy.

Translate successful improvements into other areas of clinical practice.

Ensure timely and appropriate participation of patients in clinical trials.

Support transformation of patient care through innovation e.g. delivery of 

the 100,000 genomes project. 

Improve data quality and transparency through business intelligence.

Improve the accuracy of clinical coding. 

Collaborate with research partners e.g. Imperial College London, 
CLAHRC, the PSTRC, NIHR and regional research networks.

Learn from best practice, locally, nationally and internationally e.g. 

through audit and peer review. 

Ensure equipment and supplies are safe, clean and up-to-date.

Improve the availability and quality of medical records. 

Effective driver diagram 
 

P
age 98



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 71 

 
 

   

ICHT goal:
To provide our patients 
with the best possible 
experience by increasing 
the percentage of 
inpatients and A&E 
patients who would 
recommend our Trust to 
friends and family if they 
needed similar care or 
treatment to 94%.

CQC domain:
Staff involve and treat 
people with compassion, 
kindness, dignity and 
respect.

.

Aim Primary drivers Secondary drivers

Strengthen the involvement of 

patients, families and carers in 

their care 

Invest in staff through 

knowledge, skills and education   

Develop a patient centred

organisation

Ensure impact on patient experience is considered during every service 

development or review.

Improve feedback & learning from events, complaints and compliments.

Ensure our sites are easy to access and navigate through programmes 

such as our wayfinding strategy.

Ensure our patient facing services e.g. transport, have patient experience 

at their heart.

Provide patient information that is clear and accessible to all.

Involve the  public in all aspects of the Trust’s work, e.g. through the PPI 

strategy.

Promote openness and honesty at all times, e.g. through duty of candour 

Deliver improvements to key services e.g. outpatients, A&E, dementia 

and cancer care. 

Ensure team ownership of patient feedback data.

.

Translate patient feedback into 

positive changes

Improve mechanisms for capturing patient feedback.

Provide support and training for staff in dealing with difficult situations. 

Develop excellent team leaders, including ward managers and matrons.

Empower staff to fix problems themselves through quality improvement. 

Embed the Trust values into all interactions between staff, patients and the public.

Caring driver diagram 

P
age 99



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 72 

 
 

ICHT goal:

To consistently meet all 

relevant national access 

standards.

CQC domain:

Services are organised 

so that they meet 

people’s needs

.

Aim
Primary drivers Secondary drivers

Improve choice and access to 

services for our local population.

Ensure patients receive timely 

care through proactive patient 

management.

Ensure care is always provided 

in an appropriate setting.

Enable staff to solve problems and make decisions through criteria led 

discharge and shared escalation practice.

Eliminate unnecessary patient moves.

Actively manage waiting lists and reduce waiting times for treatment 

wherever possible.

Support patient self-management of long term conditions.

Improve transport services to and from hospital.

Develop proactive relationships across hospital boundaries including with 

practitioners in primary, community and mental health settings.

Provide clinical expertise in the community e.g. access to specialist 

advice, specialist outreach, ambulatory care and day case surgery.

Improve quality and timeliness of patient discharge e.g. discharge to 

assess.

.
Ensure care settings are  responsive to the needs of the patients using 

them.  

Ensure patients are admitted to the right care setting first time round.

Proactive workforce planning around the needs of patients 7 days a week 

e.g. pooling of junior doctor capacity / consultant job planning.

Ensure data is accurate and available to inform clinical decision making.

Optimise timing of senior and expert clinical decisions for patients.

Develop efficient and integrated patient pathways. 

Involve patients, families and carers in shared decision making about care 

and discharge.

Responsive driver diagram 

P
age 100



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 73 

 
 

ICHT goal:
To increase the 
percentage of our people 
who would recommend 
this Trust to friends and 
family as a place to work 
or a place for treatment on 
a year-by-year basis.

CQC domain:
The leadership, 
management and 
governance of the 
organisation assures the 
delivery of high quality 
person-centred care, 
supports learning and 
innovation, and promotes 
an open and fair culture.

.

Aim
Build leadership and 

improvement capacity and 

capability at all levels

Create universal commitment to 

the Trust’s aims and objectives

Develop effective organisational

infrastructure (governance and 

staffing structures)

Ensure effective staffing levels and working patterns are in place.

Widen community involvement in developing our organisation, e.g. 

through our apprenticeship and volunteering programmes. 

Value feedback and learning. 

Empower and engage staff across hierarchies including embedding our 

new management structures. 

Build a critical mass of people with QI expertise.

Deliver an improved leadership development programme which focuses 

on the needs of our managers.

Promote openness and honesty at all times; empowering staff to speak 

up when they have concerns. 

Develop effective recruitment, attraction  and onboarding strategies 

Develop strategies with our partners in North West London to improve the 

health of our communities e.g. through the STP.

.

Create an organisational culture 

of hearing staff and patient voice

Ensure we consult, listen to and involve the public in decisions about our 

services.

Prioritise staff mental and physical health and wellbeing. 

Partner with staff and staff representatives to develop a team based and 

supportive culture.  

Strengthen ways of capturing staff voice, e.g. through ‘In Our Shoes’ and 

our engagement survey. 

Create capacity and opportunities to implement improvements.

Develop a culture which celebrates and rewards achievement.

Focus on retaining staff e.g. through effective talent management. 

Well-led driver diagram 

P
age 101



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 74 

 
Appendix B: National Clinical Audit  
National Audits 
reported 2016/17 

Outcomes Improvements made, or to be 
made as a result 

Coronary 
Angioplasty/National 
Audit of Percutaneous 
Coronary 
Interventions (PCI) 

For cases coming direct from the 
community our performance was better 
than the average reported in the national 
report, performance was worse for 
patients transferring from another hospital, 
however this is outside of our control 

There are no specific actions  

End of Life Care 
Audit: Dying in 
Hospital 

We achieved above average for all End of 
Life quality indicators, however were 
below average for the organisational 
indicators.  

•Deliver improved training for staff, 
including around advanced care 
planning, communication and 
DNACPR decision making 
•Improve documentation of 
assessment and support around 
artificial hydration/nutrition 
•Review care of the dying patient 
policy/guidelines. 

National Diabetes 
Audit – Adults Foot 
care 2014-2016 

The Trust reported fewer deaths than 
average with healing rates in keeping with 
national average 

•Review systems to ensure that on 
discharge, patients can still have 
access to service as “new” without 
referral 
•Review of non-medic supported 
Foot Clinic sessions. 

Renal Replacement 
Therapy (Renal 
Registry) 

The Trust performs well against the audit 
criteria 

There are no specific actions 

MBRRACE - UK 
Perinatal Mortality 
Surveillance Report 

We had a neonatal mortality rate and 
stillbirth rate which is up to 10% higher 
than average (data is for 2014).  
 

•Introduction of weekly neonatal 
grand rounds with increased and 
regular input from Microbiology and 
the Infectious Disease team; 
•Introduction of monthly neonatal 
M&M meeting where all neonatal 
deaths are discussed with learning 
points disseminated to all neonatal 
staff; 
•Validation of all neonatal mortality 
and stillbirths on monthly basis 
through named neonatal and 
maternity consultants; 
•Strengthening the neonatal nursing 
leadership; 
•Implementation of 24/7 Consultant 
Delivered Care model on level 3 
NICU. 

Diabetes (Paediatric) 
(NPDA) 

We are in the top 3% for completion of 
care and the top 10% for outcomes of 
care. 

There are no specific actions 

National Diabetes 
Audit - Adults In-
patient 

The specialist nature of the trust means 
we are an outlier for end stage renal 
failure prevalence at HH and active foot 
disease prevalence at SMH 

•Fully implement education strategy 
including an in-house inpatient 
diabetes course; 
•Incorporate insulin safety into 
junior doctors’ induction. 

National Emergency 
Laparotomy Audit 
(NELA) 

Our results have improved since the last 
report 

•Improve consultant review before 
surgery and of CT scans 

National Heart Failure Our performance meets NICE guidelines •Appointed heart failure consultant 
and additional heart failure nurses.  

Rheumatoid and Early We do not currently meet all the audit •Establish a named Arthritis 

Page 102



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 75 

Inflammatory Arthritis standards Pathway Coordinator to align 

appointments and investigations 

•Establish dedicated,  weekly , one-

stop EIA clinic including ultrasound 

assessment and specialist nursing 

National Oesophago-
gastric cancer 

The Trust performs well against the audit 
criteria 

All recommendations and actions 

have been implemented by the 

service 

National Hip Fracture 
Database 

The audit identified issues with delay in 
time to an orthopaedic ward, patients in 
receipt of pre-op AMTS and a higher than 
average mortality rate.  

•The ANPs will as part of clerking 
include a mental assessment, with 
the orthopaedic SHO doing this out 
of hours. 
•Mortality rates to be monitored via 
Trust process and HDU provision 
considered as part of the critical 
care re-organisation.  

Inflammatory Bowel 
Disease Programme 
(IBD) 

Our results improved for one of the audit 
criteria and remained the same for two.  

•Weekly Virtual Biological MDT 
established to discuss and review 
treatment for all patients on 
biological therapy.  
•Weekly IBD MDT established to 
discuss cases of complex IBD in a 
multidisciplinary setting. 

National Intensive and 
Special Care (NNAP) 

We have improved for 3/7 of the audit 
criteria and remained the same for the 
other 4. 

•Ensure temperatures meet 
required standards 
•Ensure ROP screening results are 
entered into the electronic records 
•Implement QI project to improve 
consultation with parents.  

National Joint 
Registry 

No concerns identified by the report There are no specific actions 

Specialist 
Rehabilitation 
following major Injury 

We meet all the audit criteria. •Work with commissioners and 
Major Trauma Network to improve 
service provision 

Sentinel Stroke 
National Audit 
Programme (SSNAP) 

Our performance has been rated ‘good’ in 
the SSNAP since April 2014.  

•Work with North West London 
Stroke Steering Group tom improve 
bed availability  
•Recruit speech and language 
therapist 

National Vascular 
Registry 
 

All surgeons are in range for infrarenal 
aneurysm with a rate of 0.7%.  Carotid 
stroke rate is 3.5% with all surgeons in 
expected range 

•Focus on reducing length of stay 
and wait times for CEA after 
symptoms. 
 

Paediatric Intensive 
Care (PICANet) 
 

The audit shows good performance in 
terms of mortality rates and emergency 
readmissions, however nursing 
establishment is lower than the 
recommendations  

•Review nursing establishment 

National Lung Cancer 
Audit –Consultant 
Outcomes 

Our mortality rates are good when 
compared nationally 

•Recruit additional thoracic surgeon 
•Agree funding for additional 
Macmillan Nurse 

MBRRACE - UK 
Maternal Mortality 
Surveillance Report 

Audit identifies variable practice  •Establish an accepted method of 
cardiac assessment and liaise with 
reproductive medicine. 
•Initiate referrals from cardiology 
and establish referral pathway 
•Enquire at maternity booking re 
family history of sudden death 

Page 103



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 76 

National Prostate 
Cancer Audit  

Trust outcomes are broadly in line with 
national average 
 

All recommendations and actions 
have been implemented by the 
service 

National Bowel 
Cancer Audit  

To be confirmed All recommendations and actions 
have been implemented by the 
service 

NCEPOD Physical 
and mental health 
care of mental health 
patients in acute 
hospitals 

Trust level outcomes not included  There are no specific 
recommendations 

National Lung Cancer The Trust performs well against the audit 
criteria 

There are no specific actions 

National Chronic 
Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease 
(COPD) Audit 
Programme 

The Trust performs well against the audit 
criteria 

The majority of the report’s 
recommendations are already in 
place.  

Myocardial Ischaemia 
National Audit Project 
(MINAP) 

Trust level outcomes not included All recommendations and actions 
have been implemented by the 
service 

Cardiac Rhythm 
Management Devices  

Trust level outcomes not included There are no specific 
recommendations 

National Audit of 
Pulmonary 
Hypertension 

Time from diagnosis of chronic 
thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension 
at PH centres to pulmonary 
endarterectomy surgery at Papworth 
Hospital is too long - this affects all PH 
centres 

All actions are implemented with 
work continuing to refer appropriate 
patients to Papworth Hospital within 
5 days. 

Procedural Sedation 
in Adults (care in 
emergency 
departments) – CXH 
& SMH 

We performed above average for a 
number of outcomes 

Actions are under review by the 
service 

Vital Signs in Children  We performed above average for 4/5 
standards 

Actions are under review by the 
service 

VTE risk in lower limb 
immobilisation (care in 
emergency 
departments) 

Our performance is below average Implement assessment on the 
electronic record  on admission to 
ensure that adequate assessment 
is taking place 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 77 

Appendix C: Local Clinical Audit 
 

Local Audits reported 2016/17 Improvements made, or to be made, as a result 

CCG Discharge Letter Audit •Escalation process for concerns established with CCG 

A&E Safety Audit  •Development of further tools to validate patient data. 
•Staff to update patients movement in real time 
•Develop options on Cerner for reasons for non-documentation of 
patient’s information to capture data  

Duty of Candour – Annual Review •Full action plan implemented (for further details see page 35) 

Elective Weekend Mortality  •Include review of admission route and type to the clinical coding 
validation process that already exists for mortality cases 
•Ensure booking processes clearly embed the need for pre-
assessment 

Safer invasive procedures audit •Full action plan implemented (for further details see page 34-35) 

Haematological Cancers: 
improving outcomes – NG47  

•Re-examine workload and staffing levels 
 

Jaundice in Newborn Babies 
under 28 days – CG098  

•Review current practice and develop a tool that identifies babies 
at risk of developing jaundice.  

Routine Preoperative Tests for 
Elective Surgery – NG045  
 

•Preoperative assessment clinics should examine whether a Full 
Blood Count test is required by taking into account the patient’s 
ASA score and the severity of the surgery. 

VTE Compliance Audit  •Full action plan implemented (for further details see page 36) 

A study into patient satisfaction on 
neurosurgical ward round and 
whether a divided cranial/spinal 
ward round improves this 

•Implement split cranial/spinal ward round where possible 
 

Declined donor offers from the 
West London Renal Transplant 
Centre 

•Ensure surgeons are fully aware of responsibilities  
 

Documentation and consent 
audits – PUVA therapy 

•Implement new consent form in keeping with guidelines 
•Ensure correct training for locum staff 

Radiotherapy Patient Pathway - 
Breast 

•Review documentation system 
•Promote risk management locally 
•Review and update training and competency management 

Red Blood Cell Transfusion in 
Critical Care 

• Develop further staff training 
 

Documenting Consent for 
Anaesthesia 

• All anaesthetic pre-op assessment charts should include a note 
relating to discussion of consent 
• Nurses in PAAC should document when anaesthetic information 
leaflets given to patients 

An audit of the referral letters sent 
to the clinical genetics team 

•Template to be produced to prompt referral letters to include all 
relevant details 

IVF Cycle cancellations due to risk 
of OHSS 

•Ensure AFC is assessed for all patients prior to ovarian 
stimulation 

Management of acute pain in 
paediatric patients 

•Focus on improving the time analgesia is given in response to 
severity of pain 

Neonatal transfusion: assessment 
of QCCH neonatal unit 
compliance with local, JPAC and 
BCSH guidelines 

•Improve documentation around transfusion and transfusing older 
babies 

Use of Inotropes on ITU Audit •Improve education and training for junior doctors and nursing 
staff  
•Develop new prescribing tool  

 

 
 
 

Page 105



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 78 

Glossary 
 
Academic Health Science Centre (AHSC) – a partnership between one or more universities 
and healthcare providers focusing on research, clinical services, education and training. AHSCs 
are intended to ensure that medical research breakthroughs lead to direct clinical benefits for 
patients. 
 
Accessible Information Standard (AIS) – launched in August 2016, The standard aims to 
make sure that people who have a disability, impairment or sensory loss are provided with 
information that they can easily read or understand and with support so they can communicate 
effectively with health and social care services. 
 
Ambulatory Emergency Care (AEC) – a service where some conditions may be treated without 

the need for an overnight stay in hospital. It is a streamlined way of managing patients 
presenting to hospital who would traditionally be admitted. Instead, they can be treated in an 
ambulatory care setting and discharged the same day – offering benefits to patients, carers, and 
NHS trusts. 
 
Anti-infectives – drugs that are capable of acting against infection. They include antibacterials, 
antifungals and antivirals. These agents are often referred to collectively as antibiotics. 
 
Avoidable infections – within the Trust we define the following as ‘avoidable infections’: a case 
of MRSA BSI occurring 48 hours after admission to hospital; and a case of Clostridium difficile 
that is both PCR and toxin (EIA) positive occurring 72 hours after hospital admission when there 
is non-compliance with the antibiotic policy or the patient crossed pathways with a known case 
of the same ribotype (a method used to compare the genetic relatedness of different C. difficile 
strains). 
 
Cardiac Arrest – also known as cardiopulmonary arrest or circulatory arrest, a cardiac arrest is 
a sudden stop in blood circulation due to the failure of the heart to contract effectively or at all. 
 
Care Pathway – an outline of anticipated care in an appropriate timeframe to treat a patient’s 
condition or symptoms.  
 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) – the independent regulator of health and social care in 
England. It makes sure health and social care services provide people with safe, effective, 
caring, well-led and responsive care, and encourages care services to improve. 
 
Clinical Coding – the translation of medical terminology as written by the clinician to describe a 
patient's complaint, problem, diagnosis, treatment or reason for seeking medical attention, into a 
coded format which is nationally and internationally recognised. The use of codes ensures the 
information derived from them is standardised and comparable. 
 
Clinical Guidelines – these are recommendations of how healthcare professionals should care 
for people with specific conditions. They can cover any aspect of a condition and may include 
recommendations about providing information and advice, prevention, diagnosis, treatment and 
longer-term management. They aim to help health professionals and patients make the best 
decisions about treatment or care for a particular condition or situation. They include national 
guidelines, published by organisations such as NICE (National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence), as well as locally developed guidelines.  

Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS) – provide expert advice related to specific conditions or 

treatment pathways. They focus on improving patient care and developing services. 

Page 106

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Heart


 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 79 

Clostridium difficile – an anaerobic bacterium that can live in the gut of healthy people where it 
does not cause any problems, as it is kept in check by the normal bacterial population of the 
intestine. However, some antibiotics used to treat other illnesses can interfere with the balance 
of bacteria in the gut which may allow C. difficile to multiply and produce toxins that damage the 
gut.  Symptoms of C. difficile infection range from mild to severe diarrhoea and more unusually, 
severe inflammation of the bowel.  
 
Core Skills Training – nationally defined and mandated training programmes which all Trust 
staff must complete in accordance with the requirements of their roles. 
 
CQUIN - Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) is a payment framework that allows 
commissioners to agree payments based on agreed quality improvement and innovation work. 
 
Datix – patient safety and risk management software for healthcare incident reporting and 
adverse events. This is the system the Trust uses to report incidents, manage risk registers and 
as of 1st April 2016, to record mortality reviews.  
 
Departmental Safety Coordinator (DSC) – appointed by departmental managers to assist 
them in meeting their health, safety and wellbeing responsibilities. 
 
DNA (‘did not attend’) – when a patient misses a hospital appointment.  
 
Dr Foster Global Comparators –an international hospital network, created by Dr Foster in 2011 
as a global hospital benchmarking collaborative. It brings together data from hospitals in different 
countries, enabling comparison of the results within the network. 
 
Duty of Candour – Secondary care providers registered with CQC in England are subject to a 
statutory duty of candour, introduced in November 2014. It is a statutory requirement to ensure 
that patients and their families are told about patient safety incidents that affect them, that they 
receive appropriate apologies, that they are kept informed of investigations that are being 
undertaken and are supported to deal with the consequences. 
 
Emergency readmissions – unplanned readmissions that occur within 28 days after discharge 
from hospital. They may not be linked to the original reason for admission.    
 
Flow – the progressive movement of people, equipment and information through a sequence of 
processes. In healthcare, the term generally denotes the flow of patients between staff, 
departments and organisations along a pathway of care. 
 
Friends and Family Test (FFT) – The NHS FFT was launched in 2013 to help service providers 
and commissioners understand whether their patients are happy with the service provided, or 
where improvements are needed. It is a quick and anonymous way for patients to give their 
views after receiving care or treatment across the NHS. 
 
Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) - HES is a data warehouse containing details of all 
admissions, outpatient appointments and A&E attendances at NHS hospitals in England.  
This data is collected during a patient's time at hospital and is submitted to allow hospitals to be 
paid for the care they deliver. HES data is designed to enable secondary use, that is use for 
non-clinical purposes, of this administrative data. 
 
Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) – an overall quality indicator that compares a 
hospital’s mortality rate with the average national experience, accounting for the types of 
patients cared for.  
 
Information Governance – ensures necessary safeguards for, and appropriate use of, patient 
and personal information. 

Page 107



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 80 

 
Integrated Care – person-centred and co-ordinated care within healthcare settings, across 
mental and physical health and across health and social care. For care to be integrated, 
organisations and care professionals need to bring together all of the different elements of care 
that a person needs.  
 
Local Faculty Group – a group in each department which meets regularly to take responsibility 
for the learning environment, and undergraduate and postgraduate training in that service.  
 
Macmillan Navigator – a single point of contact via telephone for cancer patients, from the point 
of diagnosis to the end of treatment, aiming to create a more streamlined service and positive 
experience for the patient.  
 
Medical Appraisal - annual medical appraisal is the cornerstone of the General Medical Council 
(GMC) revalidation process. All doctors must undertake and record an annual medical appraisal 
in order to demonstrate that they comply with Good Medical Practice as required by the GMC. 
 

Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) – a type of bacteria that's resistant to 

a number of widely used antibiotics. This means MRSA infections can be more difficult to treat 
than other bacterial infections.  Staphylococcus aureu is a common type of bacteria. It's often 
carried on the skin and inside the nostrils and throat, and can cause mild infections of the skin, 
such as boils and impetigo. If the bacteria get into a break in the skin, they can cause life-
threatening infections, such as blood poisoning or endocarditis. 
 
National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) – the NRLS enables patient safety incident 
reports to be submitted to a national database on a voluntary basis and is designed to promote 
learning. Participation enables us to compare our incident reporting rates with our peers. 
 
Never events – serious, largely preventable patient safety incidents that should not occur if the 
available preventative measures have been implemented. 
 
Palliative Care – a multidisciplinary approach to specialised medical care for people with 
serious illnesses. It focuses on providing patients with relief from the symptoms, pain, physical 
stress, and mental stress of a serious illness, whatever the diagnosis. Palliative care is normally 
offered to terminally ill patients, regardless of their overall disease management style, if it seems 
likely to help manage symptoms such as pain and improve quality of life. 
 
Patient led assessments of the care environment (PLACE) – introduced in April 2013 this is 
a national system for assessing the quality of the patient environment. The assessments apply 
to hospitals, hospices and day treatment centres providing NHS funded care. The assessments 
will see local people go into hospitals as part of teams to assess how the environment supports 
patient’s privacy and dignity, food, cleanliness and general building maintenance. It focuses 
entirely on the care environment and does not cover clinical care provision or how well staff are 
doing their job. The assessments take place every year, and results are reported publicly to help 
drive improvements in the care environment.  
 
Patient reported outcome measures (PROMs) – tools we use to measure the quality of the 
service we provide for specific surgical procedures. They involve patients completing two 
questionnaires at two different time points, to see if the procedure has made a difference to their 
health. 
 
Patient safety incident – any unintended or unexpected incident which could have or did lead 
to harm for one or more patients receiving NHS care. Patient safety incidents are categorised by 
harm level, defined as follows by the NRLS: 

Page 108

http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/Boils/Pages/Introduction.aspx
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/Impetigo/Pages/Introduction.aspx
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/Blood-poisoning/Pages/Introduction.aspx
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/Endocarditis/Pages/Introduction.aspx


 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 81 

 Near miss – any patient safety incident that had the potential to cause harm but was 

prevented, resulting in no harm.  

No harm – any patient safety incident that ran to completion but no harm occurred.  

 Low harm: Any patient safety incident that required extra observation or minor treatment 

and caused minimal harm. 

 Moderate harm: Any patient safety incident that resulted in a moderate increase in 

treatment and which caused significant but not permanent harm.  

 Severe harm: Any patient safety incident that appears to have resulted in permanent 

harm. 

 Extreme harm/death: Any patient safety incident that directly resulted in the death of one 

or more persons receiving NHS-funded care.  

Performance Development Review (PDR) – our annual performance review process which 
was introduced in 2014-5 for all staff, excluding doctors, which is aimed at driving a new 
performance culture across the Trust.   
 
Pressure ulcer – a type of injury that affect areas of the skin and underlying tissue. They are 
caused when the affected area of skin is placed under too much pressure. They can range in 
severity from patches of discoloured skin to open wounds that expose the underlying bone or 
muscle. 
 
Quality Improvement (QI) – is a formal approach to the analysis of performance and systematic 
efforts to improve it. It is a method for developing, testing and implementing changes so that 
improvements can be made quickly. Our QI programme takes the form of training in QI 
methodology and a QI hub team who support teams undertaking QI projects.  
 
Referral to Treatment (RTT) – consultant-led Referral To Treatment (RTT) waiting times, which 
monitor the length of time from referral through to elective treatment. 
 
Revalidation – the process by which all licensed doctors and nurses are required to 
demonstrate on a regular basis that they are up to date and fit to practise in their chosen field. 
 
Root Cause Analysis (RCA) – a systematic investigation that looks beyond the people 
concerned to try and understand the underlying causes and environmental context in which the 
incident happened. Serious incidents and never events undergo RCA as part of the 
investigation.  
 
Safeguarding – protecting people's health, wellbeing and human rights, and enabling them to 
live free from harm, abuse and neglect. It is fundamental to high-quality health and social care. 

 

Schwartz Rounds – meetings which provide an opportunity for staff from all disciplines across 

the organisation to reflect on the emotional aspects of their work. Research  shows the positive 

impact that they have on individuals, teams, patient outcomes and organisational culture. 

Page 109



 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 82 

 
Secondary Users Service (SUS) – the single, comprehensive repository for healthcare data in 
England which enables a range of reporting and analyses to support the NHS in the delivery of 
healthcare services. 
 
Serious Incident (SI) – events in healthcare where the potential for learning is so great, or the 
consequences to patients, families and carers, staff or organisations are so significant, that they 
warrant using additional resources to mount a comprehensive response. Serious incidents can 
extend beyond incidents which affect patients directly and include incidents which may indirectly 
impact patient safety or an organisation’s ability to deliver ongoing healthcare.   
 
Sign Up To Safety – a national campaign launched in 2014 by the Secretary of State for Health 
which aims to save 6,000 lives and halve avoidable harm, to deliver harm free care for patients. 
 
Standardised hospital mortality indicator (SHMI) – a national way of measuring mortality. It 
includes deaths related to all admitted patients that occur in all settings – including those in 
hospitals and those that happen 30 days after discharge.  
 
Stakeholder – a person, group, organisation, member or system who affects or can be affected 
by an organisation's actions. 
 
Student Online Evaluation (SOLE) – online module evaluation which gives medical students 
the opportunity to feedback on their experience in a simple, secure and confidential way. 
 
Venous thromboembolism (VTE) – a blood clot within a blood vessel that blocks a vein or an 
artery, obstructing or stopping the flow of blood. There are two main types; venous 
thromboembolism (VTE) which is a blood clot that develops in a vein; and arterial thrombosis 
which is a blood clot that develops in an artery. 
 
Ward accreditation programme (WAP) – Reviews of patient areas during which patient care is 
observed, documentation reviewed, the environment is assessed and discussion with patients, 
carers and staff members takes place.  
 
WHO checklist – The World Health Organization Surgical Safety Checklist was introduced in 
2008 to increase the safety of patients undergoing surgery. The checklist ensures that surgical 
teams have completed the necessary listed tasks to ensure patient safety before, during and 
after surgery. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Patients
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Surgery


 Quality account 2016/17   

 

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

 

| 83 

Contact us and map of sites 
 

5 

Page 111



Health, Adult Social Care and Social Inclusion  
Policy and Accountability Committee: 
 
Response to Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust - Quality Account 2017/18 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
NHS bodies and certain other bodies which provide health services to the NHS are 
required by legislation to publish Quality Accounts, drafts of which must be submitted 
to the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham’s Health, Adult Social Care and 
Social Inclusion Policy and Accountability Committee (HASCSIPAC) for comment, in 
accordance with section 9 of the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service 
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010, as amended.   
 
The Council’s HASCSIPAC received the following reports from the Trust throughout 
2016/17, followed by a brief summary of key points noted during this past year: 
 
i) Clinical Service Improvements – Proposed new Pathways for Acute Medicine 

and Chest Pain Patients; 
ii) Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and Strategic Outline Case Part 1 

(SOC1) – general overview, involving all local NHS trusts; and 
iii) Accident and Emergency Service Performance November 2016-March 2017. 
 
It was noted that before the introduction of the new pathway, patients would be 
admitted and wait several days before seeing a specialist doctor.  The aim of the 
new pathway was to ensure that delays, evident in some specialisms such as 
cardiology, were reduced and that the patient accessed appropriate treatment more 
efficiently.  Removal of an acute medical assessment stage would maintain the same 
level of intervention but without any delay.  The Committee welcomed assurances 
provided by the Trust that service variations required by the new pathway would not 
result in a decrease in the number of beds (which would remain static) and the 
confirmation that there would be no bed closures.    
 
The Committee was informed that staff rotas would become more robust as a result 
of the changes, as removing any delay to specialist treatment meant greater long 
term resilience for service delivery and patient care.  Given the current uncertainties, 
the Committee considered that this was positive improvement, safeguarding 
workforce stability.   
 
In March 2017, the Committee received a detailed presentation on the STP, SOC 1 
and an update on the latest situation on plans for the Charing Cross Hospital site.  
The Committee reiterates its opposition to the proposal for the replacement of the 
current Charing Cross Hospital with a ‘local hospital’ on the same site.  And so it will 
be interested in scrutinising the SOC Part 2 proposals, which it understands will 
relate to the proposed redevelopment of the Charing Cross site, later in 2017.   
 
As part of an annual consideration of the Trust’s winter resilience performance, the 
Committee received A&E service performance figures for November 2016 to March 
2017.  The Committee noted the operational challenges such as the refurbishment at 
St Mary’s and Charing Cross, as part of on-going improvements to the model of 

Page 112



care, together with significant changes to improve urgent care centres.  An increase 
of Type 1 cases at Charing Cross was cause for concern, however, the Committee 
acknowledged that the level of demand caused significant pressure on the service, 
with the Trust unable to meet the national standard to see, treat and discharge 95% 
of patients that present to an urgent or emergency care setting within 4 hours.   
 
Members of the Committee highlighted additional concerns around the length of 
waiting time, particularly at Western Eye Hospital, where waiting times of up to five 
hours had been experienced.  The Committee would welcome closer analysis of 
public health education provision, which might potentially address this, together with 
a better understanding of how to achieve greater efficiencies around triage and initial 
assessments.  
 
The Committee was disappointed that the waiting time targets had not been met.  
However, it welcomed the fact that the Trust had plans in place to improve its 
performance, particularly at the Charing Cross A&E.  And members of the 
Committee commended the work of staff working in emergency care settings, 
understanding that the service had faced high levels of demand during this period.  
The Committee will be interested in receiving a further report on A&E waiting times 
later in 2017 to see what impact these changes have made.   
 
The Committee welcomes the opportunity to comment on the Draft Quality Account 
for 2016/17 and understands that the Trust faces further challenges in the coming 
year.  The Committee welcomes the high level of commitment demonstrated by NHS 
health colleagues, both administrators and clinicians, in the Trust, to provide the best 
care possible to the residents of Hammersmith and Fulham and looks forward to 
further engagement and co-operation with the Trust in order to achieve this. 
 
Councillor Rory Vaughan 
Chair, Health, Adult Social Care and  
Social Inclusion, Policy and Accountability Committee 
22nd May 2017 
 
 
 

Page 113



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SOCIAL 
INCLUSION POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY 

COMMITTEE 
 

13 JUNE 2017 
 

 
 

WORK PROGRAMME 2017-18 
 

Report of the Chair 
  

Open Report 
 

Classification: For review and comment 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director:  
 
Kim Dero, Director of Delivery and Value 
 

Report Author:  
 
Bathsheba Mall,  
Committee Coordinator 
 

Contact Details: 
 
Tel: 020 87535758 
E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1   The Committee is asked to give consideration to its work programme for the 

municipal year 2017/18. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1   The Committee is asked to consider the proposed work programme and suggest 
further items for consideration. 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

None. 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Work Programme 2017/18 

Page 114

Agenda Item 8

mailto:bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk


  Appendix 1 

 

Health, Social Care and Social Inclusion Policy and Accountability Committee 
 

Item – Report Title Report Author / service  Status 
 

13th June 2017 
 

Healthwatch Healthwatch confirmed 

Imperial CQC LBHF confirmed 

 

4th July 2017 
 

Immunisations update – 2017* PH/CCG TBC 

West London Mental Health Trust: 
Update* 

CCG TBC 

   

   

 

(*suggested items) 

 
Items for future agenda planning: 
 

 Meal Agenda 

 Commissioning Strategy: Providers 

 Customer Journey: Update 

 Equality and Diversity Programmes and Support for 
Vulnerable Groups 

 H&F CCG Performance 

 Immunisation: Report from the HWB Task and Finish Group 

 Integration of Healthcare, Social Care and Public Health 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 Listening to and Supporting Carers 

 Self-directed Support: Progress Update 
 Antibiotic prescriptions 

 Tuberculosis 

 CAMHS update 

 Disabled Peoples Commission (November 2017) 
 

P
age 115


	Agenda
	2 Minutes and notes of Previous Meetings
	Information Notes of Discussion, (Inquorate Meeting) - 26th April 2017

	4 Committee Membership 2017/18: Appointment of Vice Chair and Terms of Reference
	6 Healthwatch
	7 Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust: Quality Account 2016/17
	Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust: Quality Account 2016/17 - Appendix 1
	Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust: Quality Account 2016/17 - Appendix 2

	8 Work Programme
	Work Programme - Appendix 1


